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Project Name

City

PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

R
itz anip]
Overall Project
Expected

Completion Date

A%H
R
o
Group’s

Interest in

the Projects

gL

(ki
AR
Completed GFA
Remaining
Unsold
(Fik)

(Sqm)

Bl
P

GFA Under
Development
(FiK)

(Sqm)

A
R

GFA Under
Planning
(FIK)

(Sqm)

Schedule of Principal Properties

HRE Chunsen Land £l Chongging 1/12/2020 100.00% 14923 94352 - RICIOICP
fufsrdn La Defense £ Chongging 3111212023 100.00% 87,862 - 206,547 RIC/CP
WRE Xichen Longfor Mansion T Chongging 301612020 100.00% - 257,659 - RIC/CP
il Peace Hill County BB Chongging 300612021 100.00% - 58,682 - R/CICP
SN Times Paradise Walk ELY Chongging 31112/2022 100.00% - - 71,206 RIC/CP
JUERSI Jasper Sky El Chongging 30/6/2021 70.00% 86,766 296,491 - RIC/CP
b Glory Villa EL Chongging 311212020 50.00% 133,504 139,162 - RIC/CP
LR Longfor Ideal City i Chongging 311112149 100.00% 169,597 401,938 468,36 RIC/CP
2HEH Waterfront City £ Chongging 31/12/2021 100.00% 93,603 270,170 - RICIO/CP
itk It Avenue £l Chongging 1/6/2021 51.00% 78,613 92,812 - RIC/CP
il Chun Shan B Chongging 300612021 60.00% 1,089 248,148 - R/CICP
FRIRS Shunshan Fu ELy Chongging 162021 70.00% 61,757 265,401 - RIC/CP
FiT The New Era B Chongging 301612020 60.00% 49,934 87,541 - RIC/CP
e The Light Year E1 Chongging 3111212020 100.00% - 263,980 - o
REIF Jinglin Jiuxu B Chongging 3111212022 51.00% 929 476,054 204,072 RIC/OICP
REE Changtan Mansion ELY Chongging 3011212026 51.00% 30,070 280,438 401,172 RIC/O/CP
BIKE Chunjiang Heaven BB Chongging 31/1012022 70.00% 8,590 572,567 350,754 R/CIOICP
¥XT Ascension to the Throne B Chongging 300612023 70.00% - 186,975 280,721 RICIO/CP
Tl Hilly Island BB Chongging 31/12/2023 100.00% - 571315 157,279 RIC/CP
=T Poetic Life EL Chongging 31552021 100.00% - 143,950 - RICP
KER Zi Yun Fu (34 Chongging 30142021 51.00% - 92,865 - RICP
R: i€ C: ¥ 0: WAE Cp: (5HG Others:  HAth
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEMHBEWE 2 PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
AR g%L
FHBHE pEL A B il
ATHH il 4o} BEHRE BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name City Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FIk) (FIik) (FFk)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
EREH Rosy Garden EL Chongging 301612023 70.00% - 126,302 343,568 R/CP
Fik b5k Xiyong Plot EL Chongging 30/6/2022 50.00% - - 417971 RICP
R Time Paradise Walk b Chengdu 11202023 100.00% 57,169 211,105 7,982 RIC/CP
Jaslifid Peace Hill County i Chengdu 300612020 100.00% 19,264 228,120 - RICICP
i Longfor Central b Chengdu 25/12/2020 80.00% 16,666 282,419 - RICIO/CP
KRFE Tian Chen Longfor Mansion i Chengdu 3111212023 51.00% 17,063 71977 - RICICP
gouie Timeless City A Chengdu 30/6/2020 51.00% 784 372,366 - RICIOICP
A Chen Guang He Yue i Chengdu 3011212020 28.00% - 117,401 - RIC/CP
RHKE Jade Mansion i Chengdu 3111212021 33.00% - 150,786 - RICP
REIF Jinglin Jiuxu i Chengdu 3111212022 50.00% - 254,662 - R
BRIE Royal Housing i Chengdu 30112/2020 51.00% - 62,308 - RICIOICP
X Longfor Mansion i Chengdu 3111212020 100.00% - 85,359 - RIC/CP
Xing Lakeside Bay i Chengdu 31/12/2021 34.00% - 182,767 - RICP
KER ZiYun Fu it Chengdu 301212020 50.00% - 198,104 - RIC/CP
=% Celestial Mansion it Chengdu 3001212023 50.00% - 199,021 205,758 RICIOICP
R A Xinglong Street Plot i Chengdu 3111212021 51.00% - - 68,130 RIC/CP
Tk He Guang Chen Yue b3 Beijing 3011012021 34.00% 23316 63,693 - RiC/CP
H¥i Bai Xin Zhuang T Beijing 30/12/2021 100.00% - - 151,871 R/CICP
N Xiyue Paradise Walk b3 Beijing 301612020 50.00% - 134,221 - cicp
R He Tang Rui Zhu P Beijing 3011212020 25.00% - 198,294 - RICP

R: i C:. ¥ 0: WAE CP: {FHE Others:  H:Ath

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEEME )

PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

BEAN
HHER A B il
ATHY BT BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FIk) (FhX) (FFK)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
BER% Guan Cheng Da Jia dx Beijing 3111212021 20.00% - 322,092 - RICP
B E Sunny Lake Mansion x Beijing 31/12/2021 20.00% - 362,408 19,729 RICP
I Jin Yue He Zhu b Beijing 30/6/2020 20.00% - 180,177 - RICIO/CP/Others
B Tanyu West Mount T Beijing 3011112024 10.00% - - 393,544 RIC/CP
St Rui Yue Fu b Beijing 30/6/2020 9.00% - 137,030 - RIO/CP
BRER Guang Cheng Wang Xi L3 Beijing 31/12/2020 25.00% - 89,194 6,193 RICP
TiRtEEAC Banyan Bay AIC ot} Yantai 3111212023 100.00% 97,97 287,145 5,707,178 RIC/CP
HRED Banyan Bay B e Yantai 3111212023 100.00% - - 696,147 R/CICP
K Longfor Mansion fa Yantai 3011112020 100.00% - 59,644 - RICP
feli Peace Hill County 4 Yantai 25/12/2021 100.00% - 70,869 8,631 RICP
HIHE Chun Jiang Central fif Yantai 3011112021 60.00% - 70,713 94,874 RICP
£ Starry Mansion Fif Shanghai 311122022 65.00% - 114,374 3,692 RIOICP
XY Chunjiang Mansion L Shanghai 301912021 30.00% - 203,549 9,549 RICP
BILR Chunjiang Tian Yue L Shanghai 2011112020 30.00% - 144,992 - RICP
ZHTODHIE Fengxian TOD Plot Hi Shanghai 301612022 51.00% - 134,736 - RIC/O/CP
s Chianti i3 Xian 30152020 100.00% 1,715 138,886 - RIC/CP
R Longfor Mansion h% Xian 20/12/2020 60.00% 4,749 98,432 - RICICP
R Violet Castle Phase | (i3 Xian 31/12/2022 51.00% - 182,416 - RIC/CP
ER0H Violet Castle Phase 11 1% Xian 3111212021 40.80% - 252,633 - RICICP
KR Jing Lin Tian Xu % Xian 301612022 59.61% - 2333 127,286 RIC/CP
HEh Xin Yi Central fi% Xian 30112/2021 100.00% - 34,066 65,709 coice

R: fiE C. ¥ 0: AR CP: {FHH Others:  H:Ath

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others

4 3% Annual Report 2019
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEHEWE ) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
BEAN
A B AL
; 3 e T BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name City Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FhKk) (FFk) (FFk)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
& JiuShu bz Wi 31112/2022 100.00% 6,835 6431 108,636 RIC/CP
i Pu Yue s Wuxi 1/42020 55.00% - 61231 - RICP
R Longfor Mansion & Wi 111212020 100.00% 27,656 120,746 - RICP
KRR Tianchen Fu 45 Wuxi 3111212020 50.00% - 72,538 - RICICP
EWRE Li Lake Mansion e Wuxi 1/12/2020 100.00% - 84,993 - RIC/CP
A Sunshine City Phase 11~ ] Changzhou 3111212021 100.00% 27,962 - 57,338 RICICP
Ll Original Courtyard M Changzhou 1/6/2021 100.00% - 77,264 - RIC/CP
REAE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion /il Changzhou 16/1112021 100.00% - 139,286 226,060 R/CICP
RERM Nature Housing BM Suzhou 30111/2022 100.00% - 461,968 - RICP
MR Shihu East Road Plot Ll Suzhou 111212023 49.00% - 140,179 - R/CICP
sHEE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion Bk Suzhou 1/10/2020 30.00% - 106,399 - RICP/Others
WRER Huxi Xing Chen BEM Suzhou 30/11/2021 51.00% - 285,636 - RICP
N L Rose and Ginkgo Villa 1ll % Shenyang 3111212021 100.00% - - 297,367 R/CICP
E207 Chianti i} Shenyang 112/2022 100.00% - 171313 - RIC/CP
3 Longfor Hometown i Shenyang 111212023 100.00% - 101,310 199,824 RIC/CP
FNLE Tian Chen Longfor Mansion 155 Shenyang 1122021 100.00% 13,898 80,125 - RIC/CP
EEES Ji Mei Wan Xiang il Shenyang 11212020 34.00% - 178,302 - RIC/CP
TR Shunshan Fu il Shenyang 3011112020 100.00% - 175,711 40,531 RIC/CP

R HFE C ¥ 0 WAE CP: {EHY Others: At

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEMHBEWE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
B%T
HHER A B il
ATHY il 42 BT BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning
(Fhk) (FFK) (FFK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
BREE Longfor Mansion i} Shenyang 3111212021 100.00% 2,744 287,396 182953 RIC/CP
X% Tian Yi &b Shenyang 111212022 100.00% - 81,604 33,278 RIC/CP
NEEA JiuLiYiHe i} Shenyang 1122020 100.00% - 146,593 - RIC/CP
ZigRE Yun Feng Longfor Mansion %% Shenyang 3009/2022 70.00% - 145,359 107,784 R/CICP
FHFERER Wonderland Project i} Shenyang 3011212021 65.00% - 94,470 - RIC/CP
BB Chunjiang Central 5 Qingdao 301612020 25.10% 52,136 178947 - RIC/CP
B Legend of City Hh Qingdao 30/6/2022 70.00% 48,196 145,880 446357 RIC/CP
FELTE Shunshan Fu 5 Qingdao 3111212021 80.00% - 367,289 - RIC/CP
X Longfor Mansion Hh Qingdao 311202021 100.00% - 155,173 - RIC/CP
FRRE XiFuLongfor Mansion 5 Qingdao 3111212021 51.00% - 254332 - RIC/CP
FILKK Chunjiang Heaven 5 Qingdao 30112/2021 51.00% - 166,465 - RICIOICP
Bl Chunjiang Land ik Qingdao 3011212022 70.00% - 269,080 - RIC/CP
picat The Light Year Phase ]~ & Qingdao 3111212021 95.00% - 157,007 - RICP
Pt The Light Year Phase 1l 55 Qingdao 3111212021 95.00% - 25,489 74,570 RIC/CP
HE Xin Yi Central & Qingdao 30112/2021 51.00% - 61,862 - coice
LR EE Xiangjiang Road Project 5 Qingdao 151112022 100.00% - - 339,270 RIC
HARILH Gui Yu Jiang Nan B Hangzhou 301612019 30.00% - 85,423 - RIC/CP
il Zhong Guo Fu fiM Hangzhou 30/5/2020 30.00% - 102,538 - RIC/CP
L5, Bamboo Grove M Hangzhou 11912023 50.00% - 323,533 - RICIO/CP/Others
R: % C: P 0: WAE CP: {EHY Others:  HiAth
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others

 # Annual Report 2019 9 -
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEHEME )

PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

[BEAN
A B il
j il 5 BEHRE BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name City Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FIk) (FIik) (FHik)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
RN Jade Mansion fi Hangzhou 31/12/2020 26.00% - 153,536 - RICP
e Du Hui Feng Hua M Hangzhou 31/12/2020 40.00% - 115,996 - RICICP
RELE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion  HL/M Hangzhou 30/11/2021 66.00% - 125,107 - RICICP
AR Waulin Central inl Hangzhou 3111212020 100.00% - 73,336 - RICICP
FILR# Chunjiang Tian Yue fuM Hangzhou 30/6/2021 51.00% - 176,739 - RICP
A Royalty fiM Hangzhou 1/12/2022 16.00% - 112,102 - RiCP
LT Xiaoshan Beigan Mountain Ploc B Hangzhou 3011112021 51.00% - 93,260 - RIOICP
il Dong Chao Garden b Hangzhon 3011212021 34.00% - 133,389 - RIO/CP
HFER Shushan Wiest Plot fiM Hangzhou 1312022 51.00% - 163,803 - RICP
flis s Paradise Seasons £ Yuxi 30112/2025 100.00% - 23431 494134 RIC/CP
bR 4 Emerald Legend K Dalian 301612020 100.00% - 73,641 - RIC/CP
EREE2 Yun Feng Longfor Mansion K Dalian 30/11/2020 51.00% 6,728 257,113 - RICICP
NEERR Xiaogaowan Project K Dalian 31/12/2021 51.00% - - 107,847 RIC/CP
257 Chianti g Ningbo 30/6/2022 100.00% - 106,815 6,970 RIC/CP
ERIFE Longfor Mansion 4l Ningbo 30312020 70.00% - 99,982 - RICP
BRI Xing HaiLand Phase Il £} Ningbo 31112020 50.00% 38,737 92,392 - RIC/CP
K% Heavenly Garden i Ningbo 311102020 51.00% - 183,021 - RICP
FILBH Chunjiang Central £l Ningbo 31/5/2021 65.00% - 213,025 - RIC/CP
Al Shunshan Fu £l Ningbo 26/112020 51.00% - 112,864 - RICP
K Star Glamor e Ningbo 3152022 90.00% - 216,792 - RIC/CP

R: % C ¥ 0 WAE Cp: (5HlG Others: At

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEMHBEWE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
AR gxL
: L A B il
GFHATHE il 4o BT BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning
(Fhk) (FhX) (FFK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
RHEE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion &'} Xiamen 20/6/2019 51.00% - 115,607 - RICICP
ZUgRE Yun Feng Longfor Mansion [ Kiamen 1112021 49.00% - 233,978 - R/CICP
REA B Times Central HM Xiamen 300412025 40.00% - 114,786 292,399 coice
SIpN Chunjiang Mansion L] Xiamen 3111212021 100.00% - 142,107 - RICP
FILEH Chunjiang Central M Quanzhou 303/2020 100.00% - 185,729 - RIC/CP
RILKE Chun Jiang Central N Quanzhou 31/10/2021 100.00% - 102,870 - RIC/CP
Bk Xin Yi Central Y Changsha 30112/2022 34.00% 16,523 351811 - RICIO/CP
WL Constellation Rk Changsha 25/9/2020 51.00% - 102,237 - cloicp
BRAL Emerald Central Y Changsha 10/1112020 49.00% - 158,58 - RICIOICP
BT Chunjiang Central & Changsha 3111212021 51.00% - 485,126 259,549 RIC/CP
KB izt Zijun, Cheng Shi Zhi Guang 74 Jinan 30/4/2020 3000% 6,209 156,568 - RIC/CP
=il 1 Chunjiang Central el Jinan 30/12/2020 51.00% 15,954 57,264 - RIC/CP
PR Glory Villa i Ji'nan 30/6/2020 100.00% - 93,503 - RIC/CP
R Ao Dong No. 11 it Jinan 30/6/2020 100.00% - 147,795 - C
CBD I CBD I Plot it Jinan 1/12/2022 10.00% - 173,888 - C
BN Emerald Legend it Jinan 311102020 45.00% - 137,686 - RIC/CP
RERE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion T Jinan 301612024 100.00% - 173,854 484,031 RIC/CP
JUEBEN Jasper Sky b Jinan 301112022 100.00% - 318,099 17,521 RIC/CP
I Jiutang Mansion it Jinan 3152021 20.00% - 352,875 - RIC/CP
R: i C: ¥ 0: AR CP: {FHY Others:  H:Ath
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEHEWE ) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
AR BEAN
TR L A B AL
ATHH i) 403 BEHRE BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FhKk) (FFk) (FFk)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
Bt Chunjiang Land ikl Ji'nan 30111/2020 34.00% - 160,358 - RIC/CP
il Ru Yuan i Jinan 300502021 34.00% - 131,733 - RICP
e N Yun Lu Mansion L Jinan 311202022 34.00% - 129,916 - RICP
RN Park Xuefu it Jinan 3111212022 25.00% - 136,538 - RICICP
bl Finer Garden i Ji'nan 3062021 25.00% - 109,593 - RIC/CP
Al Shunshan Fu it Jinan 3011212021 35.00% - 94,607 - RICICP
A Hanyu Plot II i Jinan 3011212023 35.00% - - 161933 RIC/CP
Jifiisiingt Gangxi Road Plot ikl Jinan 3111212022 100.00% - 222,906 230,736 R/CP
BZs Ao Yun Tai Ll Foshan 311112020 51.00% - 62357 - R/CICP
RUERE Yun Feng Longfor Mansion Guangzhou 301112021 50.00% 13,250 240,820 - RIC/CP
% Tian Yi JEM Guangzhou 31/12/2019 50.00% 4980 79,188 - RIC/CP
KR Glory Villa B Guangzhou 30/6/2021 67.00% 15,262 210,885 - RIC/CP
B Splendor Garden T Guangzhou 15/11/2021 80.00% - 89,765 86,898 RIC/O/CP
EATHLS Huangshi West Road Plot i Guangzhou 30112/2021 49.90% - 14,847 39,983 RICP
Nl Renhe Town Plot &M Guangzhou 311122022 51.00% - 73,672 131,522 RICP
RkE Chunjiang Center MR Nanjing 3111212025 100.00% 425 - 119,745 RIC/OICP
BB, Chunjiang Central i) Nanjing 301612021 51.00% 4433 36,096 14,705 RIC/CP
W 55 Times Central MR Nanjing 3011212020 100.00% - 147,514 - Clo/cP
TLER Bamboo Grove i Nanjing 21/12/2020 49.00% - 306,961 - R/CP
iy Yi He JiuLi [ Nanjing 3011112020 35.00% - 188,947 - RIC/CP

R: H#E C. ¥ 0: WAZE CP: {FHE Others: At

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others

Longfor Group Holdings Limited e & & @ 1= & B R 2 7



Schedule of Principal Properties

FEMHBEWE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
B%T
HHER A B il
ATHY il 42 BT BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(Fhk) (FFK) (FFK)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
R Longfor Mansion (i Nanjing 3111212020 100.00% - 189,375 - RICP
THEITL Jiangning Binjiang Ploc ~ F % Nanjing 31/10/2021 70.00% - - 350419 RICICP/Others
e Sheng Shi Hua Fu R Tianjin 30/11/2023 90.00% 25,677 151,137 204,529 RICIO/CP
SRR Jasper Sky K Tianjin 3011012022 12.50% - 215,457 27,008 RIC/CP
BB Xirui Central X Tianjin 3111212022 50.00% - 67,107 1,009 RIC/CP/Others
IR Chun Jiang Central PR Tianjin 301612021 100.00% - - 65,022 RIC/CP
FiLE Chunjiang Lend R Wuhan 30/5/2024 10.00% - 784,031 113,768 RICIO/CP
BB Chunjiang Central rE Wuhan 3111212024 60.00% 44,800 362,922 338,308 RIC/OICP
b Guanggu City ivi ) Wuhan 1/5/2023 52.00% - 263,641 254,028 RICIO/CP
ZIERE Yun Feng Longfor Mansion - % Wuhan 315512021 51.00% - 89,597 177471 R/CICP
Etid Fairy Castle fin | Wuhan 30972021 40.00% - 128,557 - cloicp
IR Emperial Paradise Walk R Wuhan 30/5/2021 50.00% - 138,544 - coice
by Guanggu City ¢ Chanson 10 Wuhan 30/8/2021 60.00% - 152,684 - RIC/O/AICP
A HTODLE Baishazhou TOD Plot Wuhan 300512022 100.00% - - 206,326 RICICP
AR TTEAAUNEH Gaobeidian Train Rz Baoding 311212020 70.00% 55,320 131,051 - RIC

New Town Phase I Project

A Gaobeidian Train e Baoding 31/12/2021 70.00% - - 421485 C
FlE R E New Town Phase Il Project

RUERE Yun Feng Longfor Mansion fal Fuzhou 30/6/2020 60.00% - 142,162 - RICP
[RIBR Chunjiang Mansion M Fuzhou 30/12/2021 37.00% - 234,885 23873 RICICP
HTHR Yangsia Plot M Fuzhou 30062021 65.00% - 305,559 - RICICP
BER A Ferris Wheel Plot il Fuzhou 31/12/2021 85.00% - - 115,795 CIcP
R: HE C HE 0: AR CP: {FHY Others:  H:Ath

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEHEME )

PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

BEAN
A B Al
; il 5 BEHRE BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FhKk) (FFk) (FFk)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
fifTkt s Fuzhu Village Plot T Fuzhou 3111212021 65.00% - - 190,401 RIC/CP
EER Zi Yun Fu A Hefei 31/12/2020 35.00% 25,43 293,003 - RICICP
FILE Chunjiang Central G Hefei 311512020 100.00% - 82318 - RIOICP
RRUF Jinglin Jiuxu Bl Hefei 3111212021 100.00% - 199,258 - RIC/O/CP
AN Prestige Town A Hefei 3111012021 100.00% - 321876 113,883 RIC/O/CP
BILER Chunjiang Center B Hefei 31/12/2020 100.00% - 171,738 - RIC/CP
K Expanse Garden Al Hefei 30/6/2021 100.00% - 157,253 - RICICP
fREE Xichen Longfor Mansion 21 Hefei 301612021 70.00% - 122,150 - RIC/CP
RIKE Chunjiang Mansion il Shenzhen 311012021 100.00% - 96,217 - RICIO
o EE Upper River Bank Fik Hong Kong 3111212021 50.00% - 54,459 - RIC/CP
MRS Hu Cheng Da Jing Wiy Zhubai 11212024 50.00% - 254,569 - RICIO/CP
X% Mansion i Zhuhai 301612020 51.00% - 57,883 - RiC/CP
P e Tian Chen Longfor Mansion 75 Jiaxing 201212020 50.00% 51,739 86,829 - RiCICP
KRN Zi Chen Mansion o Jiaxing 300612020 51.00% - 152,903 - RIC
BRI Ju Xiu Yuan South Ploc 57 Jiaxing 1/4/2022 50.00% - - 103,161 RICP
KA B Shang Dong Mansion East Plot 325¢ Jiaxing 31/12/2021 50.00% - - 87,383 RICP
sz He Yue Ming Zhu BN Kunming 3011112020 2650% - 167,221 - RIC/CP
LK Treasure Garden R Kunming 30/11/2021 34.00% - 296,005 684,856 RIC/ICP
BREHA Wujiaba Plot ] Kunming 30/11/2030 100.00% - - 373,799 R/CIOICP
il Chun Feng Nan An il Nantong 301212020 40.00% - 604,496 - RIC/CP
KREE Tian Chen Longfor Mansion P8 Nantong 3011212020 100.00% - 63,3577 - RICP

R: fi% C. ¥ 0. WAZE CP: {5HY Others:  H:Ath

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEMHBEWE @) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
B%T
HHER A B il
ATHY il 42 BT BT BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning
(Fhk) (FFK) (FFK)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
P Tian Chen Longfor Mansion 1 A% Shijiazhuang 3111212021 55.00% 1,024 100,398 - R
JERN Jasper Sky AR Shijiazhuang 30/6/2022 51.00% - - 216,287 R
REXE Jing Lin Longfor Mansion 5% Guiyang 18/11/2024 51.00% - 499,057 1,443,559 RIC/O/CP
S Yanghui Plot U Guiyang 15/112021 100.00% - - 74927 RIC/CP
KRE# Tian Chen Longfor Mansion ¥}/l Zhengzhou 1/42020 100.00% - 165,335 - RIC/CP
RRUF Jinglin Jiuxu M Zhengzhou 3111212021 100.00% - 200,006 - RIC/CP
[RIBR Chunjiang Mansion L] Nanchang 301412020 65.00% - 152,529 - R
HILHE Chun Jiang Central (1} Nanchang 2652021 51.00% - 102,715 - RIC/CP
HILB Chunjiang Central G Nanchang 121512022 100.00% - 38,689 62414 RICIOICP
%Zh Mountain Top Garden ~~ #] Ganzhou 2611112021 36.00% - 227,289 - RIC/CP
x5 Emerald Legend i3 Weihai 3011112020 60.00% - 95,082 - RICP
Bl Chunjiang Land i Weihai 31152021 51.00% - 132,080 - RICP
SRBE Jinhou Plant Plot i Weihai 3019/2022 70.00% - - 257,135 R/C/CP
1hE Grace Garden gl Shaoxing 30/11/2020 51.00% - 216,202 - R/CICP
BILKS Chunjiang Heaven A Shaoxing 3111212021 60.00% - 236,091 - RICP
RILRE Chunjiang Mansion M Wenzhou 25/12/2020 70.00% - 85,910 - R/CICP
X Longfor Mansion il Wenzhou 25/12/2021 100.00% - 63,881 - RIC/CP
R Zhongyangtu Plot M Wenzhou 3111202021 50.00% - 181,107 - RICP
BRFE Longfor Mansion W Changde 26/5/2020 100.00% - 389,011 - RIC/CP
EP-5 Huayang Lake No.l £ Dongguan 31/12/2020 25.10% - 123,381 - R
Afth San Qian Yue 5 Nanning 3011112020 34.00% - 88,700 - RIC/CP
R: fiE C. ¥ 0: WAZE Cp: {FHY Others:  H:Ath
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEHEWE ) PRINCIPAL DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
A BEAN
TR L Ik t s BEd AL
AT A i) 403 BEHRE e T e I
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA

Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under

Project Name Completion Date the Projects Unsold ~ Development Planning

(FhKk) (FFk) (FFk)

(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
BRRE Longfor Mansion [ Nanning 15/5/2021 60.00% - - 56,026 RIC
TLEUR Bamboo Grove [ Nanning 30062021 49.00% - 189,667 26,655 RICICP
BRIRE Longfor Mansion M Zhangzhou 2011212020 100.00% - 175,604 - RICP
TATB Rainbow Central ki Xianyang 3011112022 75.20% - 439491 304,030 RICICP
HIER Chunjiang Center il Zhongshan 0/1/1900 50.00% - 135,499 - RIC/CP
BILKE Chunjiang Mansion 1, Maoming 10/12/2020 100.00% - 97,134 - RIC/CP
INesHEE Xiaojinkou Project No5 20 Huizhou 15/9/2021 35.00% - 262,689 - R
MENER Xiaojinkou Project B Huizhou 15/5/2021 51.00% - 96,743 - R
K Longfor Mansion K& Taiyuan 11612023 100.00% - 235,577 299,381 RICICP
BT Pobopogang Plot 150 Haikou 30/6/2023 100.00% - - 485,175 CIOICP/Others
BRKE Shuanglong Mansion il Jiangmen 1/11/2022 50.00% - - 291,303 RIC/CP
SEME Sanwan Park Plot bonil Yangzhou 16/8/2021 100.00% - - 127,686 RIC/CP
B R Nanguan District Plot &7 Changchun 301712022 100.00% - - 130,425 RICICP

R HFE C ¥ 0 WAE CP: {EHY Others: At

Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

M BxL
bilik o RER ki Bl il
e anit] il BT TR BT
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name Frigsiti Completion Date the Project Unsold Development Planning
R (B R
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
EENA G Notth Paradise Walk iy Chongging B 100.00% 146,262 - - C
BRI Fairy Castle B Chongging RS 100.00% 29413 - - C
EEREH Crystal Castle L Chongging GEES 100.00% 33,600 - - C
ERTH G West Paradise Walk Gl Chongging R 51.00% 111,654 - - C
EEMOCOR N E MOCO [ Chongging ER¥ 100.00% 29,104 - - C
TEFR KN Time Paradise Walk Phase ]~ Chongging Rl 10000% 218569 - - C
TERRKEINE  Time Pandise Walk il Chongging ERE 100.00% 57113 - - C
Phase I Mark [
ECiwit Time Paradise Walk il Chongging eRE 100.00% 122,758 - - C
Phase I1T
BRURKEIS U City Phase I B Chongging R 100.00% 31,071 - - C
FRURS KIS U City Phase I1 B Chongging REES 100.00% 164,609 - - c
ERERENE Chunsen Starry Street il Chongging ERE 100.00% 54,018 - - C
TRRERY Hometown Paradise Walk B Chongging ER¥ 100.00% 174817 - - C
TEWILHR Longfor Ideal City il Chongging 11312027 100.00% - 48182 182058 o
Bl £ Chongging Jinsha il Chongging 31122020 10000% - 204,374 - C
Paradise Walk
TEARKE Chongging Park il Chongging 31122022 51.00% - - 197,590 C
Paradise Walk
BRI Chongqing Longxing B Chongging 3011212026 51.00% - - 4,680 C
Phase [
BRI Chongging Longxing il Chongqing 3011212026 51.00% - - 131,040 C
Phase IT
TERFRKEV Time Paradise Walk il Chongging 31122022 10000% - - 121,540 C
Phase IV
FRiER Chongging La il Chongging 311122023 100.00% - - 168,962 C
Defense Project
TERERE Chongging Lijia i Chongging 31122021 10000% - 163,712 - C
Paradise Walk
R fEE C Mk O WAE CP: {FHI Others: Al
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEEWE 2 PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
A%H BT
L (ki B Al
fih: £ T £ T £ T
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name i Completion Date the Project Unsold Development Planning
(Fik) (Fiik) (Fik)
(Sqm) (Sqm)
HE=TERE Theee thousand Paradise Walk Fi# Chengdu a4 100.00% 38,043 - - C
iR BN e North Paradise Walk i Chengdu ER¥ 100.00% 215,536 - - C
WG] Time Paradise Walk Phase 1L Chengdu ER¥ 100.00% 61,989 - - C
BN Jinnan Paradise Walk D Chengdu GEES 100.00% 91,638 - - C
AR K Chengdu Xi Chen i Chengdu RlE 49.00% 189,860 - - C
Paradise Walk
BB X Chengdu Binjiang it Chengdu 20172021 51.00% 171,500 - - c
Paradise Walk
Wil LK Chengdu Shangcheng b Chengdu 25/12/2020 80.00% - 134,130 - C
Paradise Walk
WA K Chengdu Jinchen i Chengdu 311202020 100.00% - 83,000 - C
Paradise Walk
el fieRE Time Paradise Walk Phase II 1#f Chengdu 301912020 100.00% - (8,289 - C
WA ERNE Chengdu Wuhou Starry Street £ Chengdu 311122020 100.00% - 33,147 - C
LEERERE Summer Palace Starry Street 7% Beijing 1 100.00% 6,320 - - C
ItrkExE Changying Paradise Walk 1% Beijing Rl 100.00% 300,192 - - C
IErREXE Beijing Da Xing 15 Beijing ER¥ 100.00% 203,134 - - C
Paradise Walk
AR Beijing Fangshan 5 Beijing ERE 100.00% 119,964 - - C
Paradise Walk
LR ERXSE Beijing Xiyue Paradise Walk 7% Beijing 301612020 50.00% - 130,127 - C
IRREX Beijing Changan 5 Beijing 30192019 17.00% 69,199 - - C
Paradise Walk
REExE Beijing Lize Paradise Walk 7% Beijing 28/5/2020 51.00% - 98,446 - C
HTERE Honggiao Paradise Walk ~ Fiff Shanghai ER% 100.00% 253,293 - - C
FEELXE Baoshan Paradise Walk ~ Liff Shanghai ERE 100.00% 179,206 - - C
IREEpR Shanghai Minhang I Shanghai 30112019 51.00% 196,534 - - co
Paradise Walk
R Shanghai Huajing Hig Shanghai 30712019 51.00% 66,007 - - C
Paradise Walk
FERGERE Shanghai Minhang i Shanghai g4L 50.00% 45,698 - - C

Starry Street

R: I c ¥ 0: WA=E CP: (FHil Others:  HAth
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEBEME ) PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Concinued)
k&M B%L
HHER RER ki i il
Gz anik] i 4 R R FET
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name Frgsiti Completion Date the Project Unsold Development Planning
(Fik) (Fik) (FIik)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
HERERNE Shanghai Kunsiu Starry Street |- Shanghai 31122022 65.00% - - 26,770 C
IRz X Shanghai Fengxian L Shanghai 30162022 51.00% - 150,095 - C
Paradise Walk
EEKRENE Xian Daxing Starry Streer ~ Fi% Xian R1ES 100.00% 53,200 - - C
FRMTESE Xian Qujiang Starry Street Fi% Xian RS 100.00% 78,499 - - C
WEERKE Xian Chianti Paradise Walk Fi% Ximn 30/5/2020 100.00% - 108,129 - C
EANERE Wi Splendor Paradise Walk 55 Wi 31120022 100.00% - - 40,000 C
HMERK Longcheng Paradise Walk &M Changzhou BB 100.00% 155,862 - - C
R Changzhou Yuanzhan gl Changzhou 1/6/2021 100.00% - - 174,328 C
fMEY K Jinsha Paradisc Walk Phase 1 M Hangzhou Eh% 10000% 180,645 - - C
AR Binjiang Paradise Walk Phase I i Hangzhou Eh% 100.00% 158,067 - - C
MK Hangzhou Xixi Paradise Walk i Hangzhou 2111212019 100.00% 179,409 - - (0]
fMLHXSE Hangzhou Bauhinia it Hangzhou 20112019 100.00% 68,010 - - C
Paradise Walk
MR K Hangzhou Jiangdong i Hangzhou 3009/2020 50.00% - 148,595 - C
Paradise Walk
MBS Hangzhou Dinggiao it Hangzhou 311212020 100.00% - 192,762 - C
Paradise Walk
AR Hangzhou Binjiang i Hangzhou GEa 100.00% 2,627 - - C
Paradise Walk Phase II
BMIEE Suzhon Shishan Paraise Walk 46/ Suzhou e SLO0% 197,466 - - C
HNET X Suzhou Xujiang B Suzhou 201012022 51.00% - 118,430 - C
Paradise Walk
BMERRE Suzhou St Lake L] Suzhou 3042020 100.00% - 168,441 - C
Paradise Walk
BMRRXH Suzhou Dongwu B Suzhou 3011212021 49.00% - 201,687 - ClOthers
Paradise Walk
FMmL K Suzhou Shishan BeM Suzhou 1/12/2020 5100% - 100,503 - CI0/Others
Paradise Walk Phase IT
iESSR Xiamen Jimei Paradise Walk - I Xiamen 251502020 49.00% - 97311 - c
SR Xiamen Xiangan ] Xiamen 172022 40.00% - - 117979 C
Paradise Walk
R fEE G o WAE CP: fFHY Others: Al
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others

4 5% Annual Report 2019 19 -



Schedule of Principal Properties

FEEEWE 2 PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
gl
(ki B A
£ T £ T £ T
Overall Project Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name i Completion Date the Project Unsold Development Planning
(FIk) (Fik) (Fik)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
HREE K Nanjing Longwan [k Nanjing 1112020 51.00% - 141,547 - C
Paradise Walk
HEARKE Nanjing Liuhe Paradise Walk 7% Nanjing 30102020 100.00% 131972 - - C
[ERSENPR Nanjing Hexi Paradise Walk 455 Nanjing 301122020 10000% - 127359 - C
ALK Nanjing Jiangbei [ Nanjing 311202022 100.00% - 240,384 - C
Paradise Walk
HRSE (2R Nanjing Drum WA Nanjing 3112205 100.00% - - 40972 C
Tower(Zi Chen)
AEEXE Hefei Yaohai Paradise Walk &1 Hefei 3111212019 100.00% 123,695 - - C
RERERH Tianjin Wuging X Tianjin 301112023 90.00% - - 118,006 c
Paradise Walk
RIHENEE Changsha Yanghu Rk Changsha 301912020 34.00% - 153,660 - C
Paradise Walk
HHREX Ji'nan Olympic Sports il Jinan 311102020 £5.00% - 96,782 - C
Paradise Walk
EEBNKS Qingdso Jiaozhou S Qingdzo 30162022 70.00% - 123482 - C
Paradise Walk
RIBEAKY Wahan Guanggu RiE Wahan 1512023 52.00% - - 171,182 C
Paradise Walk
RiEAHTOD Wuhan Baishazhon TOD &% Wuhan 305502022 100.00% - - 92453 C
REIRKG Wahan Emperia fin' 3 Wauhen 3052021 50.00% - 210,310 - C
Paradise Walk
PG R E K Yantai Banyan Bay fa Yancai 3182021 100.00% - - 70,062 C
Paradise Walk
ERIN K Ningbo Yinzhou 1 Ningbo 3152022 90.00% - 155,230 - C
Paradise Walk
LrBERRAEE  Beljing Haidian b3 Beijing 3011112020 10000% - 50,175 - 0
Environmental Protection
Science Park
R: FE C: ¥ 0: WAZE Cp: (FHG Others:  HAth
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FEBEME ) PRINCIPAL INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Concinued)
M BxL
HHER RER ki Bl il
AT Mg BT BT R
Overall Project Groups  Completed GFA
Expected Interest in Remaining GFA Under GFA Under
Project Name Frgsiti Completion Date the Project Unsold Development Planning
(Fik) (Fik) (FIik)
(Sqm) (Sqm) (Sqm)
PN Hatkou Paradise Walk /1 Haikou 300612023 100.00% - - 91,142 C
RIVBRAE K Kunming Chuncheng %] Kunming 30/11/2030 100.00% - - 175,193 C
(B5S5) Avenue Paradise Walk
(Wujiaba)
EELE X Nanning Qingxiu LS Nanning 30062021 49.00% - - 119,585 c
Paradise Walk
WP RS (FHK)  Shenyang Hunnan &b Shenyang 3092022 100.00% - - 116,000 C

Paradise Walk (Xinshifu)

GERTBR: Nanchang Qingshan Lake ~ H1E) Nanchang 12/5/2022 100.00% - - 162,445 C
Paradise Walk

FERERS Shanghai Jinhui L Shanghai 3112022 100.00% - - 105,719 C
Paradise Walk

LERER Beijing Yizhuang 13 Beijing 305/2022 100.00% - - 153,030 C
Paradise Walk

R EE C T 0. WAE CP: {FH Others:  H:Ath
Residential Commercial Office Car Park Others
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It is my pleasure to present to the shareholders the business review and outlook
of Longfor Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”) for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The 2019 Chinese real estate market experienced both a short-lived resurgence
in transactions, fueled by expectations for policy easing, but also saw a
cool-down after the tightening in capital regulations, all of which came to an
end with total sales of RMB16 trillion. The new record in sales volume does
not change our judgement, the era of unrestrained growth for developers is
destined to end, and now the consensus is that it is time to get back to basics
and recalibrate. Thanks to our strong commitment to the goal of steady growth,
the past year for Longfor culminated in a 21% YoY increase in contracted sales
to RMB242.5 billion.

As repeated emphasis has been put on risk mitigation and deleveraging,
property developers are seeing growing gaps in terms of financing channels
and cost of funding. Amid the headwinds, the Group has been able to calmly
navigate the situation. During the past year, Longfor has been upgraded to a
positive outlook by Moody's and a rating uplift to BBB by Standard & Poor’s,
standing firm at investment grade. Our overseas USD notes and domestic
corporate bonds repeatedly set industry records with long maturity and low
coupon rates. Moreover, the Group’s average finance costs is only 4.54%. Many
stoic years of self-discipline has paid off as we have now gained a stronghold in

our capital.

In 1Q2019, driven by a short revival of the property market at the beginning
of the year, developers became more proactive in land acquisitions, thus leading
to a rapid rise of land premium. Longfor remained patient under the situation
before seizing the opportunities which led to big gains in 2H2019. During
the period, the Group acquired 90 new projects and ventured into 11 new
cities. The Group's overall landbank layout is of high-quality and was acquired
at reasonable cost, of which about 90% of land parcels are primarily located
in highly sought-after cities and districts with high value, thereby ensuring

long-term profit growth.
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Chairman’s Statement

Thanks to the solid development of our investment properties such as Paradise
Walk shopping malls and “Goyoo” rental housing, the rental income for the
year increased 42% to RMB5.79 billion, along with better operating indicators
like tenant mix and foot fall traffic growth. Meanwhile, we also opened 10 new
shopping malls in Beijing Chang'an, Shanghai Minhang, Hangzhou Xixi and
other places. The brands developed by Longfor over the years have resulted in a
steady income stream for the Group amid cyclical fluctuations; through constant
innovations that go beyond imagination, we offer people the space with soul and
we deliver empathy in customer service that keeps digging their expectations

about how human connects with space.

The greatest care for communities we are offering falls under the Longfor
Smart Service brand. After more than two years of expansion and systemic
enhancement, the services now cover not only the established residential
community services, but also more new places such as hospitals, schools, parks,
aviation logistics and transportation hubs. By looking into data generated from
online operations, we are able to gain better understanding about customer
needs and thus offer more specific satisfied and unconventional services. During
the unexpected and painful outbreak of COVID-19, Longfor Smart Service has

withstood challenges and proved its value for millions of Longfor customers.

For many years, Longfor has fulfilled its responsibility as a corporate citizen and
always recognized the significance of giving back to the society. In March 2019,
the Group donated RMB100 million to the Palace Museum under the newly
founded “Longfor — Palace Museum Cultural Fund” (FEWA KB ik 5 %),
which aims to help with the Museum’s protection and conservation of cultural
relics as well as research and sharing of cultural heritage. Facing the epidemic,
the Group has donated RMB39 million in cash and goods supplies, for global

“epidemic war”.

In addition, the Group offered rent reduction to over 4,500 partnership brands
and merchants in its 39 shopping malls, supporting them in tackling the grave

challenges posed by the epidemic.

Currently real estate companies are facing a slew of challenges: the market
slowdown, continuing stabilization of housing prices, not to mention losses
from suspended production and sales due to the viral outbreak. Nonetheless,
such challenges have driven people and organizations to improve themselves
and upgrade systems, which is in turn accelerating the industry integration.
We believe that a truly outstanding company has the courage and ability to

outperform in both good and bad days.

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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Despite the significant impact of the contingency in the short term, the faith of
the country and people in pursuit of development and better life will not change
in the long term. The Longfor community acknowledge people’s burning desire
for high-quality space and services catalyzed by the epidemic, and we truly

appreciate the value and significance in our efforts to meet those demands.

As we grow, difficulties and disturbances are no stranger to us as a Group.
However, on the strength of embracing changes maintaining strategic focus and
nimble execution, we will undoubtedly stay committed to our mission, find the

right direction and keep moving forward even when the path is unclear.

Wu Yajun
Chairperson

Longfor Group Holdings Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

In 2019, revenue from property development business of the Group was
RMB140.79 billion, representing an increase of 29.5% as compared to last year.
The Group delivered 10.68 million square meters of property in gross floor
area (GFA) terms. The gross profit margin of the overall property development
business was 32.1%. Recognized average selling price was RMB13,188 per
square meter in 2019.

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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Table 1: Breakdown of property development revenue of the Group in 2019

* NEB A * Amount excluding tax
BER M SR
Revenue Total GFA

ZRJUE & )\& ZRJUE —F)\E
2019 2018 2019 2018
AR F# 0 NRWFETHT TR Frk
W City RMB million RMB million Sqm Sqm
) Chongging 26,602 14,811 2,247,325 1,376,273
it Jinan 13,840 5,889 1,202,715 570,086
D Chengdu 12,396 8,378 901,070 826,990
Hh Qingdao 8,421 5,592 740,962 579,977
B Hangzhou 7,230 18,942 312,300 821,477
1% Shenyang 6,307 4,915 632,550 566,487
233 Ningbo 5,653 7,748 433,831 453,297
B Nanjing 5,464 827 278,288 42,312
EM Quanzhou 4,736 3,845 553,862 496,915
JEM Guangzhou 4,686 596 207,817 15,115
R Changsha 4,456 3,007 442,638 346,741
85 Wuxi 4,369 3,013 300,368 257,414
Ko Dalian 3,192 3,713 178,285 280,304
e Jiaxing 3,163 - 219,202 -
A Hefei 3,154 - 212,707 -
Jt Beijing 2,908 5,715 143,609 287,632
B Wuhan 2,832 172 194,791 15,896
i Shanghai 2,708 6,774 124,593 167,004
(K3 Xi'an 2,664 3,661 181,740 367,516
A Yantai 2,506 704 264,384 79,878
e Changzhou 2,263 1,072 132,633 88,987
PN Tianjin 2,074 3,460 162,539 188,506
M Suzhou 1,965 101 76,898 4,553
M Fuzhou 1,474 142 151,877 9,035
fRiE Baoding 1,273 - 104,371 -
& M Xiamen 1,160 4,271 69,154 207,529
AR Shijiazhuang 775 - 55,832 -
kit Zhuhai 759 - 30,288 -
4R Shaoxing 643 6 26,640 452
[xil Nantong 480 - 32,467 -
W] Kunming 342 9 28,713 1,523
B Xianyang 108 - 11,952 -
£z Yuxi 92 - 7,363 -
Bt Weihai 62 — 4,215 -
il Foshan 36 1,356 8,018 125,186
At Total 140,793 108,719 10,675,997 8,177,085

TERJUE S REB AR SR E AR
2,425.08 70 » B LAFERIR 20.99% o 88 A
TR, 424 BT K > B EFR15.2%  HE
HEAR®17,03200/ Fh K> W EEHE
4.9% ° =M - TIHB - BRiEhE - MR Sy
[ ) B A8 A By NI 823 9188 ~ AR
592.0f87C ~ ARMEs22. 5600~ ARW263.01%
Te K N 223 60850 > 2 A5 4E 4 T 8 %
1134.0% ~ 24.4% ~ 21.6% ~ 10.8% }%9.2% ©
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In 2019, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB242.50 billion,
representing an increase of 20.9% as compared to last year. The Group sold
14.24 million square meters in total GFA, representing an increase of 15.2%
as compared to last year. Average selling price of GFA sold was RMB17,032
per square meter, representing an increase of 4.9% as compared to last year.
Contracted sales from Yangtze River Delta, western China, Pan Bohai Rim,
southern China and central China were RMBS82.39 billion, RMB59.20 billion,
RMB52.25 billion, RMB26.30 billion and RMB22.36 billion respectively,
accounting for 34.0%, 24.4%, 21.6%, 10.8% and 9.2% of the contracted sales
of the Group, respectively.
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City

Chongqing
Hangzhou
Chengdu
Nanjing
Beijing
Wuhan
Qingdao
Shenyang
Changsha
Ningbo
Xian
Nantong
Guangzhou
Jinan
Wuxi
Fuzhou
Dalian
Hefei
Tianjin
Shaoxing
Hong Kong
Suzhou
Shanghai
Zhuhai
Yantai
Jiaxing
Xianyang
Quanzhou
Wenzhou
Xiamen
Changzhou
Kunming
Yuxi
Zhongshan
Zhangzhou
Changde
Nanchang
Guiyang
Weihai
Dongguan
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Table 2: Details of contracted sales of the Group in 2019

*

Amount including tax

e

Contracted sales
“E I —R2 )\
2019 2018
AR #T AR # T
RMB million RMB million
28,719 26,340
22,626 16,110
17,933 12,834
17,009 3,957
10,878 22,746
10,354 850
10,299 10,725
9,733 5,733
9,259 4,671
8,738 9,408
7,611 6,700
7,519 1,626
7,443 7,905
7,211 18,072
6,231 4,429
5,263 2,116
5,206 3,718
4,754 6,325
4,073 2,448
3,754 6
3,707 -
3,600 836
3,414 8,394
2,823 510
2,489 2,634
2,038 2,961
1,991 -
1,567 6,101
1,415 -
1,293 4,441
1,289 1,859
1,231 164
985 -
980 -
910 -
805 176
756 882
730 1,204
717 106
714 -

A ST A
Total GFA

ZE A
2019
RZES
Sqm
2,191,552
757,890
1,092,007
567,618
312,595
566,290
851,554
822,101
713,142
579,387
488,746
467,626
261,845
470,373
359,643
342,219
269,703
296,741
243,539
156,270
14,879
144,759
160,721
113,934
241,035
134,713
207,294
159,078
73,252
62,862
89,093
91,411
70,041
60,699
58,787
107,759
59,360
58,440
64,872
48,469

4 3 Annual Report 2019

ZF N\
2018
Tk
Sqm
2,144,580
635,699
962,362
227,768
542,351
68,801
800,355
545,772
379,314
525,972
479,899
110,232
235,347
1,266,599
319,323
149,059
206,131
415,496
134,249
863
32,591
205,004
19,479
252,170
188,977

633,348

239,681
120,534
15,785

22,672
81,029
106,254
6,116
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Contracted sales Total GFA
Sy i —&F—)\4& —FhuE &)\
2019 2018 2019 2018
A B Fr T AR #C Frrok Frk
W City RMB million RMB million Sqm Sqm
AR Shijiazhuang 655 786 51,628 54,180
L Zhengzhou 595 423 66,944 35,865
N Ganzhou 595 - 106,702 —
I Shenzhen 592 — 9,836 —
e Baoding 588 2,006 42,459 144,124
Ed Nanning 550 - 62,029 -
KIg Taiyuan 401 - 36,894 -
il Foshan 380 441 20,210 55,325
%4 Maoming 81 - 9,096 -
At Total 242,504 200,643 14,238,097 12,363,306

RE-F—-NEFA=+—H  AEECE S
RS SR S B A AR 2,535 f80C > |
WA TS 1,500 81K > By A S BIAR AL L it A1

FHETS ISR e B ERE -

B84

74 I — B B R R B B A W SE A R
W o HATEBMMBEMEELLNG - 2=
KEMAT] : — i B 0 K R
B 0 B D R B B v i U A T
WAL RBE AT o BRESGAN > BN
MHRAENHEERE® | CREEL - L
W RIS UM~ A - S AR K
CRRIT B S o

TERJUE S REBMEREEFRASHAS
W AT NRHEs7 90800 B AEs R 41.5% o
w - MEERE - HA ARG R A
79.0%" ~ 20.3%H0.7% ° #1E —FE—JUFE+ =
A=+—H  AEFECHENGEERREL
377 BT oK (S E A SR R 403 BT
k) > BEHHERES s% s HECHET.SH
o HIBAT SR IR R 77 4% 0 H
B 2E RN A IE E AR F587.3% -

# PEHAVTRA BRI R LKA o
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As at December 31, 2019, the Group had sold but unrecognized contracted
sales of RMB253.5 billion (with an area of around 15.00 million square meters),
which formed a solid basis for the Group's sustainable and stable growth in the
core net profit in the future.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group maintains a prudent property investment strategy. Currently,
investment properties of the Group are mainly shopping malls under three major
product series, namely Paradise Walk series, which are one-stop experiencing
shopping malls, Starry Street seties, which are community shopping malls, and
MOCO, which are mid to high-end household and lifestyle shopping centers. In
addition to the shopping malls, “Goyoo”, which provide new generation with
comprehensive rental housing services, have gradually commenced operation in
several Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities such as Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Hangzhou,
Nanjing, Chongging, and Chengdu.

In 2019, the rental income, net of tax, of the Group's property investment
business was RMB5.79 billion*, representing an increase of 41.5% as compared
to last year. Shopping malls, rental housing and others accounted for 79.0%",
20.3% and 0.7% of the total rental income respectively. As at December 31,
2019, the Group has shopping malls of 3.77 million square meters (4.93 million
square meters in GFA with parking space included) which have commenced
operation with an occupancy rate of 98.5%. 75,000 apartments of “Goyoo” have
commenced operation with the occupancy rate of 77.4%, boasting a leading
position in the industry in terms of its scales. The occupancy rate of “Goyoo”
which have commenced operation for more than six months was 87.3%.

# excluding Chengdu Xichen Paradise Walk and Beijing Chang an Paradise Walk.
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* FEBNA

BRI

Chongging North Paradise Walk

EL Ji O

Chongging West Paradise Walk

E - HIWREIE

Chonggqing Time Paradise Walk Phase I
BB K

Chongging Time Paradise Walk Phase II
BRI

Chongging Time Paradise Walk Phase I1I
W =T %Kt

Chengdu Three Thousand Paradise Walk
ALK B

Chengdu North Paradise Walk
AR

Chengdu Time Paradise Walk Phase I
kXt

Beijing Changying Paradise Walk
HPAERIPR

Hangzhou Jinsha Paradise Walk

R E AR

Chengdu Jinnan Paradise Walk
RRER S

Beijing Daxing Paradise Walk
IRINPRE

Shanghai Honggiao Paradise Walk
ERUSK

Chongging U-City Paradise Walk Phase [
BERUSK I

Chongging U-City Paradise Walk Phase II
Chongging Hometown Paradise Walk
WAL R

Hangzhou Binjiang Paradise Walk Phase I
S IIPRE

Suzhou Shishan Paradise Walk

FET

GFA
ik

sqm
120,778
76,031
160,168
154,460
73,774
38,043
215,536
61,989
221,286
151,135
91,638
144,565
170,450
15,516
96,411
93,152
158,067

197,466

i<
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Table 3: Breakdown of rental income of Shopping malls of the Group in 2019"

* Amount excluding tax
“EhE
2019
s
ik N A hipiik
Rental % of Occupancy
income Rental rate
ABW T
RMB 000

501,773 10.6% 100.0%
166,982 3.5% 98.6%
393,055 8.3% 99.0%
239,747 5.0% 97.6%
96,897 2.0% 98.7%
44,809 0.9% 97.2%
179,785 3.8% 96.8%
52,388 1.1% 100.0%
455,744 9.6% 98.7%
259,638 5.5% 98.8%
137,210 2.8% 100.0%
212,095 4.5% 100.0%
152,472 3.2% 97.6%
16,040 0.3% 98.6%
111,388 2.3% 99.3%
112,906 2.4% 99.4%
274,324 5.8% 98.9%
274,375 5.8% 98.6%

LIELIUN

Rental
income

AW T
RMB'000

466,756
160,760
330,349
200,580
73,079
37272
151,626
44,555
374015
219,579
113,203
180,930
99,491
14,314
81,146
84,565
233,511

214,898

“F0\E

2018

s

AR i
% of Occupancy

Rental rate

13.0% 97.8%
4.5% 94.4%
9.2% 98.5%
5.0% 97.1%
2.0% 96.4%
1.0% 100.0%
4.2% 92.1%
1.2% 100.0%

10.4% 99.0%
6.1% 99.3%
3.1% 100.0%
5.0% 98.3%
2.8% 90.3%
0.4% 99.2%
23% 96.2%
23% 99.8%
6.5% 99.5%
6.0% 96.5%

4 3 Annual Report 2019

GEL/ON
iRk
Change of
rental
income

75%

3.9%
19.0%
19.5%
32.6%
20.2%
18.6%
17.6%
21.9%
18.2%

21.2%

17.2%
53.3%
12.1%
37.3%
33.5%
17.5%

27.7%
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IR HIIPRE

Shanghai Baoshan Paradise Walk
HMHERE

Changzhou Longcheng Paradise Walk
EEF XS

Beijing Fangshan Paradise Walk
IR

Chengdu Xichen Paradise Walk
EBIPRE

Chengdu Binjiang Paradise Walk
RLN AISREE]

Hangzhou Binjiang Paradise Walk Phase IT
RMPEEX

Hangzhou Xixi Paradise Walk
URIE SRR

Hangzhou Zijing Paradise Walk
IR:EOR

Shanghai Huajing Paradise Walk
iR IPR

Shanghai Minhang Paradise Walk
Gl PR

Hefei Yaohai Paradise Walk

R AR

Nanjing Liuhe Paradise Walk
ERR%EXE

Beijing Chang'an Paradise Walk
K/t

Paradise Walk Subtotal
BERBE

Chongging Crystal Castle
ERERENE

Chonggqing Chunsen Starty Street
B 3

Chonggqing Fairy Castle
TRERENE

Beijing Summer Palace Starry Street
T KBNS

Xi'an Daxing Starry Street

T T B

Xian Qujiang Starry Street

Longfor Group Holdings Limited e & & @ 1= & B R 2 7

FE T

GFA
Thk

sqm

98,339
119328
103,688
152,639
140,000

22,627
123,582

68,010

253
113,859

98,320
126,782

52,563

3,502,455

16,161

54,618

29413

6,320

4427

63,200

iELIN
Rental

income

ANEHTT
RMB'000

195,246
107,156
180917
155,511
8221
11,083
22,627
8776
20,981
8,676
7,704
7,709
15,620
4,431,855
22,094
35,176
20,081
26,716
58,191

74,988

“R-h
2019

s

AR i
% of Occupancy

Rental rate
4.1% 98.7%
23% 94.4%

3.8% 100.0%

3.3% 96.5%

0.2% 99.7%

0.2% 100.0%

0.5% 100.0%

0.2% 100.0%

0.4% 100.0%

0.2% 94.7%
0.2% 98.5%
0.2% 98.2%
03% 99.1%

93.3% 98.5%

0.5% 100.0%

0.7% 97.1%

0.4% 100.0%

0.6% 100.0%

1.2% 97.6%

1.6% 100.0%

iELION
Rental
income
ANRIETT
RMB’000

162,609
30,583
53,073

10,134

3,337,088
21872
30,365
11,936
23,637

50,178

61,814

“F )\

2018
st
KL

i

% of Occupancy

Rental

45%

0.8%

1.5%

03%

92.7%

0.6%

0.8%

03%

0.7%

1.4%

1.7%

rate

98.7%

98.9%

99.3%

100.0%

97.3%

98.4%

91.5%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

KL UN
Rk
Change of
rental
income

20.0%
250.4%
240.9%

1434.5%

32.8%

1.0%
15.8%
68.2%
13.0%

16.0%

21.3%
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“EhE “F )\
2019 2018
s s E/ON
BEmE HAlA HA hE  HERA HA BiTHES HR%
Change of
Rental % of Occupancy Rental % of Occupancy rental
GFA income Rental rate income Rental rate income
Tk ARBFI ANRHTT
sqm  RMB'000 RMB'000
FinRT RS 24,740 17,152 0.4% 98.6% - - -
Shanghai Minhang Starry Street
Bl - 25,668 0.5% N/A 27871 0.8% N/A -1.9%
Others
AN 238,685 280,066 5.9% 98.8% 227,673 6.3% 97.6% 23.0%
Starry Street Subtotal
EEMOCO 29,104 35,919 0.8% 100.0% 35,494 1.0% 97.7% 1.2%
Chongging MOCO
PN 29,104 35,919 0.8%  100.0% 35,494 1.0% 97.7% 1.2%
MOCO Subtotal
RGBSR 3770244 4747840 100.0% 98.5%  3,600255  100.0% 97.4% 31.9%

Total for projects that had
commenced operation

#2019 BGHERB AR K267 o A L
R25% ; 2F T HEM154HNK - il LR

23%

##

In 2019, the total retail sales of shopping malls were RMB26.7 billion, representing an

increase of 25% year-on-year. Annual average daily foot traffic was approximately 1.54

million, representing an increase of 23% year-on-year.

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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ALEE A E R R EYEWT

The Group currently has the following major investment properties under

construction:

KW - FIERE T T ELEY R

Table 4: The major investment properties under construction of the Group

A )l S T

Estimated

Commencement of
e BH S I ] Operation Planned GFA
Tk
Sqgm
BB b3 K A Chengdu Shangcheng Paradise Walk 20204F 2020 120,000
BEEBREA RGN Chengdu Time Paradise Walk Phase IT 2020%4F 2020 63,013
A RE R A Nanjing Longwan Paradise Walk 2020%F 2020 114,470
VLA KA Nanjing Jiangbei Paradise Walk 20204F 2020 143,000
H BRI Chongqing Jinsha Paradise Walk 2020%4F 2020 204,374
RN S K A Suzhou Xinghu Paradise Walk 20204F 2020 112,106
i/ PN ] Xi'an Xiangti Paradise Walk 20204F 2020 78,962
R L Chengdu Wuhou Starry Street 2020%4F 2020 31,469
TR PR S R A Suzhou Dongwu Paradise Walk 20214 K LM 2021 and hereafter 114,978
A P K A Nanjing Hexi Paradise Walk 2021 4F B DA% 2021 and hereafter 112,216
AR R R A Chengdu Jinchen Paradise Walk 20214 K LAf% 2021 and hereafter 83,000
W LA R A Hangzhou Jiangdong Paradise Walk 20214 K LM 2021 and hereafter 107,125
A K Chongqing Lijia Paradise Walk 2021 4F B DA% 2021 and hereafter 110,508
RUPFEHIR Changsha Yanghu Paradise Walk 20214 K LAf% 2021 and hereafter 99,988
WL MNP N3] Wuhan Jiangchen Paradise Walk 20214 K LM 2021 and hereafter 138,584
) YNEPNR ] Chongqing Gongyuan Paradise Walk 2021 4F B DA% 2021 and hereafter 138,034
BN T HG R4 Hangzhou Dingqiao Paradise Walk 20214 K DAf% 2021 and hereafter 117,944
HBBIMKE Qingdao Jiaozhou Paradise Walk 2021 4F Je DA% 2021 and hereafter 81,463
IRz PN Shanghai Fengxian Paradise Walk 2021 4F B DA% 2021 and hereafter 104,163
Rk PR Nanchang Qingshanhu Paradise Walk 2021 4F Je DA% 2021 and hereafter 95,400
LI PN Ningbo Yinzhou Paradise Walk 20214 K LM% 2021 and hereafter 106,065

B R C RGNS LIk - @SN

Due to the rental increase of shopping malls in operation, continuous
BB R EAE [E 5 e > A%LH—
FoNESBEREY TS EAN R 7 3
JC e amounted to RMB3.73 billion in 2019.

investments in projects under construction and the development of rental

housing “Goyoo”, the valuation gain of investment properties of the Group

32
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INCOME FROM DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY SERVICES

In 2019, the total income generated from Digital Technology Services of the
Group was RMB400 million. In recently years, the Group has been committed
to providing digital technology services to internal functions for operation
management and procedure innovation. Currently, the service also begins
to cover external parties, including the membership points management of
customers, the electronic coupon business of shopping mall tenants, intelligent
parking system services as well as cooperative project management. In the
future, the Group will continue to enrich digital service products and its scope

of applications, and the corresponding income will increase steadily.

COST CONTROL

In 2019, benefited from the Group’s excellent performance on acquisition of
projects and sales in Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities, as well as its focus on high quality
talents and organization efficiency improvement, the Group'’s share of general
and administrative expenses to the total contracted sales was 2.7%, remained
stable as compared to last year. Meanwhile, as the Group has increased its
marketing expenses to strengthen its brand influence, the selling expenses to the

total contracted sales increased by 0.1% to 1.7% as compared to last year.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF JOINT VENTURES

In 2019, the contribution of joint ventures was mainly from the Group’s
25.0%-owned Beijing Orient Original. The attributable profit after tax of the

Group in joint ventures was RMB766 million.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

In 2019, the contribution of associates was mainly from the Group’s
49.0%-owned Chengdu Huazhao. The attributable profit after tax of the Group

in associates was RMB586 million.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Income tax expenses comprised PRC enterprise income tax and land appreciation
tax. In 2019, the enterprise income tax and the land appreciation tax of the
Group were RMB9.72 billion and RMB9.69 billion, respectively. The total

income tax expenses for the period amounted to RMB19.41 billion.

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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PROFITABILITY

In 2019, the Group's core net profit margin (i.e. after excluding the effects of
valuation gains, the ratio of the core profit after tax to the revenue) was 15.5%,
while that of last year was 14.7%); and the core net profit margin attributable
to shareholders (i.e. after excluding the effects, such as minority interests and
valuation gains, the ratio of the core net profit attributable to shareholders to
the revenue) was 10.3%, while that of last year was 11.1%. The above is mainly
due to the increase of revenue during the current year and the combined effects
of expenses, share of results of joint ventures and associates and the changes of

income tax expenses.

LAND BANK REPLENISHMENT

As at December 31, 2019, the Group’s total land bank was 68.14 million square
meters or 47.42 million square meters on an attributable basis. The average unit
land cost was RMB5,737 per square meter, accounting for 33.7% of unit price
of current contracted sales. In terms of regional breakdown, land bank in Pan
Bohai Rim, western China, Yangtze River Delta, central China, southern China
and Hong Kong Region accounted for 33.0%, 28.0%, 19.3%, 9.9%, 9.7% and
0.1% of the total land bank, respectively.

In 2019, the Group has acquired new land bank with total GFA of 17.31
million square meters or 12.73 million square meters on an attributable basis.
Average cost of acquisition on an attributable basis was RMB6,186 per square
meter. In terms of regional breakdown, the newly acquired area of Pan Bohai
Rim, southern China, Yangtze River Delta, western China and central China
accounted for 25.2%, 22.3%, 21.5%, 20.2% and 10.8% of the total GFA of the

newly acquired land bank.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period”, the Group has acquired new
land bank with total GFA of 2.32 million square meters or 1.78 million square
meters on an attributable basis. In terms of regional breakdown, land bank
newly acquired subsequent to the end of the reporting period in southern
China, Yangtze River Delta, Pan Bohai Rim, western China and central China
accounted for 40.0%, 22.9%, 21.1%, 11.9% and 4.1% of the total GFA of the

land bank acquired subsequent to the end of the reporting period, respectively.

Currently, there are 56 cities covered by the Group®. In addition to focusing on
the Tier-1 and Tier-2 cities, we also made appropriate investment in projects
located in city clusters within metropolitan circles. The project size was also
controlled at an appropriate level, which laid a well foundation for improving

the turnover cycle of the Group's properties available for sale.

# As of February 29, 2020
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The geographic spread of the land bank of the Group was as follows:
Table 5: Breakdown of land bank of the Group

A A PRGN 5 T P i L i

% Of Attributable % Of

g Region i City Total GFA Total GFA Total
SEN SES
Spm Spm

LH#EMIE  Pan Bohai Rim et Beijing 2,752,411 4.0% 929,476 2.0%

47 Shenyang 2,530,844 3.7% 2,304,158 4.9%

H Qingdao 2,873,934 4.2% 2,095,691 4.4%

Y] Yantai 7,125,262 10.5% 7,059,030 14.9%

L] Jinan 3,790,545 5.6% 2,307,765 4.9%

K Dalian 463,246 0.7% 284,415 0.6%

e Baoding 552,536 0.8% 386,775 0.8%

HAFAE Shijiazhuang 316,685 0.5% 165,525 0.3%

B Weihai 484,297 0.7% 304,405 0.6%

K Taiyuan 534,958 0.8% 534,958 1.1%

& Changchun 130,425 0.2% 130,425 0.3%

PNEH Tianjin 877,728 1.3% 569,836 1.2%

it Subtotal 22,432,871 33.0% 17,072,459 36.0%

T i R Central China R~ Changsha 1,534,523 2.3% 694,617 1.5%

B Nanchang 518,792 0.8% 415,077 0.9%

B Zhengzhou 440,323 0.6% 440,323 0.9%

W Changde 389,011 0.6% 389,011 0.8%

M Ganzhou 227,289 0.3% 81,824 0.2%

i Wuhan 3,646,265 5.3% 1,651,281 3.4%

it Subtotal 6,756,203 9.9% 3,672,133 7.7%

T 0 [ Western China Gl Chongging 9,131,976 13.4% 7,051,633 15.0%

AR Chengdu 3,433,770 5.0% 2,252,034 4.7%

53 Xian 1,230,790 1.8% 810,899 1.7%

EiZ Yuxi 727,565 1.1% 727,565 1.5%

R’ Guiyang 2,017,543 3.0% 1,065,661 2.2%

215 Xianyang 743,521 1.1% 559,128 1.2%

241l Kunming 1,805,014 2.6% 997,118 2.1%

it Subtotal 19,090,179 28.0% 13,464,038 28.4%
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A ST A At be il RERR S A JieAds be il

% Of Attributable % Of

M [ Region Wi City Total GFA Total GFA Total
RS Tk
Spm Spm

R=AHlE  Yangtze River Delta [iff Shanghai 1,193,977 1.8% 673,681 1.4%

55 Wuxi 544,508 0.8% 477,985 1.0%

N Changzhou 674,276 1.0% 674,276 1.4%

B Hangzhou 2,146,559 3.2% 1,074,686 2.3%

A Nantong 728,755 1.1% 333,138 0.7%

4R Shaoxing 452,293 0.7% 251,918 0.5%

T M Wenzhou 330,898 0.5% 214,571 0.5%

Eo4)3 Ningbo 1,237,091 1.8% 893,656 1.9%

FE M Suzhou 1,622,155 2.4% 1,103,453 2.3%

B Nanjing 2,132,586 3.0% 1,653,845 3.5%

i L Jiaxing 430,276 0.6% 216,667 0.5%

M Xuzhou 31,726 0.0% 16,180 0.0%

B Yangzhou 127,686 0.2% 127,686 0.3%

A Hefei 1,511,822 2.2% 1,280,794 2.7%

it Subtotal 13,164,608 19.3% 8,992,536 19.0%

HE b Southern China J&1 1] Xiamen 1,313,947 1.9% 657,214 1.2%

SR Quanzhou 313,585 0.5% 313,585 0.7%

JEE M Guangzhou 974,943 1.4% 578,391 1.2%

el Shenzhen 155,929 0.2% 150,743 0.3%

HEM Fuzhou 1,012,676 1.5% 601,838 1.3%

1Ly Foshan 62,357 0.1% 31,802 0.1%

H5E Dongguan 123,381 0.2% 30,969 0.1%

[ Nanning 481,233 0.7% 228,728 0.5%

TE Zhangzhou 175,604 0.3% 175,604 0.4%

Hril) Zhongshan 135,499 0.2% 67,750 0.1%

Bt Maoming 97,134 0.1% 97,134 0.2%

M Huizhou 359,432 0.5% 141,280 0.3%

a3 Haikou 798,728 1.2% 798,728 1.7%

LM Jiangmen 291,303 0.4% 145,652 0.3%

kil Zhuhai 346,468 0.5% 173,813 0.4%

it Subtotal 6,642,219 9.7% 4,193,231 8.8%

A s Hh Hong Kong Region it Hong Kong 54,459 0.1% 27,229 0.1%

/NGt Subtotal 54,459 0.1% 27,229 0.1%

At Total 68,140,539 100.0% 47,421,626 100.0%
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Hul:

Region

B bl
Pan Bohai Rim

HH A

Project

JUE R

Jasper Sky

eI

The Light Year Phase I
AL s R

Beijing Lize Paradise Walk
HEONE

Born to be the One
JUERBEA
Perfectionism

Rz

Tian Yi

Bt

Chun Jiang Central
RILER

Chunjiang Center
TR

Gangxi Road Plot
FILKH

Longfor Palace
A

The Light Year Phase II
BILBT

Chunjiang Land
BB

Chunjiang Land
Mk

Xin Yi Central
TIEE

Yun Feng Longfor Mansion
PN

Longfor Mansion
gegliyi

Peace Hill County
IR R M

Yizhuang District Plot
BIHY

Chun Jiang Central

i<

Table 6: Land acquisition in 2019

Wi JEAGRE RS
Attributable

City Interest
%
%

AR 51.0%

Shijiazhuang

Hh 95.0%

Qingdao

Jex 51.0%

Beijing

N 100.0%

Dalian

i) 100.0%

Shenyang

&0 100.0%

Shenyang

K 100.0%

Tianjin

HE 100.0%

Qingdao

i 100.0%

Ji'nan

Hh 51.0%

Qingdao

HE 95.0%

Qingdao

Hh 70.0%

Qingdao

B 51.0%

Weihai

HE 51.0%

Qingdao

i 70.0%

Shenyang

KR 100.0%

Taiyuan

e 100.0%

Yantai

1w 100.0%

Beijing

ik 60.0%

Yantai

P kv e 3 A
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b e iy
Total GFA
P
Sqm
216,287
157,007
98,446
24,645

146,593

114,882

65,021

28,390
453,642
166,465
100,060
269,080
132,080

61,862
369,143
534,958
139,500
153,030

165,587

4 3 Annual Report 2019

SR RS
Attributable
GFA

Ik

Sqm

110,306
149,156
50,207
24,645
146,593

114,882

65,021

28,390
453,642
84,897
95,057
188,356
67,361
31,550
258,401
534,958
139,500
153,030

99,352
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Hulg: HH #1 Wl WA e 5 MEfmE SRR
Attributable Attributable
Region Project City Interest Total GFA GFA
% Frk Frk
% Sqm Sqm
FHEREH il 65.0% 94,470 61,406
Wonderland Project Shenyang
B H L 100.0% 339,270 339,270
Xiangjiang Road Project Qingdao
Bl L 80.0% 46,238 36,990
Heshan Road Plot Qingdao
SRR B 70.0% 257,135 179,995
Jinhou Plant Plot Weihai
NEBEA K 51.0% 107,847 55,002
Xiaoyaowan Project Dalian
ol [ =20 100.0% 130,425 130,425
Nanguan District Plot Changchun
/it 4,372,063 3,598,392
Subrtotal
[l REM b 50.0% 198,104 99,052
Western China Zi Yun Fu Chengdu
RUE D 34.0% 182,767 62,140
Lakeside Bay Chengdu
R 2 75.2% 743,521 559,128
Rainbow Central Xianyang
I =SRIEH D 100.0% 12,743 12,743
Southern 3rd Ring Plot Chengdu
=T HE 100.0% 143,950 143,950
Poetic Life Chongqing
R NE HE 70.0% 167,571 117,160
Central Park Plot Phase I Chongging
R R 70.0% 126,340 88,438
Central Park Plot Phase I Chongqing
R = BE 70.0% 176,160 123,312
Central Park Plot Phase I Chonggqing
£ Bt 51.0% 92,865 47,361
Zi Yun Fu Chongqing
HEm % 100.0% 99,775 99,775
Xin Yi Central Xi'an
BRIHA ELH 100.0% 549,592 549,592
Wujiaba Plot Kunming
i B M i 35.0% 46,482 16,269
Ruilian Road Plot Chengdu
7k R 50.0% 417,977 208,989
Xiyong Plot Chongqing
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Hul: JHH #1 Wl WEAY; e 2 MEfmR SRR
Attributable Attributable
Region Project City Interest Total GFA GFA
% FK Frk
% Sqm Sqm
RS i 100.0% 74,927 74,927
Yanghui Plot Guiyang
TH TR 50.0% 404,779 202,389
Celestial Mansion Chengdu
S e A 51.0% 68,130 34,746
Xinglong Street Plot Chengdu
/it 3,505,483 2,439971
Subrtotal
R=fihE W R M 51.0% 285,636 145,674
Yangtze River Delta  City of Stars Suzhou
AR ILAET 1L SR B 51.0% 93,260 47,563
Xiaoshan Beiganshan Plot Hangzhou
Kb AR 100.0% 157,253 157,253
Expanse Garden Hefei
RHMERH N 100.0% 365,346 365,346
Jing Lin Longfor Mansion Changzhou
HILER G 100.0% 171,738 171,738
Chunjiang Center Hefei
FILK i 30.0% 163,159 48,948
Chunjiang Tian Yue Shanghai
BILRE: 4R 60.0% 236,092 141,655
Chunjiang Heaven Shaoxing
S BN 34.0% 133,390 45,351
Dong Chao Garden Hangzhou
it I 100.0% 51,613 51,613
Xiaolingwei Street Plot Nanjing
K E 34 90.0% 372,022 334,820
Star Glamor Ningbo
FETODIM Lig 51.0% 295,459 150,684
Fengxian TOD Plot Shanghai
K i 100.0% 63,881 63,881
Longfor Mansion Wenzhou
RRAYEHA Fifg 100.0% 105,719 105,719
Fengxian Plot No. 4 Shanghai
PR &I 70.0% 135,252 94,676
Xichen Longfor Mansion Hefei
AT R 70.0% 350,418 245,293
Jiangning Binjiang Plot Nanjing
B i 50.0% 181,107 90,554
Zhongyangtu Plot Wenzhou

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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HolRk HH #1 Wl WAl MEEWR  ESEREEK
Attributable Attributable
Region Project City Interest Total GFA GFA
% Tk Frk
% Sqm Sqm
1L PBE HM 51.0% 163,802 83,539
Shushan West Plot Hangzhou
BT A AR i 50.0% 103,161 51,581
Ju Xiu Yuan South Plot Jiaxing
B 5K R R A i 50.0% 87,383 43,692
Shang Dong Mansion East Plot Jiaxing
AR H fRM 51.0% 31,726 16,180
Beijing Road Project Xuzhou
“EAREMA i 100.0% 127,686 127,686
Sanwan Park Plot Yangzhou
LA R 100.0% 38,971 38,971
Jiangbei New District Plot Nanjing
/Nt 3,714,074 2,622,417
Subtotal
bl ILRK v d 50.0% 348,854 174,427
Central China Jiangchen Paradise Walk Wuhan
et F fivtd 60.0% 180,430 108,258
Guanggu City ® Chanson Wuhan
FILHLE = 51.0% 102,715 52,384
Chun Jiang Central Nanchang
T v d 51.0% 267,068 136,205
Yun Feng Longfor Mansion Wuhan
S fintd 40.0% 128,557 51,423
Fairy Castle Wuhan
A HTODIE fiv: 4 100.0% 298,779 298,779
Baishazhou TOD Plot Wuhan
FRTF oM 100.0% 274,988 274,988
Jinglin Jiuxu Zhengzhou
HILERR = 100.0% 263,548 263,548
Chunjiang Central Nanchang
/Nt 1,864,939 1,360,012
Subtotal
FE IR ERETE T 100.0% 175,604 175,604
Southern China Longfor Mansion Zhangzhou
A A 65.0% 305,559 198,613
Yangxia Plot Fuzhou
(RPN M 37.0% 258,759 95,741
Glorious Mansion Fuzhou
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T H A1 Wl WEAY; e 2 MEfmR SRR
Attributable Attributable

Project City Interest Total GFA GFA
% FK Frk
% Sqm Sqm

FILER il 50.0% 135,499 67,750

Chunjiang Center Zhongshan

FILKE e 100.0% 97,134 97,134

Glorious Mansion Maoming

FILRE L5 100.0% 142,107 142,107

Glorious Mansion Xiamen

AT B 49.9% 54,829 27,360

Huangshi West Road Plot Guangzhou

BRETE kS 60.0% 56,626 33,976

Longfor Mansion Nanning

fis JE 80.0% 176,662 141,330

Splendor Garden Guangzhou

AT B 51.0% 212,558 108,405

Renhe Town Plot Guangzhou

FILHE M 100.0% 102,870 102,870

Chun Jiang Central Quanzhou

MEREA Lo 51.0% 96,743 49,339

Xiaojinkou Project Huizhou

TLELK k4 49.0% 335,907 164,594

Bamboo Grove Nanning

N AsHEEA M 35.0% 262,689 91,941

Xiaojinkou Project No.5 Huizhou

VLT ign 100.0% 798,728 798,728

Pobopogang Plot Haikou

FER bR M 85.0% 115,795 98,426

Ferris Wheel Plot Fuzhou

FHIEE 3l 100.0% 46,747 46,747

Gaobo Project Shenzhen

LN i 50.0% 291,303 145,652

Shuanglong Mansion Jiangmen

{RRUERE:E M 65.0% 190,401 123,760

Fuzhu Village Plot Fuzhou

/it 3,856,520 2,710,077

Subtotal

st 17,313,079 12,730,869

Total
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TR A5 A o A G RS R - £k 4 0 A Details of the land bank acquired by the Group subsequent to the end of the

mr reporting period” are as follows:
FL LA Table 7: Land acquisition subsequent to the end of the reporting period
Hul: HA A Wt WMt aAREmE SR
Attributable Expected Attributable
Region Project City Interest GFA GFA
# FHk ik
% Sqm Sgm
B E RRAA JE L 70% 124,724 87,307
Pan Bohai Rim Sunjiazhuang Plot Tangshan
TR Kt 100% 184,376 184,376
Haijiaoyuan Plot Tianjin
FILZHIHA EL 70% 115,474 80,832
Taishan 2nd Road Project Qingdao
R A 18 100% 64,406 64,406
Jianye Road South Plot Shenyang
ANt 488,980 416,921
Subtotal
7 [ SRy R 70% 171,458 120,021
Western China Supo Street Plot Chengdu
B 7% 40% 26,362 10,545
Gaolou Road Plot Xi'an
R ik 40% 78,054 31,222
Guangyuntan Plot Xi'an
/it 275,874 161,788
Subrtotal
REAME REF A A 100% 236,529 236,529
Yangtze River Delta  Chabai Area Plot Wenzhou
Bt A T s il 100% 293,552 293,552
Ouhai Wutian West Plot Wenzhou
530,081 530,081
R HRE R =304 51% 95,782 48,849
Central China Taoyang Village Plot Changsha
/it 95,782 48,849
Subtotal
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Hul: JHH %7 Wi WM AR ESREEK
Attributable Expected Attributable
Region Project City Interest GFA GFA
% Tk Tk
% Sqm Sqm
IR FLE IR H M 51% 279,479 142,534
Southern China Dongjiang Land Project Huizhou
[CERER R M 100% 114,095 114,095
Rongzhong Village Plot Fuzhou
KA e 60% 234,700 140,820
Baota Project Nanning
L o e ity 50% 45,858 22,929
Xingzhong Road South Plot Zhuhai
RERBEH A 51% 57,744 29,449
Changle Dongguan Project Fuzhou
TR M 51% 42,728 21,791
Houpu Plot Fuzhou
A M 100% 153,335 153,335
Cangshan District Plot Fuzhou
/it 927,939 624,953
Subrtotal
At 2,318,656 1,782,592
Total

# I —FZFFEZH A

g NV A

BWoFE-ET A=+ 0 AEENES
EEH AR 460,008 0 - REMTFAM/E
(B EFHER RS EH) Bs1.ow  EFBE
R ANRE609. 5150 « AEEME R A BBB
(FEHE ) ~ Baa3 (24l1) ~ BBB (EE) ~ AAA
(KRB ~ dalfs ab s Hritad) - Babfg
BLEE > HA BRI LTRE -

b LB R A R B L K 2
FEFL AT L AL A AT
Pz

# As of February 29, 2020

FINANCIAL POSITION

As of December 31, 2019, the Group’s consolidated borrowings amounted to
RMB146.00 billion. The net debt to equity ratio (net debt divided by total
equity) of the Group was 51.0%. Cash in hand reached RMBG60.95 billion. The
credit rating of the Group was BBB by Standard & Poor, Baa3 by Moody’s, BBB
by Fitch, and AAA by Dagong International*, CCXR* and Shanghai Brilliance,

with positive outlook from Moody and stable outlook from others.

* The ratings of Dagong International and CCXR were reviewed on Chongqing Longhu
Development Co., Led., a major subsidiary of the Company in Mainland China.

4 3 Annual Report 2019

43 N



4

W B w43 A

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Approximately 74% of the Group’s total borrowings were denominated in
RMB, while 26% were denominated in foreign currencies. The Group keeps
maintaining its borrowings in foreign currencies in a low proportion with a

certain amount of exchange rate swap so as to control the risk in exchange losses.

Approximately RMB53.75 billion of the Group’s consolidated borrowings were
with fixed interest rates ranging from 3.06% per annum to 5.60% per annum,
depending on the terms of the loans, and the other loans were quoted at floating
rates. As of December 31, 2019, the proportion of fixed interest debt was 37%
(December 31, 2018: 38%) of the total debt.

The Group’s average cost of borrowing was 4.54% per annum. The average
maturity period of loan was 6.04 years. The proportion of unsecured debt was
69% of the total debt. The debt due within one year was RMB13.93 billion,
accounting for 9.5% of the total debt. Cash to short-term debt ratio (cash in

hand divided by debt due within one year) was 4.38.

In 2019, the Group successfully issued corporate bonds of RMB2.2 billion and
rental housing special bonds of RMB2.0 billion in the domestic capital market,
at a coupon rate ranging from 3.9% to 4.70% per annum and terms ranging
from five years to seven years; meanwhile, the Group successfully issued senior
notes of US$850 million in the international capital market, at a coupon rate of

3.95% per annum with a term of ten years.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in January 2020, the Group
successfully issued senior notes of US$650 million in the international capital
market, at a coupon rate ranging from 3.375% to 3.85% per annum with
terms ranging from seven years and three months to twelve years; in January
2020, the Group successfully issued corporate notes of RMB2.8 billion in the
domestic capital market, at a coupon rate ranging from 3.55% to 4.2% per
annum and terms ranging from five years to seven years; in March 2020, the
Group successfully issued rental housing special bonds of RMB 3.0 billion in
the domestic capital market at a coupon rate of 3.8% per annum with a term of

seven years.
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EMPLOYEES AND COMPENSATION POLICY

As at December 31, 2019, the Group had 26,316 full-time employees in China.
Of these employees, 8,882 worked in the property development division, 3,465
in the property investment division, and 13,969 in the property management

division. Average age of our employees is 31.3 years old.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work
experience and the prevailing market wage level. The total compensation of
the employees consisted of base salary, cash bonus and share-based rewards.
The gross amount of cash bonus is determined from, amongst other things,
the ranking of the Group’s budget fulfillment ratio and loyalties of customers,
which is then assessed and allocated to individual subsidiaries according to the

results of a balanced scorecard and profitability.

PROSPECTS

As the government tightened policies along with stricter enforcement, it has
become a consensus that housing is primarily used for residence and that real
estate trading cannot be a short-term economic stimulus. Policies adapting to
local realities has led to growing differences between one regional market to
another, where some are doing well while some are not. Meanwhile, the uneven
development across the sector has also accelerated the industry’s integration. In
this increasingly complicated and uncertain market, the appropriate benchmark
for gauging business competitiveness is no longer one or two criteria such as
scale or speed of development, but the multi-dimensional indicators including

products, services, operation, capital and among other strengths.

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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With a strong commitment to the strategy of “Space as a Service”, the Group
is dedicated to comprehensive and coordinated development of its four core
businesses, which are property development, commercial property, rental
housing and smart service. The Group is building its industry-leading
capabilities in cost control, supply chain management, and productivity
enhancement. As we focus on building our major businesses, we also take
strategic insights on future revolution, and constantly upgrade operation system

to improve organizational efficiency.

In 2020, the number of our key projects for sale is up to 212, among which
65 are brand new projects, and 120 projects will enter into the next phase of
project. Our product offerings cater to different groups of customers, including
first-time home buyers, existing homeowners, and business operators. The
Group will also carry out differentiated strategies in tailoring products to
different needs of customers in different areas, striving to capture opportunities

in the ever-changing market.

By the end of 2019, the Group (including joint ventures and associates) has
completed constructions of properties with a total GFA of approximately
15 million square meters. The total GFA of properties planned to complete
construction in 2020 will reach approximately 20 million square meters, most
of which will be delivered in the second half of the year. Construction of some
projects has gradually resumed after a halt due to the COVID-19 outbreak
at the beginning of the year, and the Group is now speeding up construction

progress without compromising the quality.

Regarding the investment properties, 10 shopping malls, including the
ones in Hangzhou Xixi, Shanghai Minhang, and Hefei Yaohai, have already
started running in 2019; Paradise Walk malls in Chongqing Jinsha, Chengdu
Shangcheng, and Suzhou Xinghu are expected to open in 2020. Another core
business, “Goyoo”, which is our rental housing brand, has started operating in
Beijing, Shanghai, Shenzhen, Hangzhou, Nanjing, Chongqing, Chengdu among
Chinese top tier cities in 2019, and we will take steady approach in expanding
the business to meet growing market demands. By investing in both shopping
malls and rental housing, we have laid a solid foundation for future growth of

rental income from investment properties.

In an increasingly competitive real estate market, the Group will stick to
the prudent and rational financial management strategy, and aim for steady
and sustainable growth by keeping a reasonable debt ratio with low-cost and
multi-channel financing. And on the matter of project investments, the Group
will cooperate with external partners and seek acquisition opportunities in the
secondary market, to make financially sound decisions underpinned by firm cost

control in land acquisition and high efficiency in fund utilization.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Madam Wu Yajun, aged 55, was appointed as executive director of the
Company on December 21, 2007, and is the Chairperson of the Board of
the Company. She is also a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Investment Committee of the Company. Madam Wu is the founder of the
Group. She graduated from Northwestern Polytechnical University (PG4T
SEKEL) majoring in thermal power torpedo equipment design and obtained a
Bachelor degree in Engineering in 1984. Madam Wu serves as a member of the

Standing Committee of the All-China Federation of Industry & Commerce (%

B T ).

Mr. Shao Mingxiao, aged 54, was appointed as executive director of the
Company on June 3, 2011, and is the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and
a member of the Investment Committee of the Company. Mr. Shao joined the
Group in 2006. He graduated from Renmin University of China (1B AR K
£ and obtained a Master degree in Economics in 1992. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Shao served as the deputy general manager of Hangyu Economic
Development Company (Fl 588 7558 & A B3 7]) which is a subsidiary of
Beijing Capital Group (1L 5 #FAIZE5E M), and Beijing Xinlian Xiechuang
Real Estate Development Limited (jtﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂgﬂé BHEE A PRA A
respectively. Mr. Shao was also the general manager of Beijing Zhongjing
Yiyuan Real Estate Development Limited (jlﬁf'?\ $§%§E%iﬂ% FEEA R
A]) and the director of the real estate development division of Beijing Hualian

Group AL TE AL ).

Mr. Zhao Yi, aged 43, was appointed as executive director of the Company on
March 18, 2015 and is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and a member
of the Investment Committee. Mr. Zhao graduated from Zhongnan University
of Economics and Law (" &8 BL% K 2), majoring in international
accounting and obtained a bachelor degree in business administration. He is
a member of China Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He joined the
Group in 2006 and has served as the senior manager of Chongqing Longfor, the
financial controller of Chengdu Longfor, the head of the Financial Management
Centre and the general manager of the Ministry of Finance of the Group.

Before joining the Group, he served at Pan-China (Chongqing) Certified Public
Accountants (FE B R fH & 5HRTZEH ).
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Mr. Wang Guangjian, aged 48, was appointed as executive director of the
Company on March 24, 2020. Mr. Wang is the senior vice president of the
Group and also serves as the chief executive officer of the rental housing business
and the chairman of Longfor Smart Service Group. Mr. Wang joined the Group
in 2000 and served as general manager of Chengdu Longfor. He obtained
a Master degree in Management from Chongqing University, majoring in
Architectural Economy Management in 2001. Currently Mr. Wang is a non-
executive director of Greentown Service Group Co. Ltd., which is listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mzr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, aged 70, was appointed as independent
non-executive director and member of the Audit Committee of the Company
on November 1, 2009. He has been involved in Asian securities and property
investment markets for more than 30 years. Currently, he is a private investor
including having his own family business, Portwood Company Limited. He is
also an independent non-executive director of Hysan Development Company
Limited (a company listed on the SEHK). He is also the publisher and author of
“The Churchouse Letter”.

In 2004, Mr. Churchouse set up an Asian investment fund under LIM Advisors.
He acted as a director of LIM Advisors and as Responsible Officer until the
end of 2009. Prior to this, Mr. Churchouse worked at Morgan Stanley as a
managing director and advisory director from early 1988. He acted in a variety
of roles including head of regional research, regional strategist and head of
regional property research. Mr. Churchouse gained a Bachelor of Arts degree
and a Master of Social Sciences degree from the University of Waikato in New
Zealand.



HRELRATEANEEN

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

BRS R > BUES6R - BREER “FTILE
t—A—-HEZERALAFAB L NTES
FHZEGERATMEZEGLA - WA
Bg AR SEmE MBS - MR LR EA
ARAT R g S S A RA T 2 1R - BRoEAE
PRNFBRE > AL Rp R LR
(EMBAERE) > WA RO SR T BLAR
BT o RO A A TR T 5 B AT 1 7
Wt 5 42 B A R )T DR R 2 4 T R
W) ZMATE R R AR E R T+
N o BAEAB ABEFCEEEHARAF
o v i R S BT B W) 2 S FE AT
5o B AT AT B -

EERSA > BUESTIR > BN EF RS
—H BRI AARABSLF TS - %
BZAEGLHMEZEGZE - HREEMER
(ONGREREDN JICER S L o AR =2 IN ]
B B 1 B 1= e AR o JROEAE BT P P B
AIRAT ~ B AR A R 2 B AT
o R I/NSIRE) N B o

LA RS S (T ERA R
W]~ RSt RN AR A PR F (2R )
P & R o/ NR) S i e e
T o SRS G AT R B ) (SR ) AFRA A >
SHA R A IR A R A > 5
BAEMMARAR ZESE > Rl na HRER
Fr Tl o TS AR T R A
BRA R Z WS > i m R RIS 2758 5 B
Lo

MG - BAE495K - MIRER —F——FA
HZ AR AN A B S AT # S > Wi
AN A Z B FE o 8 n A5 Sy B
OEMENEEGTE K ELER -8
T BB EERTRAR - 2fR - Bk
T — JUTU/\ AR5 35 B AP R K 2 I s 5
T T B R — UL — AR B R B4
RSO LB o 8 SR G A R
T 15 2 e G B2 0 I VA B INSEAD 2088

Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, aged 56, was appointed as independent non-executive
director, chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company on November 1, 2009. Mr. Chan is the chairman
of Halcyon Capital Limited and Halcyon Securities Limited, which is engaged
in corporate finance and securities business in Hong Kong respectively. Mr.
Chan graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor degree in
Social Sciences (majoring in Economics) and from the Hong Kong University
of Science & Technology with a Master degree in Business Administration.
He worked for the Stock Exchange and has been executive director of Haitong
International Securities Group Limited (formerly Taifook Securities Group
Limited) and head of its corporate finance division for 16 years. Currently he
is an independent non-executive director of Yuexiu REIT Asset Management
Limited and China Conch Venture Holdings Limited, both are listed on the
SEHK.

Mr. Xiang Bing, aged 57, was appointed as independent non-executive director,
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company on November 1, 2009. He obtained a Doctoral degree in Accounting
from the University of Alberta in Canada. Mr. Xiang is the founding dean and
professor of the Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business in Beijing, China.
Currently, Mr. Xiang is the independent non-executive director of Dan Form
Holdings Company Limited, Sinolink Worldwide Holdings Limited, both are
listed on the SEHK.

In the past 3 years, Mr. Xiang was a director of E-House (China) Holdings
Limited, Perfect World Company Limited (delisted), both are listed in the
United States of America (the “USA”). Mr. Xiang was the independent
non-executive director of China Dongxiang (Group) Company Limited,
HC International, Inc., Enerchina Holdings Limited, Peak Sport Products
Company Limited, all of which are listed on the SEHK. Mr. Xiang was also the
independent director of Yunnan Baiyao Group Company Ltd, which is listed on

the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Zeng Ming, aged 49, was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on June 3, 2011. He is also the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Zeng is currently the
chairman, Academic Council of Alibaba Group and the founding dean of
Hupan School of Entrepreneurship. He was the executive vice-president and
Chief Strategy Officer of Alibaba Group. Mr. Zeng obtained his Doctor of
Philosophy in International Business and Strategy from University of Illinois at
Urbana-Champaign, USA in 1998 and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics
from Fudan University (£ LK) in 1991. Mr. Zeng was the professor of
Strategy at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business, Beijing China and a
faculty member at INSEAD, France.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Song Hailin, aged 47, is the vice president of the Group and also serves
as the General Manager of the Research and Design Department. Mr. Song
joined the Group as the General Manager of the Beijing Company in 2011. He
obtained a PhD in Engineering from Tsinghua University in 2001, majoring
in Architecture. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Song was a visiting scholar at

Massachusetts Institute of Technology of the United States of America.

Mr. Su Xizhen, aged 45 is the vice president of the Group and also serves as
the General Manager of the Operation Department. He obtained a Masters
in Management from Chongqing University in 2001, majoring in Project

Management.

Mr. Hu Ruoxiang, aged 43, is the vice president of the Group. He is
responsible for the Group's Brand & Marketing Department and Customer
Research Department. Mr. Hu joined the Group in 2015 and has served as the
general manager of Xiamen Longfor. He graduated from Tianjin University (X
H K &) with a Bachelor degree in Architectural Engineering in 1999. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Hu worked for China Overseas Property Group Co., Ltd

(FPIEE 7 FE B FR/A A) and Gemdale Group (G HIEE).

Ms. Shen Ying, aged 45, is the general manager of the Human Resources
Department of the Group. Ms. Shen joined the Group in 2016. She graduated
from Shanghai University (£ K%5%) and obtained a Bachelor degree in
Economics in 1998 majoring in international finance. Ms. Shen obtained her
MBA at Boston College in 2004. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Shen worked
for Hewlett-Packard (HP) and General Electric (GE).

Ms. Li Nan, aged 53 is the vice president of the Group and General Manager of
the Commercial Properties Department of the Group. Ms. Li joined the Group in
2015. She graduated from Huazhong University of Science and Technology (!
ﬂ?}ij(%) and obtained a Bachelor degree in Engineering in 1989. In 2001, Ms.
Li graduated from Wuhan University (B KE) and obtained a Master degree
in Business Administration. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Li worked for Capital
Commercial Real Estate Management Consultation (Shanghai) Company Limited
(SR A BEEE ) (_Bi8)), Wuhan New People’s Paradise Company
Limited (72587 R A 44 A PR A F]), Wuhan Yum China Holdings, Inc (R
HBENRE Fﬁ/l}ﬂ) and Pidemco Land (Eﬂéﬁﬂﬂ)
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board of the Company is pleased to present the corporate governance report
for the year ended December 31, 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognizes the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed in achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and improve

its corporate image with effective corporate governance procedures.

During the year, the Company had adopted, applied and complied with the code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained

in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules except the following deviation:

During the year, the Company has not established Nomination Committee as
required by the provision A.5 of the Code. Madam Wu Yajun, Chairperson
of the Board, is responsible for the nomination and appointment of directors.
Madam Wu, as the Chairperson of the Board, will review and discuss with
other Board members on the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board from time to time based on
the requirements matching up with the Company’s corporate strategy, and
identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and make
recommendations to the Board on individuals nominated for directorships. The
Board is of view that Chairperson responsible for the nomination directorship is
more appropriate to reflect the Company’s status quo than the establishment of

Nomination Committee.

NOMINATION POLICY

According to the actual situation of the Company, the Board of the Company
is of view that Chairperson responsible for the nomination directorship is more
appropriate than the establishment of Nomination Committee at current period.
The Company has adopted a nomination policy. The Board of the Company will

review the existing nomination policy, from time to time.

During the process of evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship,
qualifications including professional skills and experience, and willingness
to devote adequate time to discharge duties as member of the Board, will be
considered. Further, the candidates would be considered his/her independence

with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.
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CHAIRPERSON AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Madam Wu Yajun serves as the Chairperson of the Board whereas Mr. Shao
Mingxiao, an executive director, serves as the Chief Executive Officer (‘CEO”) of
the Company. The Board currently comprises four executive directors (including
Madam Wu) and four independent non-executive directors and therefore has a
fairly strong independence element in its composition. The Chairperson of the
Board should be responsible for the management of the Board while the CEO
should be responsible for the day-to-day management of business. The division

of responsibilities should be set out in writing as below:
Responsibilities of the Chairperson of the Board:

1. To provide leadership for the Board; to ensure that the Board works
effectively and discharges its responsibilities; to ensure that good

corporate governance practices and procedures are established.

2. To attend annual general meeting and ensure that issues raised by
shareholders are answered by the chairperson of the Board committees, or

the appropriate alternate on the meeting.

3. To lead the formulation of corporate strategies, mid-to-long term plans of

development, annual budget and significant organizational and structural

adjustments.
4. To lead the formulation of an investment and financing decision system.
5. To provide leadership in respect of corporate risk and crisis management.
6. To lead the recruitment and appointment of senior management

and Board members of the Company; to participate under the
recommendation of the remuneration committee in decision making
in respect of remuneration and bonuses of, and share award scheme for,
directors and senior management, and other material changes and reforms

in human resources management system and remuneration system.

7. To participate inauguration of key projects.

8. To provide leadership in respect of corporate culture.
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Responsibilities of the CEO:

1. To provide leadership in the daily corporate operation, the execution of

corporate strategies and achieving the objectives of plans.

2. To establish and continuously improve the management system and

management team.

3. To lead the management team and continue to retain and train

management talents.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises eight directors, including four executive
directors namely Madam Wu Yajun, Mr. Shao Mingxiao, Mr. Zhao Yi and Mr.
Wang Guangjian (Note 1) and four independent non-executive directors namely
Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, Mr. Xiang Bing and
Mzr. Zeng Ming.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
overseeing the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances, as well
as performing the corporate governance duties, including: (a) developing
and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;
(b) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management; (c) reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; (d) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors; and (e) reviewing
the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report). During the year, the
Board has reviewed the Code of Conduct of the Group, assessed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, assessed the training
needs of the directors and senior management and arranged relevant trainings
accordingly, and reviewed the status of compliance with Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Board was satisfied with the effectiveness of the Company’s

corporate governance policy.

Note 1 On March 24, 2020, Mr. Wang Guangjian was appointed as an executive director of the
Company.

Note 2 On March 24, 2020, Mr. Chaojiang resigned as an executive director of the Company.
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The Board has delegated the management the day-to-day management and
administrative functions as they think fit and provides guidance of the rights
of management. The Board will review the relevant delegation from time to
time to ensure that clear guidance and rights have been provided and the proper
reporting procedures have been complied. In addition, the Board has also
established various Board committees and has delegated various responsibilities
to the Board committees including the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the investment committee (the “Investment Committee”) (together, the
“Board Committees”). All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles in

accordance with their respective terms of reference.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, businesses, family

or other material relationships among members of the Board.

All of the independent non-executive directors are appointed for a term of
three years. None of them holds any other offices in the Company or any of its
subsidiaries except that each of them has been granted options under the Option
Scheme adopted by the Company on November 1, 2009, details of which are
set out in the Directors’ Report. The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive directors a confirmation of his independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of

the independent non-executive directors are independent.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly to ensure
that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate to the

requirements of the business of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) since August

19, 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board. Pursuant to the Policy,
the Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to professional experience, culture
and education background, skill and knowledge, gender, age and length of

service.

The Board will review the Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness. At present, the Board has not set measurable objectives to

implement the Policy.
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During the year under review, the Company held four Board meetings and one

general meeting, the attendance of each director is as follows:

B umES Independent non-executive directors

HE Frederick Peter Churchouse
BRAS % Chan Chi On, Derek

T Xiang Bing

W5 Zeng Ming
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No. of Board meetings No. of general meetings
attended/Total no. Attended/Total no.

of Board meetings of general meetings
4/4 111

4/4 11

4/4 11

4/4 111

4/4 11

4/4 11

4/4 111

4/4 11

Note 1 Mr. Li Chaojiang resigned as executive director on March 24, 2020

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on November 1,
2009 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
paragraph B.1.2 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include evaluating and making recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration system and package of the directors and senior
management, and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy. The Remuneration Committee consists
of Madam Wu Yajun and Mr. Li Chaojiang (Note 1), two executive directors,
and Mr. Zeng Ming, Mr. Xiang Bing and Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek, three
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Zeng Ming is the Chairperson of

Remuneration Committee.

Note 1 Mr. Li Chaojiang resigned as executive director on March 24, 2020
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Name of members

Wu Yajun

Li Chaojiang

Chan Chi On, Derek
Xiang Bing

Zeng Ming
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year to conduct
a review on the remuneration structure of the directors and senior management
and a review on the basic remuneration interval of senior management of the

Group. The attendance of each member is as follows:

ACE e Ve T

No. of meetings attended/Total no. of meetings

2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2
2/2

Details of the remuneration of the directors during the year are set out in note
44 to the financial statements. The remuneration of the senior management

during the year falls within the following bands:

N

Number of Individuals
Hr T Fi
(BB A)  (RER XA
Total Total
remuneration remuneration
(including (excluding
share-based share-based
payment) payment)
6,000,000 75 £ 7,000,000 # 7T HK$6,000,000 to HK$7,000,000 - -
7,000,000 5 7T £.8,000,000 #5 T HK$7,000,000 to HK$8,000,000 - -
8,000,000 7T %9,000,000 # 7T HK$8,000,000 to HK$9,000,000 - -
9,000,000 7T 10,000,000 1 7T HK$9,000,000 to HK$10,000,000 - -
10,000,000 7C LA | Over HK$10,000,000 5 5
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established the Audit Committee on November 1, 2009

with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
paragraph C.3.3 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee include reviewing and supervising the financial reporting
process and internal control and risk management systems of the Group and
nominating and monitoring external auditors. The Audit Committee consists
of three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek,
Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse, and Mr. Xiang Bing and is chaired by Mr.
Chan Chi On, Derek. In compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the
chairperson of the Audit Committee possesses the appropriate professional and

accounting qualifications.

The Audit Committee held two meetings with the senior management
and independent auditor of the Company during the year, to consider the
independence and audit scope of independent auditor, and to review and discuss
the risk management and internal control systems, interim and annual financial
statements of the Company and the opinion and report of independent auditor

before submitting to the Board for their approval.

The attendance of each member is as follows:

R ks AR

No. of meetings attended/Total no. of meetings

2/2
2/2
2/2

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee reports directly to the Board and is responsible for
investment proposal (including but not limited to appraising land acquisition
as well as making land purchase decisions) submitted by the regional companies
and the business development department of the headquarters. The Investment
Committee currently consists of Madam Wu Yajun, Mr. Shao Mingxiao, Mr.
Zhao Yi, Mr. Hu Ruoxiang, Mr. Su Xizhen and Mr. Chang Keyi.
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The Investment Committee held 27 meetings during the year, to discuss and
make investment decision on 892 projects. The attendance of each member is as

follows:

)i AE e VS U

No. of meetings attended/Total no. of meetings

27127
27127
25127
26/27
2525
27127

DIRECTORS CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To ensure that the directors are aware of the latest development relevant to the
operation of the Group, the Company has arranged and funded suitable training
for the directors. During the year, relevant directors have attended the corporate
governance related training organized by the Company. Certain directors also
attended business seminars, and seminars organized by accounting firm and the

third party institutes on directors’ duties and development in securities laws.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS

Given that the Nomination Committee has not been established, the Board as
a whole will be responsible for the selection and approval of the new directors
and assessing the independence of the independent non-executive directors.
The independent non-executive directors are appointed for a term of 3 years.
Under the articles of associations of the Company, one-third of the directors for
the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation provided
that every directors shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. The Board will consider the factors including
the expertise, experience and integrity of the candidates when selecting the new

directors.

On March 24, 2020, Mr. Li Chaojiang resigned as an executive director and Mr.

Wang Guangjian was appointed as an executive director of the Company.
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The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for election as a director
in accordance with articles of association of the Company and applicable law,
details of which are available on the Company’s website www.longfor.com
set out in the “Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for election as

director of the Company” of the Company.

AUDITORS REMUNERATION

During the year under review, the remunerations paid or payable to Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu in respect of its audit services and non-audit services are
RMB7,807,000 and RMB2,692,000, respectively.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing all information
and representations contained in the financial statements of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2019 which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. The
directors consider that the financial statements have been prepared in conformity
with all appropriate accounting standards and requirements and reflect amounts
that are based on the best estimates and reasonable, informed and prudent
judgment of the Board and the management. The directors are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Directors have prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going

concern basis.

The statements of the auditors of the Group about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the section

headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 129 of this report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The directors are responsible for the maintenance of an effective system of
internal control. The Company has established internal audit department which
is responsible for the independent review of the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control system and for the periodic report of the auditing result to
the Audit Committee and the Board. The Company has also engaged external
professional agent to re-assess and evaluate the internal control system of the

Company.
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During the year, all the functional departments in the Group constantly
strengthened their daily supervision and improved their internal management,
respectively. The Group had launched certain measures and improvement
in various management systems to enhance its internal control, including
Administrative Measures for the Operational Risks and Breakpoint of the
Group's Sales Project in 2019, Regulations Regarding Price Planning, Review
and Approval of Opening Price’ and Review and Approval of Discount for the
Group in 2019, Regulations for Report and Handling of the Groups Risk
Event and Sensitive Information in 2019, Tender Management Principles for
the Group in 2019, Operational Redline System for the Group's Goyoo in
2019, Administrative Measures for the Group s Internal Control and Review in
2019, Operational Risk Management System for the Group's Goyoo in 2019,
Satety Management System for the Groups Data in 2019 and Code of Business
Conduct for the Group in 2019.

During the year, the internal audit department is responsible for conducting
independent and objective review of operation and internal control of the

Company, and carried out a series of audit projects, which includes:

Routine audit of Xian Longfor

Routine audit of Beijing Longfor

Routine audit of Hefei Longfor (Property Management)
Routine audit of Shengang Longfor (Rental Housing)

Special audit of Curtail wall project

AN T

Special audit of Marketing intermediary project

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public
Accountants LLP Beijing Branch in 2019 and appointed its corporate risk
management setvices department to assess and evaluate the internal control
of the Company. The scope of re-assessment includes internal control and
protection measures related to our business risks and the control of business
flow. Our business covered risk related to the economic fluctuation and change
of policy, risk related to strategy positioning and business portfolio, risk related
to mis-judgment of real estate market cycle, cash flow risk, risk related to
urban location and plot selection, supplies and inventory risk, risks related to
organisational change, risk related to residential product positioning, risks
related to digitization transformation, risks related to project delivery. The re-
assessment report of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Certified Public Accountants
LLP demonstrates the Group has established key internal control and process
within the selected scope of work to respond to relevant risks. The overall

control condition of the Company is good.
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All of the above mentioned internal and external audit reports and the follow-up
measures have been reported to the Audit Committee and the Board. The Board
is of opinion that the internal control system of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2019 is effective and sufficient.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk management is the basic and necessary factor for achieving
strategic goals of the Group. As such, the Group has established the Risk
Management System of Longtor Group, which specifies the Group’s risk
management organizational system, detailed responsibility, overall procedures
of risk management, risk assessment method and regular risk reporting

mechanism.

Risk management organizational system: The risk management organizational
system of Longfor Group consists of three basic lines of defense under the
leadership of the Board, namely the business departments directly under the
Company as the first line of defense; the risk management team consisting of
the general manager of functional departments of the Group with the CEO as
team leader and CFO as deputy team leader as the second line of defense; and
the Audit Committee and internal audit centre as the third line of defense.
The Board shall be the ultimate accountability body of risk management,
and shall have the right to provide guidance and make final decisions on the
policy, system and responding plan of risk management of the Group, conduct
assessment on the risk appetite of the Group and control the balance between
the realization of strategic goals and risk management. The Audit Committee
and internal audit centre are authorized by the Board to advise on and monitor
the implementation of risk management of the Group and review the annual
risk management report. The risk management team is responsible for the
ongoing improvement of risk management system as well as the implementation
of management procedures including risk identification, assessment, responding
plan and risk management report, covering the annual update of risk database,
follow-up and monitoring of the implementation of responding plan and
the preparation and reporting of the risk management report. The business
departments are risk owners and shall manage and monitor their respective risk

exposure.
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Major risk management procedures: Through various interviews and
communications with the management members of different business units
and the headquarter of the Company, the management procedures have been
formulated, which include target setting, risk identification, risk assessment,

risk response and supervision and risk reporting.

. Target setting: Target setting is the first step of risk management. The
Company shall firstly set the annual target in order to identify and
assess the risks affecting the realization of the target and take necessary
action to control such risks. The targets of the Company are set in four
aspects, namely strategic target, operational target, compliance target and

financial target.

U Risk identification: The identification of risk events from the operational
activities and important business procedures of each business unit
shall be conducted in bottom-up and top-down approaches through
questionnaire, group discussion, expert consultation, policy analysis and
industry benchmarking. Risk database shall be established and updated
annually. Risk owner and responding measures shall be determined for

risks identified.

. Risk assessment: The Company shall rank the risks identified through
assessment based on vulnerability and effect. Risk management team
shall conduct annual review on the risk assessment criteria (vulnerability
and effect) and report to the Audit Committee and final approved by the
Board.

. Risk response: Based on the result of risk assessment, the business units
of the Group shall propose the risk management and control measures
and recommendations for the risks involved in various aspects such as
improvement of business procedures and internal control system as well as
control of key procedures, and formulate relevant responding plans. Such
management and control plans shall be implemented in daily operation in

the form of management regulation.

U Risk reporting: The Company has established the systems of annual
risk management report and special risk management report. The risk
management team shall prepare the annual report and special report with

the support of internal audit department.
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In early 2020, the Group conducted the risk identification and assessment for
2020 and mapped out the risks faced by Longfor Group in 2020, which include
15 medium level risks and 10 low level risks. The Group also determined the
top ten risk 2020 and formulated the responding plan through the assessment
based on vulnerability and effect. The top ten risk included risk related to
the economic fluctuation, change of policy and unexpected impact, cash flow
risk, risk related to urban location and plot selection, risk related to strategy
positioning and business portfolio, supplies and inventory risk, risks related
to project delivery, risks related to organisational change, customer complaint
and even group complaint risk, risks related to digitization transformation and
business operation risk. Details of risks and responding plans were submitted
by the Audit Committee and confirmed by the Board for approval. During the
year, the Group monitored the implementation of risk management based on

the risk responding plans and prepared a report at the end of the year.

The Board is of opinion that the risk management system of the Group for the

year ended December 31, 2019 is effective and sufficient.

The Board shall be responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and shall review the effectiveness of such systems. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

DISCLOSURE INSIDE INFORMATION

Inside Information Disclosure Working Group (hereinafter referred to as
“Inside Information Working Group”) is a working group established under
the Board of the Company, which is responsible for the administration of inside

information disclosure.

The Composition of Inside Information Working Group

o The team leader of the Inside Information Working Group is the chief

executive officer of the Group.

U The members of the Inside Information Working Group include: the
chairman of the Board, the chief financial officer, the company secretary,
the officer in charge of Capital Markets Centre, the officer in charge
of Public Affairs and Media, and the officer in charge of the Legal

Department.
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. The secretary of the Inside Information Working Group is the company
secretary, who is responsible for communicating and reporting between

the Inside Information Working Group and the Board.

The Terms of References for the Inside Information Working Group

o The Inside Information Working Group is the daily execution unit that
is engaged in the preliminary determination and handling of inside

information, whilst the Board is the decision making unit.

U The Inside Information Working Group conducts proper inquiry,
confirms fact, preliminarily assesses sensitive informations’ significant to

the Company, and timely reports to the Board where necessary.

J The Inside Information Working Group regularly review the effectiveness
and execution of the processes. It also conducts training from time to
time, so as to ensure that the staffs of the Company that may be exposed
to inside information are aware of the disclosure liability and handling

principles for inside information.

Handling Procedures That May Involve Inside Information

As to the business information that is reasonably expected in becoming inside
information (including, but not limited to acquisitions and mergers, movement

in share capital, and organizational restructuring etc.):

J The relevant staff capturing such information shall report to the Inside
Information Working Group promptly, and has the duty to keep such

information confidential;

J The Inside Information Working Group shall conduct proper
investigation and confirmation of facts for the said information.
Where necessary, it will make preliminary judgment upon consulting
professional opinions and report to the Board promptly. The relevant
disclosure matters will be conducted by the company secretary and the

Legal Department;

o If the said information is involved with Safe Habours, the Inside
Information Working Group shall supervise and ensure the
confidentiality of the information. If it is noted that the confidentiality of
the information has not been preserved, it shall report to the Board and

disclose the information as soon as reasonably practicable.



AP AT I O A0 B M B e
el

AL E E A BT AL B T BT A S
HEAT R 2758 ()RR AE ST JU) ([ AR AEST J ) 1R e
FHEARAEFNEG] L2 EREL

HEAEME  SEFED ﬁﬁ:?~ﬂ¢+
CHETHIREER - BEREFRE (4
A) BT RRIE ST S I 51 WA A E YRR o

ey TR Z R A R R B B &
A TREHEA A R R S A BAE B o

2 v B

NAERERE L R BT/ FEINAREE
RBANFAZRE Wk ZF—HHFE N =+
— HBEZAT Sy A FRE o sk b LR B G
R T € e B W A R R A I I A
B B e B RS o BT I R 4
LA - I BRI 3 200k 0 IRAER
IS E BB T R DI 1S /N IRE I A B B K 8
il e

BTt B 1R B BB Sy i

ARG BECEH H A
EIBREE S A FIEAE RE TS EOA
BEEAEM o B AN EHlE T RS iR
T R R4 R A B AR R A Bk > HE
MR SRR - S WP ML R A B o DARBERT
AREEATHORGEREN - AR A%E
AT G DU AR A A SRR
B N RS T 2 ] A BB R o [
O3 AR A B B AR > AR A
BB AR - B ETHESZ
FETE 2B R R AR o R B DI A% o A
BRI > Bef5 TR Z RS > W RHE R

18 58 5 iR ol

Corporate Governance Report

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as the guidelines for the directors’ dealings in the securities of the
Company. Upon specific enquiries of all the directors, each of them confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year ended December 31, 2019 in relation to their securities

dealings, if any.

The Model Code has extended to be applicable to senior management and
relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of

the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Madam Zhang Lei joined the Group in 2008, and is an employee of the

Company. She was appointed as company secretary on August 21, 2015. Madam
Zhang graduated from the Central University of Finance and Economics with
a bachelor’s degree in international finance. She is a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an Affiliated Person of the Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules, the company secretary has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper investor
relations play a vital role in enhancing the corporate transparency as well
as establishing market confidence. As such, the Company has adopted a
stringent internal control system to ensure true, accurate, complete and timely
disclosure of relevant information pursuant to requirements of relevant laws and
regulations in order to ensure all investors equally access to information. The
Company has a Capital Markets Center to serve as an important communication
channel between the Company and its shareholders, investors and analysts.
To strive for effective communication and transparency of the Company, the
personnel in charge have frequent contacts with the shareholders and investors
through various channels such as Social Networking Site, telephone and email.

During the relevant year, the Company has introduced its development strategy
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and recent business development to the investors in large investment forums and
site visits. On-site visits to the projects of the Company have been arranged for
the fund managers and analysts from Hong Kong and overseas. The Company
endeavours to create opportunities for direct communication with investors and
to provide the latest development of the Company as well as information of
the PRC real property industry to the capital market in time. In addition, the
annual general meeting also provides a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board. The Chairperson of the Board, as well as chairperson of
each of the Board Committees, or in their absence, members of the respective
Committees, and the external auditors of the Company, is available to answer
questions from shareholders at annual general meetings and extraordinary
general meetings of the Company. As such, investors’ understanding of and
confidence in the Company can be enhanced. At the annual general meeting of
the Company held on May 28, 209, the chairman of the Board and Chairman
of each of the board committees attended and answered questions from the
shareholders. The Company maintains a website at www.longfor.com, where
information and updates on the Company’s business developments and
operations, financial information, corporate governance and other information

are available for public access.

Information Disclosure

The Group discloses information in compliance with the securities regulations of
the SEHK, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Group
endeavours to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful
and complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to

make rational and informed decisions.

Shareholders’ Rights to Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

and Propose Resolutions

The Board may whenever it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings.
Any one or more Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the

requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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There are no provisions in the company’s articles of association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for shareholders to move new resolutions at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set

out in the above paragraph.

Detailed procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a director

are available on the Company’s website www.longfor.com.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company’s principal place of

business in Hong Kong at 15/F., 1 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.

Constitutional documents

During the year, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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With growing concern on corporate social responsibility, in order to enable
stakeholders to have a better understanding of the policy, measures and
performance regarding environmental, social and governance (hereinafter referred
as “ESG”) of the Group, the Group has prepared this Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (hereinafter referred as the “Report”) in accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide of the Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The Report complies with the “materiality”, “quantitative”, “balance” and
“consistency” principles of the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide, and responds to the “materiality” principle through materiality
analysis on ESG issues, the “quantitative” and “consistency” principles through
quantitative data disclosure and the “balance” principle through reviewing

negative indicators.

The Report covers the businesses in relation to property development,
commercial properties, rental housing, smart service, hotels and elderly care
during the period from January 1 to December 31, 2019 (hereinafter referred as

the “reporting period”).

The Board is responsible for supervising the content of the Report and ensuring
that there are no false information, misleading statements or material omissions.
The management of the Group is responsible for implementing relevant policies
and measures to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG risk management
and the corresponding internal control system, so as to promote the sustainable

development of the Group.

ANNUAL ESG PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

Environmental performance in 2019:

e We directly invested RMB22.14 million in green buildings.

e There were 7.3 million square meters of green buildings under
construction.

e The average power consumption per square meter of our shopping malls
decreased for three consecutive years, and decreased by 5.7% year-on-year
in 2019.

e Our rental housing focused on promoting the digital, smart and pre-
assembled construction system, with formaldehyde release 50% lower than
national standard.

e Longfor Gaobeidian Railway City was a representative project for
exploration of ultra-low energy consumption buildings in China at the
23rd International Passive House Conference.

e Longfor Chongqing U-City Paradise Walk was awarded as green mall in
2019 by the Ministry of Commerce.
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Social performance in 2019:

Our property management division obtains OHSAS18001 certification of

Occupational Health & Safety Management System for consecutive years.

Total spending in community investment and public welfare activities

amounted to about RMB130 million:

The “Longfor — Palace Culture Development Fund” with a fund size of
100 million was established and was donated with RMB30 million.

RMB19.13 million was donated to the “Longfor-Guangcai Special Fund

for Education and Poverty Alleviation”.
The “Longfor Education and Poverty Alleviation Fund for Wuxi
Underprivileged Areas” with a fund size of RMB10 million was

established and was donated with RMB1.9 million.

A series of community activities such as the “Xiaolongren plan”, the

“Beauty Life plan” and the “Longmin Festival” was conducted.

Total employee training time was 310,088 hours, of which online

training time was 211,567 hours.
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COMMUNICATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS

In the process of continuously promoting ESG work, the Group attaches great
importance to communication with stakeholders, constantly improves various
communication mechanisms, actively listens to their voices, understands their
concerns, and collects and organizes feedback from them in a timely manner.
The Group takes measures to meet the reasonable expectations and demands of

stakeholders, and hopes to grow together with them.

List of stakeholders’ concerns and communication channels

) i A1 A i B

L RE R

FREET X

B ERy il ) B R Major communication 2 5[] i
Major stakeholders ~ Major concerns channels Major responses
B LSRR BUR & ek BB 5EH
Government Obeying the law Government meetings Responding to government policies
[ReE HHATE VPRI
Paying taxes according to law Project cooperation Constructing affordable housing
SRR BURF TAE N BB ik B HAEE
Supporting economic development Government staff monitoring  Operating according to laws and regulations
ST 3
Fostering urban development
MRS REEREE Wk PR S
Shareholders and Investment returns and growth Shareholders” meetings Continuously achieving operating results
investors PUEHEYSE T SEMHE o F A TN R E TR KRR E

Strengthening information disclosure

Reports and company
announcements
BEHBIRIGE

Investor relations activities

Improving corporate governance and risk
management

SEHIER MR > R R R

Releasing reports regularly to disclose information
in a timely manner

3 B 70 ik SRR B - o B
#Z i E

Holding analyst meeting and roadshows after results

release, strengthening communications with investors

EF E A B B
Customers Product quality
g5 e B

Service experience

& i R R

Customer satisfaction
evaluation

&G

Customer contact
&5

Customer activities
HFEN - W
Customer visits and

communication

BT~ SO

Customer satisfaction analysis and improvement
mechanism

VNS G

Defect feedback mechanism

& F IR RS An L A

Refined management of customer service processes
PR R S AARHS B

Continuously improving product and service
quality

R 12 SR AL

Providing online services
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EEEE I A
F BRI B A Esv:d PR Major communication LE [ RE R
Major stakeholders ~ Major concerns channels Major responses
BT PRI A BT A B THEdR
Employees Protection of legitimate rights and Employee trainings Safeguarding employees’ rights and interests
interests BT B B AR 0 e 2
AP H A AR Engagement research and Paying attention to employee benefits and
Fair remuneration and benefits analysis remuneration management
RAFH TARER B Tk S R b BIEETE AR R
Favorable working environment Employee suggestion and Creating a comfortable and harmonious corporate
(EUN i 7 feedback mechanism culture
Personal professional development TR WamIH T 15 B Y B R B
Longfor BBS Improving employees’ sense of belonging and
HE/INBT R A satisfaction
Longfor conselling
Eri=20s AT RN (3 | L SEEITESN
Cooperative partners Obeying the law Project cooperation and Strict compliance with contract requirements
R NGE Sk negotiation R R
Adhering to business ethics BALLT S Increasing credibility
#RMAERIR Evaluation and investigation T G A

Establishing long-term cooperative

H S8 il 3

Strengthening qualification review

relationship Daily business communication 32755 S ¥ i BLRE A -1
visits Expansion of business fields and continuous
cooperation
gant:! A i i R 5 S HLAE 5 IE H Z B R R
Community Promoting community economic Participating in community  Participating in community construction
development projects T 2 B4 6 N 5 LR 35
B RA AR E R Actively participating in social welfare and
Paying attention to people’s livelihood Regular communication with charity
PR AN community representatives BEE TR EEE TGS
Supporting social welfare RS Advocating employees to volunteer
Media communication
B ARE B BTEBR R Rk (L SR Y B
Environment Effective use of resources Paying attention to Advocating the design and application of green
BBk environmental protection buildings
Emission reduction BRREHG1F TEH B AR P - TR BRI
TR R Environmental project Actively saving energy and reducing emissions,
Protecting the ecosystem cooperation and applying new environmental protection
HEWZ AR Mg A 1E technologies

Biodiversity conservation

Social group cooperation

PRSI o (BB
Launching green office and promoting healthy

living
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

AN AL H i IR CERE AL MOE IR 5] ) Ry B In accordance with the requirements of the Environmental, Social and
Sk %t B K R 5 A BE 5 S R =X G B B Governance Reporting Guide, the Group conducted benchmarking analysis
W BT ZEESGIR I BN R EET on issues disclosed in the ESG reports of peer companies in the same industry

EEAHT > I AR SE B 20194 ESGHE Kk > through different forms of interaction and communication with various
e 2R stakeholders to identify the ESG materiality issues of the Group in 2019 and

determine the scope of reporting.

20194 » ASE M ESG H K 1k ) i i AR In 2019, the Group’s ESG materiality issues were analyzed as follows:

T

Lo B B e

Identification of

relevant issues

2. TR

Research and
analysis on the

degree of concern

3. ANTERBE

Analysis of
operational

impact

4. WEEEEHRT

Determination
of the priority of

issues
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The identification of issues was carried out by an independent third-party consultant. A total of 17 ESG issues covering
four aspects, namely environmental, labor, operation and community, were identified. Such issues were identified
through a wide range of data sources, including the Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide, company

policies and management strategies, industry benchmarking and ESG rating system analysis.

TS5 =07 AR A SR A BT AT MR S OB T R - KT - SR - BURR © B
B A RACKR - AIEBE - FEBUTALAL - BERSE AR 0 B O A B A A A AR B > M
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The independent third-party consultant conducted a questionnaire survey of stakeholders, and invited stakeholders
including ordinary employees, suppliers, customers, investors, government agencies, regulatory authorities, community
representatives, cooperative partners, non-governmental organizations and media to evaluate the materiality of each issue

from their own perspective, and collected 2,136 valid questionnaires in total.

TS5 =0 R T S R AR PR R i R ROR B SR A A R i E A
MmN 40 B A R -

The independent third-party consultant analyzed the Group’s annual operational focus and collected opinions from the
management to evaluate the materiality of the issues to the Group from the Group's perspective, and collected 40 valid

questionnaires in total.

AR R 25 ) i AR 7 1) S N R A SR M P M T 2 > B SR E T - DU
A AT o TR kR RO b IR A SR B ESG M BB BB R AR BB L 2
x o

According to the materiality of issues to each stakeholder and to the Group, the issues are sorted by materiality and
disclosed in a matrix. The materiality matrix will serve as an important reference for the formulation, goal setting and

continuous information disclosure of the Group’s ESG strategy in the future.
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The analysis result of the Group's ESG materiality issues in 2019 was as follows:

T 391488 191 20 194 ES G ¥ O 4 i e o
2019 ESG Materiality Matrix of the Group

A
JERRE
Governance issues
HEHE ’1
Social issues 3 2
o * o
JummE ¢ 4
Environmental issues 7
5
" 8
#H o
g2 ¢ 10 *9
5
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R @ 11 13
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RS
15
Aies
A 17
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Materiality of issues

7

Ranking
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Materiality to the sustainable development of the Group

ol

Issues

TR

Aspects

R B R 1 THRERHES Project quality and safety R Governance
High materiality issues 2 AHEAHEE Compliance operation IR Governance

3 AL S Anti-corruption IR Governance

4 e R 2 Bl f Occupational safety and health g Social

5 KB R IERL R Protection of customer information and privacy LT Social

6 B THEG (R Protection of employees’ rights and interests fany Social

7 TR ERBEE FMEE  Service quality and customer satisfaction fan Social
hEEENRE 8 BITRERR Professional development of employees e Social
Moderate materiality issues ik e Supply chain management iR Governance

10 H Al Technological innovation B Governance

11 i AE W B Energy saving and emission reduction B Environmental

12 EEMER ISP Waste management and pollution prevention BRE Environmental

13 [ B Communication and integration of community LT Social
R R 14 GE <7 Industry development Eif Governance
Low materiality issues 15 NEE Charity fan Social

16 Eduks Tyt ] Design and promotion of green buildings B Environmental

17 ML Biodiversity ) Environmental
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A ENVIRONMENTAL

As a leading real estate developer in China, the Group connects people,
buildings and nature with environmental protection, and pursues the
integration of building and the environment. In R&D and design, the Group
continuously explores new green building technologies, new materials and
new designs, while also urges contractors to carry out green construction and
advocates green operation in offices across the country. The Group follows the
space construction principles of environmental protection, energy saving, health
and sustainable development in all aspects, and strives to minimize our impact
to the environment. During the reporting period, the Group did not have any
event that caused significant negative impact to the environment and natural
resources, nor did we violate any laws and regulations that were relevant to the

environment.

Progress of green buildings

The Group’s principal properties cover residential properties, shopping malls,
rental apartments and office buildings. The Group has long been committed
to be a promoter and leader of green buildings by actively obtaining green
building certifications and building energy-saving and low-carbon buildings
with internationally-advanced construction standards. The direct investment
in green buildings in 2019 amounted to RMB22.14 million, and the green
buildings under construction during the period totaled 7.3 million square
meters. We aim to provide a healthy and comfortable space experience to
property owners, tenants and consumer groups through the application of more
green technologies and facilities.

Green gross floor area under construction in 2019
(10,000 square meters)

One-star 454
Two-star 259
Three-star 17
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On the basis of constructing green buildings, the Group aims to become
a best practice in terms of constructing buildings with nearly zero energy
consumption. In 2017, the Group, together with the School of Architecture of
Tsinghua University, the China Institute of Architectural Design and Research
and Orient Sundar Group, established the Neatly Zero Energy Building
Research Center to promote the development of buildings with nearly zero
energy consumption. In 2019, the national standard Quality Control Standard
for Nearly Zero Energy Consumption Residential Buildings edited by the
Center was approved, providing a basis for the entire-process quality control of
nearly zero energy consumption residential buildings. At the 23rd International
Passive House Conference held in Hebei in October 2019, Longfor Gaobeidian
Railway City, as a core demonstration project, became a representative project
for exploration of ultra-low energy consumption buildings in China and received

the attention and acknowledgement of experts from all over the world.
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Longfor Gaobeidian Railway City project, the largest nearly zero

energy consumption demonstration community in the world

A “passive house” building is not equipped with air-conditioning and heating
equipment of traditional buildings, but uses all available heating methods,
such as the sun, lighting, heat from human body and electrical appliances, to
achieve thermostatic control, humidistatic control, constant oxygen control
and anti-smog, so as to achieve nearly zero energy consumption. The 23rd
International Passive House Conference was officially opened in Gaobeidian,
Hebei Province, China on October 9, 2019. This was the first time for China
to host the International Passive House Conference, known as the “Olympics”
and “United Nations General Assembly” in the field of energy-efficient
buildings.
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The 23rd International Passive House Conference

r«?#’: 5523 i B R B ) I K € # 0  EE As the core demonstration project of the 23rd International Passive House
H > BEW o R AR 51 5L B HR R AR AR Conference, Longfor Gaobeidian Railway City is a representative project for
FEREM RN o JH H BB G 2 5] 5 exploration of ultra-low energy consumption buildings in China. The project
HIR o BR R Ak €038 B i A T B AR A 4T R e makes reference to the railway city of Heidelberg, Germany, and adopts the
FERESEHCM MG R - 456 8 BT B8 concept of green smart sponge city and a nearly zero energy consumption building
PR B SR BB ~ BT RE VR 11T 4 2 T I [ technology system. It comprehensively utilizes a number of international cutting-
iV B R R T BB > AT A BRI f K edge energy-saving technologies and concepts such as digital smart technology,
HE B MAFEE R BNEGH > BHd ecological natural restoration technology and new energy technology, in order to
AR FETEI B ) Z A R AT R TR HAE build the largest passive ultra-low energy consumption smart ecological complex
A e in the world. It has played a demonstrative role in the development of passive

buildings in China and around the world.
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Longfor Shanghai Hongqiao Paradise Walk project helped
Shanghai Honggqiao Business District to obtain the first “National
Green Ecological City Three-Star Operation Certificate” in China
On October 24, 2019, the Chinese Society for Urban Studies issued the first “National

Green Ecological City Three-Star Operation” certificate to the Hongqiao Business
District Management Committee, recognizing the innovation and breakthrough of
Honggqiao Business District in terms of low-carbon construction, three-dimensional

transportation, roof greening and bicycle management.

The Longfor Shanghai Hongqiao Paradise Walk project is located in plot 05 of the first
phase of Shanghai Hongqiao Core Business District. It comprises of seven green three-
star business office buildings, a 120,000 square meters “Paradise Walk” shopping mall
and an Indigo boutique hotel. The Longfor Shanghai Hongqiao Paradise Walk project
helps Hongqiao Business District to become the first low-carbon business community
in Shanghai with reasonable functions, convenient transportation, pleasant space and
ecological harmony, and is a representative project for demonstrating Shanghai and

China to the world.
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Longfor Shanghai Minhang Center Office Building was awarded
the WELL Gold Certification

The Longfor Minhang Center is located in Zhuangiao Town, Minhang District, and
comprises of the Longfor Paradise Walk shopping mall, living art center, garden row
offices, office buildings, innovation center and Goyoo rental housing. Among which,
the office building, innovation center and conference center were awarded the WELL
Gold Certification, known as the “Oscars of the international architecture industry”.
The WELL Certification is a healthy building system rated based on performance,
involving more than 100 indicators of building environment such as air, water,

nutrition, light, fitness, comfort and spirituality.

In the design process of Longfor Minhang Center, elements such as high-efficiency
air filtration system, fresh air system, smart property management system and direct
drinking water system were fully considered. During the construction process, healthy
and environmental-friendly green building materials were used, in order to build
healthy buildings in seven aspects, namely air, water, light, comfort, psychology,

nutrition and fitness.

e e I WERIAT OB LS Bk
AMEWELL-ClaCS B 4 4k 7875
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Average carbon emissions per

A1l Emissions

The Group attaches great importance to the management of emissions and
complies with national laws and regulations such as Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Environmental Impact Assessment
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Air Pollution Prevention Law of the
Peoples Republic of China, Water Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China. The Group regulates and guides the environmental
management of various departments and divisions. Through internal
management systems such as the identification and evaluation of environmental
elements and control procedures for environmental and hazardous elements, the
Group carries out emissions control from the source and adopts strict disposal
control measures. During the reporting period, the Group’s emissions and
discharge of waste gases, waste water and industrial residue all met the national
treatment standards.

Greenhouse gases

The Group’s major greenhouse gas emissions are generated from indirect
emissions from electricity consumption such as equipment and lighting systems,
as well as direct emissions from the use of gasoline by business vehicles. During
the reporting period, the Group’s greenhouse gas emission was 771,826 tons of
carbon dioxide equivalent (tCOze)l.

During the reporting period, the Group continuously implemented low-
carbon environmental protection and greenhouse gas emission control in all
departments and during business operations. The Group has advocated green
travel and reduced employees’ travel distances and corresponding carbon
emissions by promoting video conferencing, adjusting travel subsidy policies
and optimizing business vehicle arrangements. In addition, the hotels of the
Group across the country have strictly implemented carbon emission reduction
measures, and achieved emission reduction on a year-on-year basis.

Table: Average carbon emissions per occupied room and year-on-year reduction
for hotels in 2019

IF] b A1

Year-on-year reduction

occupied room in 2019 (kgCO,e)

BRI % 9.6 17%
Holiday Inn Express Suzhou
B 6 41.0 22%
Crowne Plaza Hangzhou Heda
Ltk 47.8 46%
Hotel Indigo Shanghai
1 T2 S AR R 0 o PR R (OIS — ) T 1 Greenhouse gas emission include direct emission (scope 1) and indirect emission (scope 2)

o I - EREE - MEER R S
R oG 7 7 A Y P B (B )

from purchased electricity of the Group’s offices, projects under construction, commercial

properties, rental housing and smart service.
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Waste

All property development projects of the Group are outsourced to third-party
contractors. Therefore, the Group does not directly produce air, water and
construction waste pollution from construction projects. As a green company,
the Group shoulders the responsibility of supervising the environmental
protection work of contractors. The Group has formulated Measures for
Management of Project of Longfor Group, and regularly evaluates the
construction of contractors, putting forward explicit requirements for the

treatment of emissions from contractors:

. Grit chambers are equipped for the drainage of water from project
construction, and oil traps and septic tanks are equipped for the drainage

of water from offices and living areas;

o Slag produced from earthmoving is piled up as much as possible for
secondary use to reduce disposal, and the disposed slag is collected and

transported to the professional slag disposal site;

. Slag produced on-site is piled up and transported to the garbage disposal

site in accordance with local environmental protection requirements;

. Qualified recyclers are engaged to deal with construction waste to avoid

secondary pollution.

In addition, the Group encourages our contractors to increase the use of finished
bathrooms and prefabricated machine rooms to reduce on-site construction and

emissions of waste gases, waste water and construction waste.

All waste water produced by the Group is domestic sewage and is discharged
into the municipal sewage pipe network and processed centrally as urban
sewage. Fumes and exhaust gases produced during operation are mainly from
catering. To deal with such kind of emissions, the Group has been monitoring
the emission outlet automatically, installed two-stage fume purifiers to reduce

gas emissions so to comply with relevant regulations.
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Solid waste produced by the Group is mainly consumables of offices and project
sites such as paper, office furniture and computers. In accordance with the
internationally accepted 4R waste management principles (i.e. reuse, recover,
reduce and recycle), the Group actively promotes green operation in our daily
operation, and is committed to creating environmental-friendly and comfortable

office spaces.

The Group advocates paperless office by promoting online approval and records
and eliminating waste of paper. The Group uses printers with environmental-
friendly-certified toner cartridges and ink cartridges and limits the number of
color prints, and places a recycling box for single-sided printed paper next to
printers to encourage the reuse of single-sided printed paper. Waste paper and
cartons are collected and recycled by recyclers. All office employees use their
own cups, which greatly reduces the consumption of plastic bottles and paper

cups.

Pursuant to Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the Peoples
Republic of China, the Group has set up a special storage place and formulated
special recycling procedures for hazardous waste such as printer cartridges
and waste light tubes. For electronic waste, the Group complies with the
Administrative Measures for the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution Caused by Electronic Waste for professional treatment, and properly
disposes electronic waste such as computer parts and used batteries according to

the sorting.

For domestic waste, we place different types of garbage bins in office areas to
separate kitchen waste, recyclable waste and other waste, in order to guide
employees to sort waste. In addition, we arrange cleaning staff to clean the
garbage and disinfect the garbage bins regularly every day. For hotels, the
Group places green cards in each room to reduce the change of bedsheet and
quilt cover, and minimizes the use of disposable tableware. Disposable tableware
is not allowed in staff restaurants in order to reduce waste production. Due to
the business characteristics of the Group, our operating activities do not involve

the use of packaging materials.
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A+ 2019474 [ 5] e % e e R D L Table: The Group’s solid waste production and density in 2019°
Bt YR BEEY R BEEYEE (BFIrK)
Type of waste Waste production Waste density (per square meter)
IE R WNHRER (T-52) 216,650 2.00
Non-hazardous waste Office paper (kg)
WEAFE (F32) 135,000 1.24
Office furniture (kg)
MR BI (T 5E) 25,000,000 230.45
Domestic waste (kg)
HEBERY SR B8 & (fH) 4,342 0.04
Hazardous waste Toner cartridge
BEERHARE () 600 0.01

Waste computer

e/ gy Waste sorting

201948 » A [ A At A0 B B R 7 42 In 2019, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Development issued Notice
R T DA b 3 A T B R AR 9 3 A AR LAY on the Comprehensive Implementation of Domestic Waste Sorting in Cities at
D > AT RCH) A B A M DL B T AR Prefecture Level and Above, comprehensively initiated domestic waste sorting
WA AR > 52 4.6 8TR 30 5 26 49 2 in cities at prefecture level and above, and proposed that 46 pilot cities under
H120204F £ A T U4 G B3 A SR H R 00 H governance should achieve the goal of basically establishing a domestic waste
o [ FAR BT I B AR S350 8 i sorting and treatment system by 2020. At present, the Group’s businesses
Aol o BEE E A B IR B A & > 8 cover all the pilot cities, along with the successive implementation of relevant
O R0 L s M 3R AR B R AR[R local regulations, the Group has earnestly complied with local waste sorting
R Y 2 0 B3 o regulations and properly handled different types of domestic waste.

I JoR S A SR IR A A A A 3 43 S Chengdu Longfor Smart Service promoted waste sorting effectively

2019 4F (AR i AL 16 B3k A g 5 1) th 2 1% Upon the introduction of Guidance on Domestic Waste Sorting in Chengdu
A HE 19158 25 AR 5 B At 1 — i B A AL R AR in 2019, Chengdu Longfor Smart Service released corresponding sorting
T8 BEIRAR ~ SRR AR Y 2 BRI S JR 2 He standards for domestic garbage bins and peel bins in the community, and
M R T B R S A kM B A o sent designated staff to guide and supervise the sorting labels replacement for
WECH30H » BUAREE WA B IRT ¢ AL H garbage bins of each project. As of June 30, Chengdu Longfor Smart Service
TH B ARG SR - R R A 0 R Y 4 T completed the full replacement of sorting labels for domestic garbage bins and
o BRPER T EHEE100% © peel bins of projects under management, and the offline publicity coverage of
garbage sorting reached 100%.

2 7 R S 355 P R 5 A S R B 2 As solid waste generated from construction sites is managed by contractors, the waste
PREEWE > R A R TR density is calculated using the waste generated per square meter of our offices.
[ S 9 o ) R R
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The garbage sorting labels adopted by Chengdu Longfor Smart
Service have noticeable differences in terms of color and content.
Community residents can quickly identify and sort waste through
the labels of recyclables, hazardous waste, kitchen waste and other
waste on the garbage bins. Regarding to the layout of garbage bins,
Longfor Smart Service has fully considered residents’ daily habits,
travel routes and landscape design, so as to provide convenience for
residents to dispose garbage, making the first step in the “green

revolution” of garbage sorting.

AT HE 108 A (0 ik

Poster of Chengdu Longfor Smart Service

I FE 0 28 o MRS A 8 A 6 3B 0 HE Rk
Sorting labels for community domestic garbage bins of Chengdu Longfor Smart Service
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A2 HIFEMEH
AR KRN AAE  BAM
KR B A R o 4 MR sy
(e AR S 5 40 B ) (IR PR SR
Tt O T 5 46 T 7K A B ) e e
A 55 O B T A0 0 BB AR R 400+ % ML PR
L 5% 3 B R A5 PR R~ MG A A B > e
WEFERUS L UK > TEBLR G BEIR

FERIEHT

S E R ARV T 1 R AT BUR A T HLR R
o BRI > ARG I TR I 36 351,900
Th o SEER I REIRGEH EZ A E ) -

12019 FE AN R ) AR

HMNIETE T (FRLIE)
Purchased electricity (kWh)

Offices

5,723,350.00

A2 Use of Resources

The Group’s water and electricity usage are mainly from daily operation, rather
than from production activities. The Group strictly complies with laws and
regulations such as Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Regulation on Energy Conservation in Civil Buildings and Provisions on the
Management of Water Conservation in Cities. The Group has promoted the
adoption of smart environmental protection systems at the group level and has
improved different energy consumption management and control systems and
implemented different energy-saving technological reforms in different cities.
Remarkable results have been achieved in energy conservation and consumption

reduction, as well as our goal of green development.

Energy consumption

The Group's main direct energy consumption is gasoline used in vehicles for
administrative purpose. During the reporting period, the volume of gasoline
used by the Group totaled 351,900 liters. The Group’s main indirect energy

consumption is electricity.

Table: The Group’s purchased electricity in 2019

TERIEH

Projects under

[ES:E—
Commercial

HE R

Rental housing

Fdie

construction properties Smart service

145,960,000.00 170,616,875.00 2,610,000.00 511,063,366.00

RE PSRN AR SR
Note: excluding new shopping malls that launched in 2019.

Wt HA A > [T 7 45 R R T IB MS B
FEMAS  WATEE LR o IBMSRALIRM
AAES - BB B4R - BB BT - ABTERR -
JERER - AT - THH SRS AR D
70% > AN BR100% - WP RSHE)
AR R B - B - R R T
it > T EMASHWEREREER > #—
AR~ BARRRIRGE T o 20194 > FEELFHE
36 H 58 BIBMS Y S T R G e
HEAT > BEHRA9,789 B TE N -

During the reporting period, our shopping malls successively adopted the
IBMS smart building management system as operational support. After a
series of theoretical research, pilot implementation, retrospective analysis, self-
research and adjustment, promotion and application, the workload for project
equipment inspection has reduced by 70% and the efficiency of operation and
maintenance has improved by 100% since the implementation of the system.
Through linking different systems, it can provide functions such as power-
off, remote monitoring and energy consumption statistics, which enables the
building management personnel to track the flow of energy in real time, further
regulating and reducing energy consumption. In 2019, the Group completed
the installation and operation of the IBMS smart building management system

for a total of 36 projects, with a total investment of RMB97.89 million.
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Chongqing U-City Paradise Walk was awarded as green mall in
2019 by the Ministry of Commerce

Chonggqing Longfor U-City Paradise Walk is a one-stop commercial complex
integrating shopping, catering, leisure and entertainment. In the past few
years, it has actively promoted green and low-carbon concepts, and surpassed

the Group'’s annual energy consumption reduction target of 3%-5%.

In 2019, the IBMS smart building management system and EMS energy
management system were officially operated in Chongqing U-City Paradise
Walk. Energy consumption was continuously reduced through equipment
automation and intelligence. The system directly displays various energy
consumptions, sets and adjusts operating strategy based on the business hours,
ambient temperature and operating conditions of the building, and monitors
parameters such as ambient operating temperature. The daily and hourly
energy consumption data set is collected through the network for year-on-year,
month-on-month and abnormal energy consumption analysis, further realizing
the operation of a green shopping mall. In 2019, Chongqing U-City Paradise

Walk was awarded as green mall by the Ministry of Commerce.

In addition to the comprehensive upgrade of the building management
system, each business segement in different cities has also improved our energy
consumption management system based on local situation, and achieved
remarkable results in energy conservation and consumption reduction. During
the reporting period, Ever Spring, the Company's elderly care brand, updated
Energy Consumption Management System to clarify the person responsible for
regional energy consumption management, formulate a timetable for the use
of electrical equipment such as air conditioners and electric lights, and arrange
inspection personnel to ensure that the equipment is used as required and turned
off when no one is around. For commercial properties, the Group has formulated
the Elevaror and Escalator Operation Management Regulations, Heat Supply
Equipment Operation Management Regulations and other electrical equipment
operation management regulations, and carried out a number of energy saving
technological reforms. The average power consumption per square meter of
shopping malls decreased for three consecutive years, with a year-on-year
decrease of 16.1% in 2018 and 5.7% in 2019.
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A 1 201957 52 U S S B AR OBCR

Hi e H

Energy saving project

A B K

Table: Results of energy saving technological reforms of the Group’s commercial

properties in 2019

AE 34 BLAAIE F BT RE A
Annual average energy saving

efficiency of individual projects

40,000 kWh

Adjusting the temperature of outlet water from cooling unit

AL RRIT o 3% > A M) EAE

30,000 kWh

Refining lighting circuit and reducing energy consumption at night

b R

Voice control for staircase lighting

T L R R R A

Sensor lighting system in underground parking lot

A 5 2 2 B B B B 7

10,000 kWh

I 2R H 4209
Saving approximately 20% on the original basis
20,000 kWh

Installing limit switch in equipment room to save electricity

MRS L LEDRE
Changing fluorescent lights to LED lights
B IR/ R TE > PR IR

50,000 kWh

50,000kWh

Cleaning the evaporator/condenser of cooling unit to reduce the approach temperature

AL BB B Bl ] 2%

Optimizing the lighting timetable

A 208 B B R ] o2

Optimizing the turning on timetable for HVAC equipmen
BT

Operation of elevator in variable frequency

L BT R B AR AL RO A

Merging screw units of Shanghai Minhang Starry Street

Tl 2 ke v

Ice storage technology for air conditioners in Changying Paradise Walk

LR S OE

Frequency variation and conversion of water pumps in Shanghai Baoshan Paradise Walk

JentRth, KBz G R 5

Heat recovery system for air conditioning in Beijing Changying/Daxing Paradise Walk

20,000kWh

20,000kWh
t
50,000 kWh

JsA 2R LB #0309 (FERGZIEH)
Saving approximately 30%

on the original basis (for this project only)
20,000kWh (EEFRZIEH )

20,000kWh (for this project only)
30,000kWh (EFRZIHH)

30,000kWh (for this project only)
5,000kWh (fEFRZIHH )

5,000kWh (for this project only)

TR DT > B2/ B TR0 B R FERE Y 4ERC
AR S R B0 R AR At B T) B A TR
WIS o BLoh > SEEER BB KSR ERERE
BITHERER® - Flnm 8 TEETIHEET
BB~ B2 UMD A -

KT
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TR RO 2R o N K AR R
KB E -
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For administration and office, the Group provides low-energy consumption
notebook computers for employees, and uses energy-saving lighting system
in offices. In addition, the Group raises employees” energy-saving awareness
through email and notices, such as advising employees to turn off the lights and

air conditioning after work.

Use of water

The Group attaches great importance to water resource management,
incorporates water resource conservation throughout the entire construction and
operation process, and implements water efficiency programs to reduce use of

water resources.
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FKE (W)

Water consumption (tons)

WA

Offices

5,559.04

The Group has formulated Administrative Measures for the Start-up of Projects
of Longfor, pursuant to which the Group implemented the water use indicators,
applied for drainage measures, and calculated and planned for temporary power
consumption, temporary water use and drainage for each development project
under construction, so as to achieve refined water resource management. The
Group advocates the use of reclaimed water after the delivery of buildings to
recycle water resources, and vigorously promotes rainwater tanks to fully use
rainwater for greening. In our operational sites across the country, we strictly
monitor the use of water in office areas. We control the total annual water
consumption of all commercial properties and break it down into each business
process. We have installed different water-saving devices, such as sensor
faucets and variable-frequency water pumps. The amount of water supplied is
automatically controlled according to the actual consumption. We regularly
check and maintain the water pipe network to reduce waste from running,
dripping, dropping and leaking water. The Group encourages employees to
save water by reminding employees to turn off water taps in a timely manner
through emails and notices.

Table: The Group’s water consumption in 2019

TERIEH

Projects under

FisRER

Commercial

e AR B

construction properties  Rental housing Smart service

15,325,800.00 2,328,906.00 10,304.00 16,925,419.00

Ak PSR A H AR I EIE H
Note: excluding new shopping malls that launched in 2019.
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to reduce the impact of our operation on the
environment and natural resources. In our daily operation, we continuously
evaluate and monitor environmental risks and take control measures in real time
to protect the environment and natural resources.

The Group strictly follows the development and protection requirement for the
Nation’s land, complies with various land development laws and regulations
such as Land Management Law, Regulations on Nature Reserves and Urban and
Rural Planning Law, and strictly abides by the boundaries and standards for
areas including nature reserves, agricultural areas and cultural protection areas.
By community communication, legal ecological compensation and proactive
participation in local ecological restoration works, the Group has taken up
our corporate responsibility of protecting local natural resources, biodiversity
as well as cultural heritages. Prior to land investment and development, the
Group conduct environmental impact assessment as required by environmental
authorities to confirm the new project has no unfavorable factors such as geological
condition and our impact in health and safety to the local community comply
with regulation requirements. During the reporting period, the environmental
assessment compliance rate of our construction projects reached 100%.
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With the increasingly significant impact of climate change on the real estate
industry, the Group has identified climate-related risks and opportunities
during the construction and development of projects and continuously improved
project design, so as to prevent or reduce the possible damage on new projects
caused by climate change. The Group has made every effort to protect the
environmental stability of the construction and operation areas, so as to ensure

that residents, tenants and property owners can work and live comfortably.

In the design of products, the Group has incorporated more localized features to
the space design based on the natural ecological characteristics of the region and
the architectural concept of “eco-interaction and integration with nature”. While
complying with domestic regulations, we consider elements such as sunlight,
space between buildings, ventilation and lighting to ensure that the product
design is coordinated with the climate and the environment, so as to protect
the biodiversity and ecosystem in the surroundings. In order to avoid affecting
nearby residents, the Group has installed sound insulation equipment on the
air-conditioning systems for shopping malls near residential areas, and turns off
the lighting systems of all billboards and displays at 10pm every night in order
to reduce the effect on nearby residents. Our rental housing business — Goyoo
has made agreement with tenants in respect of traffic, parking and visiting time
and has significantly reduced the noise impact on non-tenants by reminding the
tenants to walk lightly, talk lightly and act lightly through tenants’ convention,

WeChat and corridor signboards.

B SOCIAL
B1 Employment

The Group has rigorously complied with Employment Promotion Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and other relevant
laws and regulations, and has formulated a series of internal recruitment
policies that fosters the fundamental people-oriented concepts, prioritizes the
personal interests of employees, as well as fully protects the legitimate interests
of employees in terms of recruitment, incentives, benefits and occupational
development. As of 31 December 2019, the Group had 26,316 employees.
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Table * Employee composition of the Group in 2019

=] N VN i be9e)
Indicator Numbers Percentage
B TAR AR D
Employee Composition
H TN 26,316
Total number of employees
TEAER#7 BHAET 16,144 61.35%
By gender Male employees
LPERT 10,172 38.65%
Female employees
RS Iy A B 82 0.31%
By seniority Senior management
H R 719 2.73%
Middle management
—REHE 1,859 7.07%
Front-line management
HEAT 23,656 89.89%
Entry-level employees
AR B E Y 30 AT 11,876 45.13%
By age Below 30
30-505% 13,944 52.99%
30-50
SO KU L 496 1.88%
50 and above
122l ) 7 KB 26,298 99.93%
By geographical locations Mainland China
VEIRG Ll 10 0.04%
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan
SEH 8 8 0.03%
Overseas
BT RMR
Employee Turnover
B TEB)BERR 27.8%
Employee voluntary turnover rate
ET T R - W AR 19.67%
By segment Property development, commercial
properties and rental housing
Eb-die 34.0%
Smart service
it Recruitment

SRR B BRAE  REMRI RE S AR - BRI
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The Group selects the right candidates based on their competence while proactively
hiring the outstanding talents of high recognition. The Group has formulated training
manuals such as Recruitment Manual and Training Guide for Interviewer Certification
to regulate recruitment procedures, express requirements regarding the practices of
recruiters and recruitment criteria and to eradicate fraudulent behaviors and recruit
talents of excellence. In 2019, the Group was committed to develop the productization
of human resources system, while upgrading and optimizing the online recruitment
system, so as to achieve the online circulation and monitoring and ensure the openness

and transparency of recruitment procedures.
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Equal opportunities

The Group has adopted a labour principle of equal and non-discrimination,
thereby creating a working environment of equality and diversity. We respect
and fairly treat each employee in terms of nationality, ethnicity, gender, age and
cultural background, such that employees are provided with fair and reasonable
opportunities for employment and competition. As of 31 December 2019, the
female management accounted for 30% of the Group’s management team. The
Group encourages those staff who encounter discrimination to promptly report
to human resources department. In order to eradicate discrimination in any form
in workplace, the management will follow up after independent investigations

conducted by the internal audit department.

Staff motivation

In a bid to create an encouraging competition environment to motivate
outstanding staff, the Group has formulated Measures for Assessment and
Management of Performance, which specifies the performance assessment
measures as well as criteria on staff recruitment, remuneration, development,
so as to enhance our performance management standards. The Group has
attached great importance to the valuable contribution by each employee and
has rewarded model staff by formulating Power of Role Model — Measures for
Instant Incentives and Measures for Annual Award Management of the Group.
Meanwhile, the Group will present Long Service Award to the employees having
served the company for 10 years and 20 years as sincere gratitude towards their

loyal service and contribution to the Company over a long period.

Staff care and welfare

The Group has established a comprehensive system of benefits to enhance the
working and living quality of employees. The Group has formulated various
measures for subsidy management such as Measures for Comprehensive Subsidy
Management for Employees, which reimburses staff from the expenses incurred
by transport, meals and communication during business trips by providing
transport subsidy, comprehensive subsidy and communication subsidy. For
relocating employees, we provide relocation subsidy in support of their living
expenses for necessities, so as to relieve their worries of working in remote areas
far away from home. The Group has introduced preferential house purchasing
mechanism in alignment with the term of service for particular employees,
which provides them with preferential facilities for house purchasing as rewards

for their long service by improving their residential conditions.
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The Group puts great emphasize on humanity and cares for the living of
employees. The Group formulated the Measures for Attendance and Leave
Management of Employees in accordance to the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China, which provides employees with paid annual leave, sick leave,
personal leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and other benefits and leaves,
so as to respond to employee needs and help them to build balance between
life and work. We listen to our employees and provide platforms for employees
to express suggestions and seek help through channels such as Longfor BBS
and Longfor Conselling. In 2019, we compiled a book named At Longfor,
Short Stories of Longfor Culture I, which exhibits typical Longfor stories that

happened to our employees.
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We are attentive to each employee, and we will express congratulation or
condolence to them on special occasions such as marriage ceremonies and
mourning ceremonies and we will distribute red envelopes during the Chinese
New Year and cash gifts on employees” birthdays, in order to further improve

their sense of belonging.
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While being concerned with the body health of the employees, we set up the
EAP work and life counselling scheme to provide employees and their relatives
with 7%24 services for psychological supports, with which experts provide
consultation on issues about work and life via phone or face-to-face conversation.
Meanwhile, the Group has launched various trainings and seminars with
psychology-related themes, and has actively encouraged our employee to
participate, such that all-around protection for their psychological health can be

achieved.

Satisfaction and dedication

The Group has engaged third party organization to conduct annual engagement
survey for employees so as to optimize the measures for human resources
management. In 2019, the engagement survey conducted by the Group covered
94% of the staff, with engagement of 84% and satisfaction of 80%, higher than
the average of the property industry and the best employers, with the fact that
the rate of engagement and satisfaction has been improving for four years in a

row.

B2 Health and Safety
The Group strictly complies with Production Satety Law of the People’s Republic

of China and relevant laws and regulations, as well as the requirement of National
Standard of Occupational Health and Safety Management System. We established
a Safety Management System of Longfor Group to regulate the Group’s safe
production management. Through classified safety management control, we set
up safety management positions at group level and regional companies as well
as part-time safety management positions for projects so as to clearly delegate
safety responsibilities of each level as well as the obligations of safety personnel
and also to identify safety responsibilities in regions, projects, supervisors and
contractors. At the same time, we provided staff, contractors and customers with
a safe and healthy working environment by formulating the safety objectives and
contingency plans and keeping safety records for regular assessment. As a result,
the safe management of all projects under construction are controllable and the

significant safety management risks have been eliminated.



C Fg KB RERE

Environmental, Soc1al and Governance Report

TE [ Ho 7 ) % 0E I R R T RO T % A By
o BMbEA CGEBEBERHEAE T %%
B > ROt AE RG] > HRIREMEA R
TR R TR 2R > B4 EL2
H s PREE TR o FAIRER S A) 22 ]
SORIE B % 2 A AR B R
1 1) 7 S A P 2 TR e o AR
STMAETREME 2RIE - MRE2RE -

EEAYEEEBE TR T EMWER TR
EEM) I - REWEERE THRRE L5
T SR R B > SR A TR
JOF B FIE - RO R R i T
R T A o 0 57 30 B 4 T M R4 R o
b > W) RS R BTN A = A RO 1
Jie4 2 S A 58 (OHSAS18001) ©

FAM B v B T 56 fe e Bl 2 2 ) i e >
DR AR B B2 A 1 Bl 1Y 2 e MR AR A 8 e g
IR o MR R B R 2D BRI
R EE TRBRMO L ERE - LR
fE B 5 W1 B9 2 A bRl ~ I > SRS AY B T
NESE R E - BZRER TRFZ2E
ik WMARE AL 2R o R Rt e iR
AR - MM B TRAERRE - W
#BEANGESE - M2 ERERER > TER
% BARAE P B AR R A > R P24 /N
OBSTRRIRES - B B T A O -

TA AR ot ST 2 Il R 3 BT {0 fe o 7 S
A 355 e B 2 4 A B O 3 09 0 R 2
U REERAIET S -

As for the construction safety management of the contractors of property
development projects, we have formulated Measures for Safety Management of
Projects under Construction of Longfor Group and provided guideline in safety
management to ensure that the Group is able to monitor the construction safety
measures of the contractors so as to prevent the occurrence of safety incidents
and safeguard the health of workers. We have also established an organizational
structure for safe production management at regional subsidiaries level and
project level and formulated construction safety measures before and during
construction as well as including more safety check points to third party

checking.

The Group has established Staft Safety Management System of Longfor Smart
Service to specify the responsibilities and duties of property management staff,
illustrate common protective measures, set out procedures and precautions for
work safety and provide solutions for incidents in order to ensure that all risks
are under monitor and control of the management mechanism. In addition,
the property management division engages a third party to carry out the
certification of occupational health & safety management system (OHSAS18001)

annually.

We put great emphasis in fostering staff awareness in occupational health
and safety to ensure the safety standard of work environment and production
equipment complies with the latest statutory requirements. The Group provides
safety training to all staff and educates them of safety regulations through video
case study. Simple slogans and posters are displayed prominently in office areas
to remind staff to keep alert at all times so as to mitigate common safety risks.
At the same time, besides Social Insurance and Housing Provident fund, we also
provide staff with commercial insurance covering personal accident insurance,
clinical and hospital expenses insurance and critical illness insurance and annual
physical examinations in mid-year as well as psychological support 24/7 to care

for their physical and mental health.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-

compliance with laws and regulations in relation to workplace health and safety

and there was no fatality incident due to work related causes.
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B3 Development and Training

The Group have constructed a wide platform for personal development of staff
and strived to establish a promotion system with full coverage to motivate our
staff. The Group has formulated Administrative Measures on Occupational
Sequence and Level for Staft in Real Estate Division of the Group to standardize
the staff ranking system and set up a career path to assist the career development

of staff. During 2019, the Group's internal flow of talent was 874.

The group attach great importance to talent training and have formulated
comprehensive training policies and corresponding training plans. According
to the development needs of different positions, we implemented a training
mode that integrates internal and external resources and combines online and
offline trainings methods. The training content covers occupational skills,
management knowledge as well as various training for personal development. As
of 31 December 2019, the Group provided 310,088 hours of training in total,
covering all staff of the Group.

In order to further enhance the training quality, reinforce the building and
nurturing of the talent team, the Group have developed a brand-new training
method with timely update of the training programme. At the end of 2018,
the Group officially launched the online training platform to provide staff with
more flexible and convenient training programmes. In 2019, the platform has
set up 2,400 new courses, 185 live broadcast to provide staff with enriched and
comprehensive training opportunities and capabilities training. At the same
time, the Group conducted assessment immediately after the training and made
quarterly update on training programme based on staff feedback. We provide
incentives to regional companies that undertake training programmes and
lecturers in terms of talent empowerment so as to encourage regional company
to train talents proactively. As of 31 December 2019, the Group provided a

total of 211,567 hours of online training.
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Training Programme for New Staff

The Group launched a variety of induction programmes for new recruits,
including culture training programme and standard training camp for
management trainees to provide corresponding training content to new staff
of different level and positions, including new staff of junior level, middle and
senior management, fresh graduates of property development business and
property management business. The trainings are aimed to assist new staff in
understanding the Group’s corporate culture and values and mastering necessary

skills for quick fitting into their posts and blending into the company.

In 2019, the Group organised 48 new culture training programmes in total,
covering 36 middle and senior managements. Standard training for management
trainees covered 718 recruits for property development business and 764 recruits

for property management business.

Leadership Training Camp

The leadership training camp aims to nurture reserve talents with high
leadership potential for each sequence and position of the Group, which
includes programmes such as property projects training, smart services themed
training, function specific training and product manager training camp. The
camp formulates a comprehensive programme for nurturing a versatile talent
chain by integrating leadership and career development needs and adopts
hybrid way of training such as skill training for different positions, leadership
training, function training and peer interchange. Through combining internal
and external resources, the Group seek to help leaders in strengthening their
practical capabilities in business as well as comprehensive management

capabilities.

B4 Labour Standards
The Group strictly follows Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labour

Contract Law of the Peoples Republic of China and other relevant laws and
regulations and prohibits child labour and forced labour. During recruitment,
the human resources department verify and confirm candidates” age during
resume screening and interview and the candidates are required to input their
identification number for double confirmation and further inspection before
sending out the offer letter. During the enrollment process, the human resources
department will once again verify the information on identity card of candidates
and those under 16 are forbidden from completing the admission procedures
and will be reported to superiors and relevant business divisons for stringent

voilation handling.
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In addition, the Group also prohibits contractors from employing child labour
and forced labour by requiring the third parties to include relevant terms in
their service contracts and deliver the staff list to the Group for record. The
Group and the third parties will jointly examine the accuracy and completeness

of the information of staff to prevent child labour and forced labour.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any occurrence of child

labour and forced labour.

B5 Supply Chain Management

Longfor Group strengthened its management of and cooperation with suppliers
through building a responsible and sustainable supply chain. The Group has
formulated a series of systems including Principle and System for Tender
Management of Longfor Group, Management System for suppliers of Longfor
Group and Measures for Materials and Equipment Suppliers Management of
Longfor Group to implement strict management on suppliers and procurement

tenders.

We put great emphasis on risk management of supply chain. We
comprehensively assess, manage and control the environmental, social and
governance risks of the supply chain by taking various measures such as pre-

qualification, inspection, assessment and nuturing.
U Qualification of supplier:

—  Conduct pre-qualification to inspect the qualification, business
scope and certificate of environmental or quality management of
the suppliers, and then conduct site inspection and background
check on record of misconduct for suppliers that passed the pre-

qualification.

—  Establish Measures for Management of Materials and Equipment
Suppliers of Longfor Group. Before selecting suppliers, the Group
will conduct site inspections of the factories to carry out detailed
assessment of their performance on the inspection of major raw
materials, the treatment of three wastes and quality control
mechanism, according to Form of On-site Inspection of Materials
and Equipment. The assessment results will be rated into excellent,
good, fair and poor and suppliers rated fair and poor will be

disqualified.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited e & & @ 1= & B R 2 7
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Assessment of suppliers:

—  The Group conducts reviews and assessments on suppliers every
six months to manage unqualified suppliers and terminate our
cooperation with suppliers who fail to meet environmental and
safety standards (such as excessive emission of formaldehyde) and
suppliers who are disqualified for three times in our quality control
assessments as well as suppliers who causes significant quality
issues in our projects.

—  The Group will conduct assessment on quality and progress of
projects according to the Measures for Management of Project
Quality Examination and Assessment of Longfor Group, with
reference to the quality and progress assessment by third party and
together with the quarterly assessment by regional companies to
assess the capacity of the suppliers in terms of technical quality,
progress and safety.

Risk management of suppliers:

—  Conduct third party quality spot check on contractors three times
a year and exchange reviews in respect of spot check results and
outstanding contractors will be awarded. After a project is handed
over, the Group collect feedback on project quality through third
party survey on customer satisfaction and rate of incidents reported
by customers.

—  All suppliers are required to sign an Agreement on Integrity in
Cooperation and comply with content in relation to integrity
compliance in the Code of Longfor Business Conduct.

Environmental protection and energy conservation requirement for
suppliers:

—  Procurement of artificial material in place of natural materials
and selection of environmentally- friendly and energy saving
materials, such as choosing toilet of National Grade one water
saving standard, condensing boiler with low NOx emission, select
water-based eco-friendly paint for painting door veneer decoration
crafts instead of traditional paint that causes pollution. In 2019,
green purchasing accounted for more than 90% of our total

procurements.

—  Preference for suppliers that passed the ISO9000 and 1SO14001
certifications for environmental and quality management system,
and we currently has 223 suppliers that passed the certifications,
representing more than 90% of our total materials and equipments
suppliers.
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o Communication with suppliers

—  Conduct quarterly conference with contractors and enhance their
management capabilities by sharing real cases with regards to

safety, quality and progress;

— In 2019, the Group conducted integrated training with curtain
wall related partners across the nation and organised sharing
sessions for national decoration suppliers with regard to the

exemplary projects.

During the reporting period, the Group had cooperated with 16,524 suppliers,

of which suppliers from mainland China accounted for 99.4%.

B6 Product Responsibility

With property development, commercial property, rental housing and smart
service as the four core businesses, the Group also actively explores innovative
areas such as elderly care, industry-city and hotels, with businesses covering over

50 cities within five major city clusters nationwide.

Quality of Products
The Group formulated the Management System of Project Quality of Longfor

Group and Management System of Project Assessment and Examination by
Third-party of Longfor Group in accordance with relevant laws and regulations
such as the Product Quality Law of the Peoples Republic of China. Through
dividing the scope of responsibilities and management clearly, defining
management behaviors and management control inspections at all levels in

detail, we can fully manage the quality of projects.

We ensure the implementation of the Group’s project management systems
such as safety, quality, planning, technology, documentation and their related
requirements are in place by conducting evaluation and inspection. Also,
through online collaboration with participating parties, we achieve online
management and control to ensure the controllability of project quality,
safety and standard. We have adopted a “2+X” assessment and examination
system, and through which we can discover quality safety risks by conducting a
complete inspection on the project via process assessment; and clearly identify
quality defects and security loopholes via specific inspection. We carried out
synchronized rectification measures to mitigate potential risks and build a new

management mechanism.
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TR BT R > BACER AR Goyoo Rental Housing integrates upstream and downstream supply chains and
AR AR L FECR T AR R R % cooperates with professional environmental technology companies to build a
A BR IR AT 0 8 BEE o 7R b 7 B B A A smart factory to ensure that all building materials satisfy national safety and

Fo2019% > EEEEHREERNRNESHERR environmental protection technology certification standards. On the basis of
(ARG T T34 W07 209 DA I > B KM RES highly packaged products, Goyoo Rental Housing focuses on promoting the
FlA28 - W R E R IR ERS0% - MK pre-assembled construction systems in 2019, which reduces the construction
M5 T T e £ 5 Y FE (A B o period by more than 20% on average. The fireproof performance reaches A2

grade and formaldehyde release is 50% lower than national standards, which

greatly enhance the living standard of Goyoo tenants.

AT E i BT R
Assembly product design

I R85 1 oL YRR 4 LV 5 7 4R AL P AR

Goyoo Rental Housing Gucun Park in Shanghai created comfortable environment for young tenants

BIREREAE B SEAERE MR > BaE - # - HCRITE 2R ERGEAEELE - EEE e 2RISR
FHAEMF e S EB BT > ARG - MR - WAL KIS T 400 KBTI 22 Bl - 51 BT AR - AP EAE
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We have been working to meet tenant demands for high-quality living environment, and built rental housing that integrate living, commercing

and socializing functions. Goyoo Rental Housing Gucun Park in Shanghai is equipped with fitness space of basketball, badminton, and a

400-meter runway on the top floor 25 meters from the ground. This industrial innovation enables tenants to live healthy inside the apartment.

bt

HEWN R o L0 RS 0 UK AP AR B W 22 B ~ G DA RN B3k

Goyoo Rental Housing Gucun Park in Shanghai is equipped with a rooftop runway, basketball and badminton coutts
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During the epidemic, Longfor smart services solved the property owners’ grocery shopping problems.
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Longfor Rose and Ginkgo Villa in Wuxi is one of the earliest closed management communities in Wuxi. While many of the property owners

I 100

Longfor Smart Service is highly regarded by customers for its high-quality
service of “Satisification+Surprise”. During the COVID-19 epidemic, Longfor
Smart Service had worked closely with the government and formulated a unified
group-wide initiative to strengthen environmental protection in shopping malls
such as enhancing fresh air ventilation and high-frequency disinfection. On
top of that, shopping malls were upgraded by providing emergency medicines,
masks, disinfection supplies, etc. at the concierge, thus helping those in need
in a timely manner. In the community, Longfor Smart Service held fast to the
front line, strictly implemented entry and exit control, and conducted sanitation
and epidemic prevention. We offered high quality services such as carrying out
disinfection of public areas, placing special garbage bins for used masks and
providing purchasing services for our customers in such difficult time as in the

past.

faced grocery shopping problems, Longfor Smart Service launched the “Longfor Smart Service of Selected Fruits and Vegetables Delivery

Service” on Longfor U Xiangjia APP. By selecting large vegetable suppliers with high local reputation, rich varieties and affordable prices,

and designing different packages at different prices to guarantee the vegetables and fruit are delivered in good quality in a timely manner. Our

service has gained unanimous praise by the property owners.

1 -
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Longfor Smart Service served to ensure supplies to property owners during the epidemic
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As for the elderly care business, we stringently abide by various national
and local systems and standards, such as Operating Rules on Food Safety in
Catering Services, Food Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, Basic
Specification of Service Quality for Elderly Care Organization, Regulations on
the Administration of Medical Wastes, Nurses Regulation and Specification of
Service Quality for Elderly Care Organization in Beijing, and etc., and further
implement various regulations through conducting interviews and random

inspections to ensure the quality of services.

Al
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Complaine on Products and Services

The Group values the opinions of customers on products and services and has
formulated Management Measures for Major Group Complaints and Critical
Complaints, Sonar Early Warning Mechanism, Complaints Management
Procedures for Longfor Smart Service, Complaints Handling Process for Longfor
Smart Service, Specifications of Risk Management for Public Opinion and
Customer Complaint of Goyoo Rental Housing, Longfor Group, Operating
Specifications of Store Reporting and Complaint of Goyoo Rental Housing,
Longtor Group, Commercial Real Estate Complaint Handling Guidelines of
Longfor Group, Ever Spring Residents” Opinions/Recommended Sales Schedule
of Longtor Group, and other management measures to facilitate the complaint
channel, standardize the complaints handling process and guarantee our service

quality.

We regularly carry out a re-analysis of reported data to understand the
effectiveness of complaint handling and settlement, conduct in-depth research
on existing problems and put forward solutions to further optimize our services.
Meanwhile, by launching digital tools such as smart work order systems,
instant evaluation systems, customer view tools, and U Xiangjia WeChat public
account, we are able to understand and satisfy customer needs rapidly and

efficiently, which aids in improving our service efficiency and service standard.

In order to grasp customer needs for our products and services, we target
different customer segments based on the property of land at the early stage of
project development. Through in-depth qualitative interviews and quantitative
researches, we can dig into customers’ core demands and concerns and develop
products and services that match their demands precisely. After the completion
of projects, we engage a professional third party to conduct customer satisfaction
surveys, and use the survey results to improve our service standard. In 2019,
the Group’s customer loyalty was 80.2%, customer satisfaction was 89%, the
average household reporting rate was 0.79, and satisfaction of maintenance

rectification was 81%.

Intellectual Property Right Protection

The Group vigorously promotes technological innovation. We have formulated
the Management Measures for Patent of the Group to maintain and protect
intellectual property in an effective manner. Meanwhile, we actively conduct
research collaboration. By leveraging the industry-university-research model, we
established scientific and research project centers such as Nearly Zero Energy
Building Research Center and Senior Well-being Design Research Base, so as to
carry out academic research, product research and development and construction
practice. Therefore, we could contribute our insights regarding the sound and

solid growth of industry.
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As of 31 December 2019, the Group was granted 15 software rights and 19

patents in total, and is currently applying 62 patents.

Consumer Privacy Protection

Longfor Group focuses on customer privacy protection and continuously
improves the information security management capabilities. The Group has
formulated the Management Regulations of Data Security of Longfor Group,
Guidelines for Sensitive Document Leak Prevention of Longfor Group and
Specifications of Risk Events and Sensitive Information Reporting of Longfor
Group in place. We have signed terms related to privacy protection with our
customers and stringently keep customer data and other relevant information

confidential according to the terms.

We have a series of measures to protect information security, including conduct
systematic cybersecurity examination, attack and defense drill, and security
risk assessment. We also unite relevant departments for maintenance and
rectification to enhance the overall level of information security protection of the
Group. We have carried out major online security enablement and conducted
product safety audits in order to reduce cybersecurity risks such as cyber attacks.
By creating the “Longfor Safety” public WeChat account for online promotion,
we have released 31 cybersecurity pictures/posters, with an average reading rate
of 87.3%, and published eight cybersecurity training videos, with nearly 30

thousand views in accumulation.

B7 Anti-corruption

The Group strictly complies with the national and local policies and regulations
related to anti-corruption, integrity and business ethics, such as Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, Law against Unfair Competition to formulate Code of Longfor
Business Conduct, which prohibit soliciting or accepting inappropriate
commercial interests, improper use and appropriation of corporate properties
as well as disregard of conflict of interests. The Group provides channels
for reporting potential misconducts as well. All employees of the Group’s
controlling and non-controlling subsidiaries shall comply with the principles
formulated by the management, and report and solve conflict of interests

through the reporting system.

Longfor Group Holdings Limited e & & @ 1= & B R 2 7
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We have raised the awareness of employees at all levels on anti-corruption and
anti-money laundering through online and offline training and examinations.
All employees of the Group have to learn the Code of Longfor Business Conduct
through the Group online training platform and pass the corresponding
examination with full marks. In 2019, there were 36 offline risk management
training courses for PMOs and functional managers in various regional
companies with approximately 2,000 in number of attendence. A total of
30,000 people watched the “Data Security, Integrity, Criminal Law” online

videos.

The Group has launched multiple channels, such as official website, telephone
and email to receive complaints and reports of anti-corruption. Upon receipt, the

complaint will be put on file and investigations will be conducted immediately.

Sources of reporting information:

Email: ljjb@longfor.com

Anti-fraud reporting hotline: 400-604-0988

Official website for reporting: hetp://www.longfor.com/contact/36/1/

WeChat (only in Chinese): ﬁE{Eﬂ iz Lﬁ (g ;45'—@&

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations in relation to anti-corruption and anti-

money-laundering.

B8 Community Investment

Longfor Group is actively involved in social welfare and charity events to
give back to the society. We have formulated Longfor Group Public Welfare
Donation Management Measures to define the scope of donation, which covers
education, poverty alleviation, cultural heritage perseveration, healthcare, etc.,
and to specify donation procedures as well as standardize management of public
donation. The Group has established “Longfor — Palace Culture Development
Fund”, “Longfor-Guangcai Special Fund for Education and Poverty Alleviation”,
“Longfor Education and Poverty Alleviation Fund for Wuxi Underprivileged
Areas” and launched a series of community activities such as “Xiaolongren
Plan”, “Beauty Life Plan” and “Longmin Festival”. During the reporting period,
the Group and the founder, Madam WU Yajun donated a total amount of about
RMB94 million, and spent RMB40 million on community investments. In May
2019, the title of National Advanced Collectives in Aiding the Disabled was
granted to Chongqing Longhu Development Co., Ltd by the Committee of the
Disabled-related Work of State Council.
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During the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) in 2020, the Group and the
founder, Madam WU Yajun, have together donated a total of RMB39 million
in cash and medical supplies to support the work of pandemic prevention and
control . For all the tenants in our shopping malls’, the Group reduced rental
fees (including property management fees and promotion fees) by half during
the period from January 25, 2020 to March 31, 2020.

In 2019, the main charity and community investment activities launched and

participated by the Group are as follows

1. In 2019, Longfor Group and the Forbidden City Cultural Heritage
Conservation Foundation jointly established “Longfor — Palace Culture
Development Fund” with a fund size of RMB100 million, and initially
donated RMB30 million. The Fund is used for heritage conservation and
restoration, cultural heritage research and usage, collecting important
cultural relics, disseminating traditional culture and other matters
related to the Forbidden city cultural heritage conservation and industry

development.

FHE 01 2 15 D e e 8 A R

Longfor - the Palace Museum donation signing ceremony
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3. The abovementioned rental reduction policy covered 39 shopping malls (including Paradise
Walk, Starry Street, MOCO) in 10 cities, including Chongqing, Chengdu, Xi'an, Beijing,
Shanghai, Hangzhou, Suzhou, Changzhou, Nanjing and Hefei, which support more than
4,500 brands.
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In 2019, the Group and the founder, Madam WU Yajun, donated
RMB19.13 million to “Longfor-Guangcai Special Fund for Education and
Poverty Alleviation”. The Fund was jointly established in 2017 by the
Longfor Group, the founder, Madam WU Yajun, and China Guangcai
Program Foundation, with the fund size reaching RMB300 million.
The Fund has launched a series of projects, including subsidizing the
underprivileged vocational high-school students in Gui Zhou Qinglong
county and Wangmo county, establishing care centers for left-behind
children, organizing left-behind children counseling training courses
for volunteers, subsidizing Growing Home Foundation to donate to 100
schools for carrying out “1001 Night Stories”, a psychological care project
for left-behind children, reconstruction projects for precarious buildings
in Gui Zhou Zhijin county, and relocation housing projects for primary

teachers in Linxiazhou Hezheng county.

In 2019, Longfor Group and the Chongqing Welfare Foundation for the
Disabled jointly established “Longfor Education and Poverty Alleviation
Fund for Wuxi Underprivileged Areas” with a fund size of RMB10
million, and initially donated RMB1.90 million. The fund focuses on
subsidizing the underprivileged students, awarding outstanding teachers
and students, holding a series of “step out of the mountain” experiential
activities, construction of distanced interactive education and so on. In
order to improve the balanced, quality and sustainable development
of education in the underprivileged areas of Wuxi county, enhance the
quality and ability of children from impoverished families, thus solve the
problem of insufficient and unbalanced self-development capabilities in

poor areas.

Beauty Life Plan is a free, community-oriented and value-added service
provided by the Group to property owners, which comprises of two patts,
the Community Ageless Campaign and the Love-Home Rejuvenation
Campaign. The former one aims at optimizing the natural environment
in the community, and utilising areas with greater affinity for outdoor
interaction. The later one is to improve the indoor facilities and living
environment of the owners, including cleaning and maintenance,
inspection and repairs service to create a more comfortable living
environment. In 2019, Beauty Life Plan, which has been launched for 8
consecutive years, has covered 25 cities, approximately 140 projects and
served more than 240,000 households.
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5. 20194F » HE W) 4E T T 1o B K HE IR R e S 5. In 2019, the Group's youth growth activities held for the families of

AR P HETHEN D RRIEE — [/NGE Longfor households and Goyoo tenants, Xiaolongren Plan, started

NETE R RS - SR R RE R recruitment. After a number of auditions, 42 groups of Xiaolongren
B 283 42 AL /NHE N BE AR AL e > R family from 28 cities gathered in Beijing. With the guidance of
HEERLIAWET - WARHES R professional teachers from the Forbidden City, they visited the Forbidden
KB o O 0 R B AN T AR Y City thoroughly, enjoyed immersive experience in the resplendent
HE% > R ) TR v BB Y (5 royal palace and realized the glamour of Chinese traditional culture and
SUL BB SUAL B E A B ) o intangible cultural heritage directly.

AN NS (B ECT

Activities of Xiaolongren Plan
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Longmin Festival is an annual thanksgiving activity held for Longfor
households and Goyoo tenents with joint efforts made by four core
businesses of the Group. Longmin Festival in 2019 started from
September 6 to October 30, lasting for 55 days and covered 24 cities, 276
communities, 30 shopping malls with more than 200 stores, with a total
of more than 1.4 million participants. The importance and influence of
Longmin Festival has been becoming more significant in the Longmin

community year after year.
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The Board of directors (the “Board”) hereby present the annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of Longfor Group Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended December 31, 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the property development, commercial properties, rental housing

and smart service.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and operating results for the year by
principal activities is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements

of the Group.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of

the Group on page 138.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business and performance highlights of the Group during the
year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development are set out
in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections of this annual report. Description of possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 48(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. Particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended December 31,
2019 are set out in note 51 to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
discussions on the Group's environment policies and compliance with relevant

laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group can be found

AR in the section headed “Environmental Policies” and “Compliance with Laws
and Regulations” of this Report of the Directors. An analysis of the Group's key
performance indicators are as follows:

KB Performance Highlights

PR R
“E—NUE —FB— )4 Year-on-Year
2019 2018 Growth
A E Contracted sales
BlRHE S (AR HEIC)  Contracted sales (RMB billion) 242.50 200.64 20.9%
AREHEHRSTER (T K)  Contracted GFA (sq.m.) 14,238,097 12,363,306 15.2%
TEME LR Key financial information
(AR ) (RMBbillion)
KA Revenue 151.03 115.80 30.4%
A Gross profit 50.80 39.53 28.5%
i S P SR i ) Profit attributable to shareholders 18.34 16.24 12.9%
i B G BR 0 Core net profit (Excluding effects,
JBORME RS ~ FEAEHE such as minority interests and
E3:20 valuation gains) 15.55 12.85 21.0%
FEMBILER Key financial ratios
EFI Gross profit margin 33.6% 34.1%
HREARH > AR Earnings per share (basic), RMB 3.13 2.78
FERHEAGOEF] > NR¥IT Core earnings per share (basic), RMB 2.66 2.20
TAGHRALR  £X Net debt-to-equity ratio,
at the end of year 51.0 52.9%
IR R Average cost of borrowing, per annum 4,54 4.55%
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DIVIDEND
The Board proposed the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.84 per share

for the year ended December 31, 2019 to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on Wednesday, June 24, 2020. The
proposed final dividend shall be paid on Friday, July 10, 2020 after approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the “AGM”). The proposed final dividend shall be declared in RMB
and paid in Hong Kong dollars. The final dividend payable in Hong Kong
dollars will be converted from RMB at the average middle rate of RMB to Hong
Kong dollars as announced by the People’s Bank of China for the period from
Monday, June 15, 2020 to Tuesday, June 16, 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the
Company to be its goal and endeavours to maintain a stable dividend policy to
achieve such goal. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board would take into account the Group’s results
of operations, earnings performance, cashflows, financial condition, future
prospects, as well as statutory, regulatory and debt covenant restrictions on the
payment of dividends, and other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
Whilst the Board will review from time to time for determination on proposed
dividend with the above factors taken into account, there can be no assurance
that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount for any given

period.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday,
June 10, 2020 to Tuesday, June 16, 2020 both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to
determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, June 16, 2020 all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, June 9, 2020.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, June 22,
2020 to Wednesday, June 24, 2020 (both days inclusive) during which period
no transfer of shares will be effected. To qualify for the proposed final dividend,
all transfers documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,

Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, June 19, 2020

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are

set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year is set out in

the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at December 31, 2019, the distributable reserve of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB1,866,789,000.
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DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year amounted to approximately
RMB64,639,000 (2018: approximately RMB49,056,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five years financial summary of the Group is set out on page 384 of this

annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2019, revenue attributable to the largest
customer of the Group amounted to approximately 0.18% of the total revenue
in the year and the five largest customers of the Group accounted for less than

0.40% of the Group's revenue in the year.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, purchases attributable to the largest
supplier of the Group amounted to approximately 4.09% of the total purchases
in the year and the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for less than

8.81% of the Group’s purchases in the year.

So far as the Board of the Company is aware, neither the Directors, their
associates nor any shareholder of the Company which owns more than 5% of the

Company’s share capital had any interest in these major customers and suppliers.

The Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and reliable suppliers
and contractors, in order to meet our own quality, safety, environmental and
product criteria. During the year ended December 31, 2019 and up to the date
of this report, the Group maintained good relationship with its suppliers and

contractors.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEE

Human resources are one of the greatest assets of the Group and the Group
regards the personal development of its employees as highly importance.
The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career path and
opportunities for advancement and improvement of their skills. In addition,
the Group has also adopted share option scheme and share award scheme to
recognize and reward the contribution of the employees to the growth and

development of the Group.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set out in note

30 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual

report are:

Executive Directors

Madam Wu Yajun (Chairperson)

Mr. Shao Mingxiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mzr. Zhao Yi

Mr. Li Chaojiang (Note 1)

Mr. Wang Guangjian (Note 2)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Frederick Peter Churchouse
Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek

Mr. Xiang Bing

Mr. Zeng Ming

Note 1: Mr. Li Chaojiang resigned as an executive director of the Company on March 24, 2020 due

to WOfk rearrangement .

Note2: Mr. Wang Guangjian was appointed as an executive director of the Company on March 24,
2020.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company, Mr. Shao
Mingxiao, Mr. Wang Guangjian, Mr. Xiang Bing and Mr. Chan Chi On, Derek
shall retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

Each of the directors of the Company has entered into a service contract with
the Company for a period of three years. None of the directors of the Company
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory

compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that the directors shall be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which may incur or sustain by them
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty or supposed duty provided that this indemnity shall not extend to
any mactter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said

persons.
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In addition, liability insurance for directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage for certain

legal actions against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the directors and those of the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2019 are set out in

note 44 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in Connected Transactions, no transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to which the Company, its parent company, its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries were a party and in which a director of the
Company or his connected entities had a material interest, either directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at December 31, 2019, save as disclosed under the section headed
“Compliance with Non-competition Undertakings by the Controlling
Shareholders and the Directors”, none of the directors of the Company are
considered to be in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either

directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
subsisted for the year ended December 31, 2019.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, at no time
during the year were there any rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were there any
such rights exercised by them. Also, there was no arrangement to which the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries is
a party that would enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.
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COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS
BY THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS AND THE
DIRECTORS

The Company has entered into the non-competition deed dated November 1,
2009 with the controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Charm Talent
International Limited (“Charm Talent”), Junson Development International
Limited (“Junson Development”), Silver Sea Assets Limited (“Silver Sea”),
Silverland Assets Limited (“Silverland”), Madam Wu Yajun (‘Madam Wu")
and Mr. Cai Kui (“Mr. Cai”) pursuant to which Madam Wu, Charm Talent
and Silver Sea have jointly and severally undertaken, and Mr. Cai, Junson
Development and Silverland have jointly and severally undertaken, not to
compete with the Group. Each of Madam Wu, Mr. Cai, Charm Talent, Junson
Development, Silver Sea and Silverland has also undertaken with the Company
to procure that any investment or commercial opportunity relating to any
property business or investment or management in the People’s Republic of
China that they or any of their respective affiliates identify or propose or that is
offered or presented to them by a third party, be first referred to the Company

in accordance with the terms of the non-competition deed.

On January 29, 2013, Mr. Cai notified the Company that he intended to
participate in the development and investment of a project site in Chengdu for
his personal investment purposes (the “New Opportunity A”). In accordance
with the terms of the Non-competition Deed, Mr. Cai has provided necessary
information on the New Opportunity A, including without limitation,
details and nature of the project site, its geographical location and amount of
proposed investment to the independent board committee of the Company
consisting of all the independent non-executive Directors (the “Independent
Board Committee”). A meeting of the Independent Board Committee was
held on February 5, 2013. Having taken into account, among other things,
the Company’s current investment strategy, the nature of the project, the
development and architectural constraints of the project site, growth and
earning potentials of the New Opportunity A, the independent non-executive
directors have unanimously resolved that it is in the interest of the Company

and the Shareholders to decline the New Opportunity A.
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On June 7, 2016, Madam Wu notified the Company that she intended to
participate in the development and investment of a medical project site in
Chongqing for her personal investment purposes (the “New Opportunity
B”). In accordance with the terms of the Non-competition Deed, Madam Wu
has provided necessary information on the New Opportunity B, including
without limitation, details and nature of the project site, its geographical
location and amount of proposed investment to the Independent Board
Committee. A meeting of the Independent Board Committee was held on
June 7, 2016. Having taken into account, among other things, the Company’s
current investment strategy, the relevant expertise and experience in medical
and healthcare area, the cooperation with a medical/healthcare institution,
growth and earning potentials of the New Opportunity B, the independent
non-executive Directors have unanimously resolved that it is in the interest of

the Company and the Shareholders to decline the New Opportunity B.

In March 2020, the Company has received an annual declaration from each of
the controlling shareholders of the Company and the Directors in respect of their
respective compliance with the non-competition undertakings as at December
31, 2019. The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the said
declaration and are of the view that each of the controlling shareholders of the
Company and the Directors has complied with their respective non-competition

undertakings during the year ended December 31, 2019.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On January 25, 2018 the Company as borrower entered into a facility agreement
(the “Facility Agreement”) with a syndicate of banks pursuant to which a 5-year
term loan facility in the principal amount of up to HKD10,209,000,000 (the
“Facility”) was made available to the Company on the terms and conditions

stated therein.
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It is provided in the Facility Agreements, among other things, that an event of
default will occur if the following shareholders of the Company, the Wu Family
Trust, the Cai Family Trust, Charm Talent and Junson Development cease to
collectively maintain (directly or indirectly) not less than 51% of the entire
beneficial shareholding interest in the Company. If an event of default under
the Facility Agreements occurs, the lending bank or the agent acting for the
lending banks may, and shall if so directed by two-thirds of the lending banks,
terminate the Facility and/or declare that all or part of the loans made under
the Facility together with accrued interest and all other amounts accrued or

outstanding under the Facility Agreements be immediately due and payable.

Other than as disclosed above, there are no other events which are required to be

disclosed by the Company under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

De minimis Connected Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2019, certain directors and their close
family members, and companies controlled by certain Directors and/or their
close family members entered into transactions with the Group which are
disclosed in note 45 (c) and (d) “Related party transactions” to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Such transactions constituted de minimis
connected transactions of the Company which were exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as above, the other related party transactions which were carried out by
the Group during the year ended December 31, 2019, did not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” (as

the case may be) in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Yk Sl it

ARNFER ZFFTIE S —A— FRAE TR
Rt ® o FHE A R A DR 104 AR -
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The Company’s share option scheme was adopted on November 1, 2009. The
Scheme was effected for 10 years from the adoption date. The Scheme was
expired on October 31, 2019. No further Options will be granted under the
Scheme but in respect of all Options which remain exercisable on such date, the

provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect.

WEEFNAFEL A =R R ——4E—
A+tH - ZZ——FNAZ T+ NHRZF—
POAE+—AMWH - A% AR B TR
B o ) A T R B A R T R A
10,600,000 ~ 46,000,000 ~ 150,000,000 5
J2110,000,000 B A7 1 B AL HE - S0 -

On December 23, 2009, January 17, 2011, September 28, 2011 and November
4, 2014, the Company granted options to subscribe for a total of 10,600,000
shares, 46,000,000 shares, 150,000,000 shares and 110,000,000 shares under
the Option Scheme to certain directors and employees of the Company, with the

following details:

(1) #HH (1) Directors
RAER BN
BN frffw  FZAZT—H
—A—H 4 (G| AT
Trbi s () WA Number of share
4 el R AH Exercise price Outstandingat  options exercised Outstanding at
Name Capacity Date of grant (HK$)  January 1,2019 during the year  December 31, 2019
(1) (Hit2)
(Note 1) (Note2)
L RN “E—— AT AH 828 23,648,000 (15,375,500) 8272,500
Shao Mingxiao Beneficial Owner ~ September 28, 2011
ZF—iEt—AlH 937 4,400,000 - 4,400,000
November 4, 2014
it 52 7D N S e NI 937 1,650,000 (750,000) 900,000
Zhao Yi Beneficial Owner ~ November 4, 2014
L 52 7D NI S e I 937 1,650,000 (750,000) 900,000
(R=RZEE
ZHZTMARHE)
Li Chaojiang Beneficial Owner ~ November 4, 2014
(resigned on
March 24, 2020)
E% BN ZZ—FRAZTAR 8.28 400,000 - 400,000
Chan Chi On, Derek Beneficial Owner ~ September 28, 2011
B BN ZZ—FRAZTARH 8.8 240,000 - 240,000
Zeng Ming Beneficial Owner ~ September 28, 2011

Longfor Group Holdings Limited e & & @ 1= & B R 2 7
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RASER
“EhAE Triisy “E A
—~A—H TR e R +ZAZ+—H
Tt WA Number of share WAL
A g4 (#70) Outstanding at options exercised Outstanding at
Date of grant Capacity Exercise price (HKS$) January 1, 2019 during the year December 31, 2019
(Hf7t1) (Hzt2)
(Note 1) (Note 2)
“F——F—H+tH BiHAA 12.528 5,257,000 (2,387,500) 2,869,500
January 17, 2011 Beneficial Owner
“EREAASEAR EEEAA 8.28 24,912,500 (10,358,500) 14,554,000
September 28, 2011 Beneficial Owner
“F—NEt—AmH HHAA 9.37 48,744,000 (15,017,500) 33,726,500
November 4, 2014 Beneficial Owner
B & Notes:
1 B —EFNFE+ A T ZH L2 1 As for the share option granted on December 23, 2009, the closing price of the

HEHE » 5 R — I 0 S 2
eI . 261 T - BEMERT =% %
e e L et e S
FHZHAZHEREZZ—UFET A
TR AT - AT 25 -

B —F——F—H A2k
THE > J52 L R HE AT — PO R W 5 T 2 i
Wi F512.88 W6 00 o MEMCMERT i —F ——
Moo ZF AR SRR 2R
i B o S [ S S £ I AN E
PUHAAT AL - BRI AT 259 -

PR —F——F LA =N H R 2 B
THE > J52 L I R HE AT — PO R W 5 T 2 i
i 28171570 o Forpi T B I e S A
10,000,000 R HEMHE » 7708 IR 25 —F —
LERA T ABE F —4FRA -+
LH o HA BT T =5 =F
=IO B ZERNFLH S
TABZEZZ - —F A=+ LHAMY
A ATRE LB Al 5 10% ~ 30% ~ 30%
J30% ©

shares on the SEHK immediately before the date on which the options were granted
was HK$8.26. The options are exercisable in 4 tranches of 25% each, from 23
December 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 to 22 December 2019.

As for the share option granted on January 17, 2011, the closing price of the shares
on the SEHK immediately before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$12.88. The options are exercisable in 4 tranches of 25% each, from 17 January
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 to 16 January 2021.

As for the share option granted on September 28, 2011, the closing price of the
shares on the SEHK immediately before the date on which the options were granted
was HK$8.17. The exercisable period for 10,000,000 share options granted to Mr.
Shao Mingxiao is from September 28, 2017 to September 27, 2021. The remaining
options are exercisable in 4 tranches from 28 September 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016
to 27 September 2021, the exercisable percentage is 10%, 30%, 30% and 30%

respectively.
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As for the share option granted on November 4, 2014, the closing price of the
shares on the SEHK immediately before the date on which the options were granted
was HK$9.37. The options are exercisable in 5 tranches from 4 November 2015,
2016, 2017, 2018, 2019 to 3 November 2024, the exercisable percentage is 10%,
15%, 20%, 25% and 30% respectively.

The weighted average closing price per share immediately before the dates on which

the option were exercised was HK$30.0098.

A summary of the principal terms of the Option Scheme (the “Scheme”)

is set out as follow:

00

(ii)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the Participants (defined
in paragraph (ii) below) who have been granted Options under the
Scheme to subscribe for shares with the opportunity to acquire
share interests in the Company and to encourage Participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company and the benefit

of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Who may join

Pursuant to the Scheme, the Board may, at their discretion, invite
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors) and employees of any
member of the Group and any advisers, consultants, distributors,
contractors, contract manufacturers, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners, joint venture business partners, service providers
of any member of the Group who the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group (the

“Participants”) to participate in the Scheme.
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Total number of shares available for issue under the Scheme

Initially the maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all Options to be granted under the Scheme or any other
option schemes adopted by the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the aggregate of the shares in issue on the date of approval of the
Scheme. The lapsed share options are excluded when calculating
the 10% limit.

A total number of 66,262,500 shares, representing 1.11% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this report, are

available for issue under the Option Scheme.

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted pursuant to the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company to each
Participant in any 12-month period up to and including the date
of grant of the Options shall not exceed 1% of the total number of

shares in issue.

Time of exercise of the Options

The period within which the Options must be exercised will be
specified by the Company at the time of grant. This period must

expire no later than 10 years from the relevant date of grant.

Payment on acceptance of Option offer

HK$1.00 is payable by the Participant to the Company on

acceptance of the Option offered as consideration for the grant.
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(vii) Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price per share under the Scheme is a price
determined by the Board and notified to each Participant and shall
be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the SEHK on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotations sheets issued by the SEHK for the five SEHK
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of a share on the date of grant.

(viii) Remaining life of the Scheme

The Scheme was expired on October 31, 2019. No further Options
will be granted under the Scheme but in respect of all Options
which remain exercisable on such date, the provisions of the

Scheme shall remain in full force and effect.

RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

To ensure long-term competitiveness of the Group, and encourage employees
for their sustained input and effectiveness, the Board of the Company resolved
to adopt a restricted share award scheme (the “Award Scheme”) on October 28,
2014 (the “Adoption Date”). Unless sooner terminated by the Board, the Award
Scheme shall be effective from the Adoption Date and shall continue in full force
and effect for a term of 8 years. According to the Award Scheme, the Company
has established a trust for the employees (the “Trust”), trustee can purchased
shares up to 3% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption
Date from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust
for the relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the relevant

selected employees.

From the Adoption Date to December 31, 2019, the Company had through
the trustee purchased total 123,810,107 shares from the market, representing
2.275% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date,
25,158,767 shares of which were purchased in the year ended December 31,
2019 at an aggregate consideration of HK$676,427,631 (including transaction

Costs).

From the Adoption Date to December 31, 2019, there were accumulated
114,375,000 Shares were granted to Selected Employees and there were
accumulated 16,318,530 shares vested to Selected Employees.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests

As at December 31, 2019, the interests of the directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register which were
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”")
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the SEHK (the “Listing Rules”) were as follows:

i AA TR (HA) Interest in the Company (long position)
REF—NE
FoRZt—H
AR IS
WATE I
TR B e 4 Approximate %
ZHELE of interest in
Liilie G Interest in the Company
HRLA B /R EE Number of underlying as at
Name of director Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares shares December 31, 2019
(Ft3E3)
(Note 3)
SR TPEHIEE R AR (FEEL) 2,622,438,201 - 43.831%
Wu Yajun Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)
AR A -85 2N 14,267,154 12,672,500 0.450%
Shao Mingxiao Beneficial Owner
fartZ A (fzk2) 9,230,000 - 0.154%
Beneficial of a trust (Note 2)
ik 8% 2PN 332,344 900,000 0.021%
Zhao Yi Beneficial Owner
fartZa A (fik2) 4,715,000 - 0.079%
Beneficial of a trust (Note 2)
7"%@ iI ot LN 721,993 900,000 0.027%
CRERCRE Beneficial Owner
#H Jrﬂl HEHE) fartZa A (fik2) 2,585,000 - 0.043%
Li Chaojiang Beneficial of a trust (Note 2)
(resigned on
March 24, 2020)
HATE ¥k 2PN 445,000 - 0.007%
Frederick Peter Churchouse Beneficial Owner
k% - E7E 2PN - 400,000 0.007%
Chan Chi On, Derek Beneficial Owner
i 72 2N 160,000 240,000 0.007%
Zeng Ming Beneficial Owner
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Jopi Notes:

1 #%5%2,622,438,20 L M3 i Charm Talent 1
International Limited ([ Charm Talent]) %
£ Charm Talenc® 84T A R HSBC
International Trustee Limited (| HSBC International
Trustee ]) PLXTHAE REMY 5256 A\ 5 3 45 42 B
Ao REF LA (MR ]) SRS XTHRE
HR o N R L (T8 L)) RESE > B
M B L ERGE B Charm Talenc 95 5t 4+
M8 R AT Charm Talene FITHEA A2 A By 10 1%
TEHE o i S LA HERERIAT M Charm Talent T
A AN R B B SR > AR GO R & M
B FEXVE > RA LB Charm Talent T
192,622,438 201 LB fr A HE 4 © SR A
AR E IR A o Sl AT o {1 A £

2 %x%%luﬁgﬂﬁﬁﬂﬂDragon Dynasty Asset Limited 2
(I'Dragon Dynasty]) ERE A - Dragon
Dynastyﬁ‘]%%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬂiﬂﬂHSBC Trustee (HK)
Limited ([ HSBC (HK) Trustee ) A Dragon Dynasty
Share Award TrustZ L A B R EHA
Dragon Dynasty Share Award Truselit ~ % — P04
+H =+ /\HPAHSBCHK) TrusteelF 5% 3E ANk
37 ° Dragon Dynasty Share Award Trust 57 % ${5
T T4 2 B ) B B PR B 5
AT B0 2 5 B o

3 R T 2 2 AR B O B ) 8 4 ] R % 3
B3 O PR

These 2,622,438,201 shares are held by Charm Talent International Limited (“Charm
Talent”). The entire issued share capital of Charm Talent is indirectly wholly-owned by
HSBC International Trustee Limited (‘HSBC International Trustee”) as the trustee of the
XTH Trust. Madam Wu Yajun (‘Madam Wu”) has received an undertaking from Madam
Cai Xinyi (‘Madam Cai”), the settlor of the XTH Trust, pursuant to which Madam Cai
has undertaken to procure Charm Talent to exercise the voting rights of the shares held by
Charm Talent in accordance with Madam Wu's instructions. As Madam Wu is entitled to
control the exercise of the voting power of the shares held by Charm Talent, Madam Wu is
taken to be interested in the 2,622,438,201 shares held by Charm Talent pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO. Madam Wu does not have personal interest in the Shares.

Such number of shares are held on trust by Dragon Dynasty Asset Limited (“Dragon
Dynasty”). The entire issued share capital of Dragon Dynasty is wholly-owned by HSBC
Trustee (HK) Limited (‘HSBC (HK) Trustee”) as the trustee of the Dragon Dynasty Share
Award Trust. The Dragon Dynasty Share Award Trust was set up on October 28, 2014 with
HSBC (HK) Trustee acting as the trustee thereof. The beneficiary objects of the Dragon
Dynasty Share Award Trust are certain selected employees and directors of the Group as

participants of the Restricted Share Award Schemes adopted by the Company.

The relevant directors was granted options to subscribe for such number of shares under the

Option Scheme.

b bC s &4 ZF—UET =+ — Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2019, none of the Directors or chief
H o> B KRN F EEATEABRAN T executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interests or short
afFC A o R 0 O AR O I B MR 191 56 positions in the shares of the Company, underlying shares or debentures of the

352 HLE R A 2 ) AF % RO AV E R Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the register which
SRR 4 A 2 S ) 2B RN A w) BT A8 i 2 Tk were required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
3~ AR BRI AR RE RS 2 M4 IR otherwise notified to the Company and the SEHK pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at December 31, 2019, the interests of persons, other than the directors or
chief executive of the Company in the shares and the underlying shares of the
Company representing 5% or more of the nominal value of shares comprised in
the relevant share capital of the Company as recorded in the register kept by the

Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

AARAT IR (R Interest in the Company (long position)
Sy RS
+~H =+—H
A FRE RS
WEATE 4 1
of interest
9 5 8 H in the Company
JBe s k% By /e Number of as at
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares  December 31, 2019
HSBC International Trustee ZREN (BFEEL ~ 2J43) 4,012,965,105 67.072%
Trustee (Notes 1, 2 and 3)
Charm Talent BRCEEA A (FEE) 2,622,438,201 43.831%
Registered owner (Note 1)
A G TCAIEA (B EEL) 2,622,438,201 43.831%
Madam Cai Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 1)
Silver Sea ST 2 ks (BaEL) 2,622,438,201 43.831%
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 1)
B 2HEME AR (Bf5E2) 1,394,941,904 23.315%
Cai Kui Founder of a discretionary trust (Note 2)
Junson Development HROHEA A (FHEE2) 1,394,941,904 23.315%
Registered owner (Note 2)
Silverland Assets Limited ST 2 R (FiE2) 1,394,941,904 23.315%
(“Silverland”) Interest of controlled corporation (Note 2)
Jumbomax Investments Limited ZREREE 2 RS (M sE4) 350,130,000 5.852%
Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)
SOLIE ZHERIEM 2 4R (BEd) 350,130,000 5.852%
Woo Kwong Ching, Peter Interest of controlled corporation (Note 4)
FREEA P fl 2 HE4s (B ak4) 350,130,000 5.852%

Pao Pui Yung, Bessie

Interest of spouse (Note 4)
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M4 Charm Talenc SR AYER] - %582,622,438,201
MM £ B Charm Talent# 47 © Charm Talenc i 2 #B
CEEATIRAS i Silver Sea? EHEAT » TiSilver Sealld
AT EEATIRA I BT HSBC International Trusteeld
XTHfE M Z i NS R G - XTHE it
JA20184F 10 22 H i 5 & H-AF Fy3r A L HSBC
International TrusteelE 532 7B AR I —JH 2 HES
G o MRIRRE S M BB XVES - Bk (E R
XTHIEFERAIIEN) » B A Charm Talenchi A
1%2,622,438,201 e B0 T 7 A

RIEAM A —F— U~ 4 — AR 3
&G RHER EZ%1,394,941,9045&%%:!\93]\.111500
Development# 4 © Junson Developmenc i T 5
TTREAS B Silverland & EHEA » TiSilverland 2 HFE
AT AR B HSBC International Trustee BAERIREK
AR Z A B I 2GR  HREBEFETR
REEENEAR+— BB AR AR
HSBC International Trusceeff: 532 56 A G —IH
R L o MR IR R BRI XVl 5%
£ (ME BB IR AR RE AT BLAEBEA H Junson
Developmentﬁ:ﬁﬁg1,394,941,904%5&%5@@%& °

WA A = F—UE— A PR BRI
FHER > HSBC International Trustee A3 56 A S
PHAA T 5 5CHREA75,000 B IEEHE - %55 (5 at 2
XTHIRFE R RFIRAFRE B =T

i3/ QER:UD e Sl S E AN ERUL £ ok 8 <y
R > #%%350,130,000 BB 8% Jumbomax
Investments Limited 75 8 i £ [H] 42 & /A 71 1)
TREHERS o S 1F e A R 2 4 v T 1 45
#%55350,130,000 B3 P HEA RGBS A &
1 3% 88 T IR M i I 7% 5 350,130,000 MR JE £33+
it o

Notes:

According to the information provided by Charm Talent, these 2,622,438,201 shares are
held by Charm Talent. The entire issued share capital of Charm Talent is wholly owned
by Silver Sea, the entire issued share capital of which is in turn wholly-owned by HSBC
International Trustee as the trustee of the XTH Trust. The XTH Trust is a discretionary
trust set up by Madam Cai Xinyi as settlor and HSBC International Trustee as trustee on
October 22, 2018. Madam Cai as founder of the XTH Trust is taken to be interested in the
2,622,438,201 shares held by Charm Talent pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

According to the disclosure of interests filing submitted (dated January 21, 2019), these
1,394,941,904 shares are held by Junson Development. The entire issued share capital of
Junson Development is wholly owned by Silverland, the entire issued share capital of which
is in turn wholly-owned by HSBC International Trustee as the trustee of the Cai Family
Trust. The Cai Family Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. Cai as settlor and HSBC
International Trustee as trustee on June 11, 2008. Mr. Cai as founder of the Cai Family
Trust is taken to be interested in the 1,394,941,904 shares held by Junson Development
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

According to the disclosure of interest filing submitted (dated January 16, 2019), these
75,000 shares are held by HSBC International Trustee as trustee of several other trusts

which are independent third parties of XTH Trust and Cai Family Trust.

According to the latest disclosure of interests filing submitted (dated January 8, 2016),
these 350,130,000 shares represent the corporate interest of Jumbomax Investments
Limited through a number of its wholly owned subsidiaries. Mr. Woo Kwong Ching, Peter
is interested in these 350,130,000 shares through the interest of corporation controlled by
him while Ms. Pao Pui Yung, Bessie is interested in these 350,130,000 shares through the

interest of spouse.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

During the year, the trustee of the Restricted Share Award Scheme purchased on
the SEHK a total of 25,158,767 shares at a total consideration of approximately
HK$676,427,631 pursuant to the terms of the trust deed under the Restricted
Share Award Scheme granted on October 28, 2014. Other than the aforesaid,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold, or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association, or the law of Cayman Islands being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated under which would oblige the Company to offer new

shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholder.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is subject to a number of laws and regulations concerning overall
environmental protection, impact to the environment, noise pollution and

environmental protection for development projects.

We place high emphasis on complying with relevant environmental laws and
regulations. We require our own staff and construction contractors to comply
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to the quality of construction
including environmental, labour, social and safety regulations, as well as our
own standards and specifications. Details please refer to Environmental, Social

and Governance Report.

We believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with applicable

environmental laws and regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the

applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in

the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this report, the directors confirm
that the Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the above paragraphs headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Share Award Schemes” in this section, no equity-linked agreements were

entered into during the year and subsisted at the end of the year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution for the reappointment of Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

For and on behalf of the Board

Wu Yajun

Chairperson

Hong Kong, March 24, 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

5 2]

TO THE MEMBERS OF LONGFOR GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Longfor Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 138 to 383, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2019, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(‘HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these mactters.
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRAMT T I 0 i L o] 7 2 O

Valuation of investment properties

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, combined with the management
judgments associated with determining the fair value.

The investment properties of the Group mainly comprise
shopping malls and apartments located in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”). As disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements, the investment properties are carried at
RMB130,804 million as at December 31, 2019, which represents
20% of the Group’s total assets. A fair value gain upon transfer
to investment properties of RMB141 million and a change in
fair value of investment properties of RMB3,593 million were
recognised in profit or loss for the year then ended.

All of the Group’s investment properties are stated at fair
value based on valuations performed by independent qualified
professional valuers (the “Valuers”) and directors. Details of the
valuation techniques and key inputs used in the valuations are
disclosed in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
The valuations are dependent on certain key inputs that involve
management judgments, including term yield, reversionary yield
and reversionary rental for completed investment properties,
gross development value, developer’s profit and discount rate for
investment properties under development.
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Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the investment
properties included:

G Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the Valuers and directors;

o Obtaining an understanding from the Valuers and directors
about the valuation methodology, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted, critical
judgment on key inputs and data used in the valuation and
how the Valuers and directors justify the methodology and
assumptions used; and

G Assessing the reasonableness of the key inputs and source
data used in the valuations by the management and the
Valuers by comparing them, on a sample basis, to rentals
and prices for similar neighbourhood properties.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Valuation of properties held for development, properties under development for sales and properties held for sales under

inventories of properties

We identified the valuation of the Group’s properties held for
development (the “PFD”), properties under development for sales
(the “PUD”) and properties held for sales (the “PES”) (collectively
referred to as the “Properties”) as a key audit matter due to the
management judgments involved in the determination of the net
realisable value (the “NRV”) of the Properties and the estimation
of future costs to completion of the Properties, where applicable.

The Group’s PFD of RMB11,317 million, PUD of RMB296,504
million and PES of RMB23,571 million are situated in the PRC
as at December 31, 2019. As set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the Group determined
the NRV of the Properties by reference to the estimated market
prices and estimated future costs to completion, if applicable,
of the Properties, which takes into account a number of factors
including the recent prices of similar property types in the
same project or by similar properties, and the prevailing and
forecasted real estate market conditions in the PRC. Based on the
management estimation of the NRV of the Properties, no write-
downs were considered to be necessary. Besides, as set out in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the management
estimated the future cost to completion of the Properties, where
applicable, by reference to the actual development cost of the
Group’s completed projects, adjusted by certain current market
data.

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of the Properties
included:

G Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated future costs
to completion of the Properties, where applicable, on a
sample basis, by comparing it to the actual development
cost of similar completed properties of the Group and
comparing the adjustments made by the management to
current market data;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the NRV of the Properties,
on a sample basis, estimated by the management by
comparing the estimated market price that derive the
NRV to the market prices achieved in the same projects
or comparable properties, based on our knowledge of the
Group's business and the PRC real estate industry; and

J Assessing the accuracy of the estimation of the market
price that derive the NRV and future cost to completion of
the Properties by comparing the previous estimation to the
actual amounts.

WA B T H AR B RASE ~ BRI b fr 54 S B AR Hh S o S e i

HREE BEBNTHERRYE (FRERREYE]) - #REbH
e (TR PR EYR]) RAHEREYE (REREYE))

WM RAEE THA (AR 9 B A8 R 9 1 - TPt %
SRS B8 A % RIS A o 2RO

WoF—HEF A=+ —H > EEERHE N ESEDES
AR¥11 31780 - R RFEYER NRH296,504 F B0 R
FrfE B R NR#23 5ST1H BT » A& MBS R4 By
o R GRS YN T B BUTER > B EE
YIZERAG R T (RS B a2 S R MR TR A A (f4) »
FERZIERNE IR — T B Y 2SR S U 2 i
BAMERS > DA AT A TR Y B S TR DL o AR B i
A SR EAOME > S A B - sEAh -
AWM NE4 Brs - EHEA N &4 H T 5 RIE H IR
BHEEAAS (B T8 A T Bt T %) » Rk a5
M RA A (A -

B BA B % 5 A A5 (PRI P B4

o BN BAEBBIC 5E LY T IR B A B P i
8T I S MR AT L B R AT LU o A S A2 Y E R
AR AA (W) 16 B S

o ARYRIRAME AR I LT Kb B s E AT M A - R
A5 T S (P 1 5T T 355 (A B ) T I T HE
H i i S AR AT LU - SN %5 WS mh wT S B R &
5 Je

o BB SRR ELE PR BUET L FPA515 ] BB

L i s I 353 16 A A S JRL 2% 68 ) 38 19 AR B AS (1) HEE i
£

4 3 Annual Report 2019

131 I



M S A% B e At

Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter

Il A 2 O

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Accuracy of land appreciation tax calculations

We identified the accuracy of land appreciation tax (‘LAT")
calculations in the PRC as a key audit matter since significant
judgment is required in estimating the amount of LAT to be paid
by the Group within each of the property development projects.

LAT is levied on properties developed by the Group for sale on
the PRC. As disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, LAT provision in current year amounting to
RMB10,325 million and overprovision in prior years amounting
to RMBG636 million were recognised in profit or loss for the
year ended December 31, 2019. As disclosed in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements, LAT is calculated at progressive
rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures. However, the LAT calculation for the year will not
be finalised until the appreciation value of the whole property
project is confirmed with local tax authorities.
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Our procedures in relation to the accuracy of LAT calculations
included:

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the estimated sales
revenue and the related deductible amounts used in the
LAT calculations;

. Working with internal PRC tax specialists to assess the
accuracy of the land appreciation amount calculations for
each of the property development projects, and to assess
the appropriateness of the LAT rate used for each of the
property development projects by comparing it to the LAT
rate announced by the State Administration of Taxation in
the PRC; and

o Evaluating the judgments applied by the management in
estimating the amount of land appreciation and LAT rate
by comparing their estimates made in previous years to
actual results as well as current year’s estimates.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Revenue recognised from sales of properties

We identified revenue recognised from sales of properties as a key
audit matter as it is quantitatively significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
there are judgments involved in determining the appropriate
point at which to recognise revenue from sales of properties and
whether the Group should recognise the revenue from sales of
properties over time or at a point in time.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control” of the
properties underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customers as disclosed in note 3 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to the consolidated financial
statements. Control of the properties may be transferred over time
or at a point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time
when the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date. The Group
recognised revenue of RMB120,540 million and RMB20,253
million from sales of properties at a point in time and over time
respectively for the year ended December 31, 2019 as disclosed in
note 5(c) to the consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to the appropriate point at which to
recognise revenue from sales of properties by the Group included:

o Evaluating the terms set out in the relevant contracts, on a
sample basis, to assess whether the control of the properties
underlying the particular performance obligations is
transferred to the customers over time or at a point in time;

o Assessing management’s process and control over the
appropriate point in time at which revenue from sales of
properties is recognised and whether the Group should
recognise the revenue from sales of properties over time or
at a point in time; and

G Assessing the enforceability right to payment by obtaining
legal opinion from the Group’s external legal counsel
regarding the compliance of the relevant contracts to
relevant local laws.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

U Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

U Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s

report is Li Man Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 24, 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

BE-Z-NETAZ—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2019

! “FE —FNAE
NOTES 2019 2018

ANRETH  ARKTT
RMB'000  RMB’000

A Revenue 5 151,026,432 115,798,460
BB A Cost of sales (100,229,340)  (76,269,820)
EH Gross profit 50,797,092 39,528,640
oAbl A Other income 6 1,166,687 1,249,249
HoAbk 5 K Es1R Other gains and losses 7 (233,730) (285,873)
HEAFEH Lease liability charges (576,455) —
Fair value gain upon transfer to investment
WL By PO WA AR 7 properties 141,256 1,158,861
BEY N T Change in fair value of investment properties 3,593,396 3,542,993
Change in fair value of other derivative financial

HAbATAE 4Rl TN instruments 353,110 310,350
B8 BT R B = Selling and marketing expenses (4,034,477)  (3,193,177)
FTHB Administrative expenses (6,520,928)  (5,396,785)
il G LA Finance costs 8 (76,759) (74,560)
JREA A i 24 Share of results of associates 585,822 189,220
e A B EEE Share of results of joint ventures 766,200 454,084
I o i3 ) Profit before taxation 45,961,214 37,483,002
P AR B Income tax expense 9 (19,408,749)  (16,592,313)
A B i A Profit for the year 42 26,552,465 20,890,689
DA R A - Profit attributable to:

/NEIE7 2N Owners of the Company 18,336,577 16,236,870

I b 5 Non-controlling interests 8,215,888 4,653,819

26,552,465 20,890,689
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income

REZZ—JUEF A=, —HILFE

For the year ended December 31, 2019

g B T NE
NOTES 2019 2018
ANB¥TT ANR¥TT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A JE i A1 Profit for the year 26,552,465 20,890,689
Hih 2wk (BA37) - Other comprehensive income (expense):
VigN % iy kvl Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
RO TE A AL 2 T AR B Fair value gain on investment in unlisted
J EiiEs TRBE 2 AT E e equity instruments at fair value through
other comprehensive income — 281,193
HEHM AR A ER w2 A © Items thar may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
EFph TR A B 45 Net fair value gain on hedging instruments 500,072 111,832
A RN B LA Gain on hedging instruments reclassified
FEAE AR to profit or loss (340,525) (648,760)
159,547 (536,928)
A AT Wi AR AR Total comprehensive income for the year 26,712,012 20,634,954
DA B AL 2 T i 45 AR R Total comprehensive income attributable to:
I /NEIES XN Owners of the Company 18,496,124 15,981,135
TR 45 Non-controlling interests 8,215,888 4,653,819
26,712,012 20,634,954
BHREAH (NR¥TT) Barnings per share, in RMB
HA Basic 11 3.13 2.78
faald Diluted 11 3.07 2.73

4 3 Annual Report 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE-ZF—-E+"HAZ+—H
At December 31, 2019

o R JUE ZEF N
NOTES 2019 2018
AREFL AR TIL
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
B G NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Eid - L/E Investment properties 12 130,804,011 84,409,540
Wiz - R Kk p Property, plant and equipment 13 1,982,193 3,365,689
RN Prepaid lease payments — 16,518,641
ff At e Right-of-use assets 14 535,160 —
& s R Land use rights 14 — 414,360
Y G Intangible assets 66,710 —
i k= /NilibE £ Interests in associates 15 8,235,167 7,571,982
R BN Interests in joint ventures 16 6,570,314 7,365,020
AR AR A 2T s R SS TR Equity instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 17 1,420,202 734,265
AR A T I RERY O (R 45 Deposits paid for acquisition of land use rights — 9,968,487
4T H Derivative financial instruments 29 644,113 313,611
IR IE Deferred taxation assets 31 6,725,593 4,192,962
156,983,463 134,854,557
HEEE CURRENT ASSETS
LE YA Inventories of properties 18 331,391,372 246,562,069
HAbfr & Other inventories 19 581,456 826,649
AR AR RSN O HE 5 Deposits paid for acquisition of properties held
for development 5,200,886 —
JRE ISR B FL At RS i Accounts and other receivables, deposits
154 S FEAT FE and prepayments 20 28,691,884 22,573,317
JRE e JE 2 T e i U Amounts due from non-controlling interests 21 43,881,834 32,888,617
JRE BB 5 ) BRI Amounts due from associates 21 9,070,311 6,876,577
N A 3R IE Amounts due from joint ventures 21 10,450,049 12,835,904
AR e S Taxation recoverable 4,591,727 4,202,728
e FER AR 2 S g E Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 17 450,000 —
BRI TAE K Pledged bank deposits 22 169,491 180,529
SRATHR R KB & Bank balances and cash 22 60,782,375 45,083,066
495,261,385 372,029,456
E AR CURRENT LIABILITIES
JRE AT MR TEL J B A5 S Accounts and bills payables, other payables
b R4 2R K T and accrued charges 23 91,973,602 (2,233,952
FRIARE Contract liabilities 24 155,155,691 113,439,818
JREARH JE 2 i 4 BOH Amounts due to non-controlling interests 25 27,729,998 24,527,983
JREASY B A i sk D Amounts due to associates 25 6,990,797 8,945,018
AT A8 3R IE Amounts due to joint ventures 25 8,845,022 7,173,139
JEATBIIE Taxation payable 28,288,145 21,611,655
MEAE Lease liabilities 26 1,009,463 —
AT BB AE K — — R EIH Bank and other borrowings — due within
one year 27 13,927,462 11,743,175
HAo A 4R T A Other derivative financial instruments 27 — 168,944
333,920,180 249,843,684
VLB A NET CURRENT ASSETS 161,341,205 122,185,772
WEE BB AR TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 318,324,668 257,040,329
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REFUEFZH=Z+—H
At December 31, 2019

g “FE R -NE
NOTES 2019 2018
ANR#TFL ARETIL
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
EA K fkff CAPITAL AND RESERVES

A Share capital 30 520,725 516,783
Tttt Reserves 30 93,435,586 81,144,649
NGk ZEPN) S Equity attributable to owners of the Company 93,956,311 81,661,432
I b 5 Non-controlling interests 72,721,445 59,156,696
T i 4 TOTAL EQUITY 166,677,756 140,818,128

i E A NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEAR Lease liabilities 26 10,246,579 —
SRAT T HAAE B — —4FAA 2 Bank and other borrowings — due after one year 27 117,378,159 99,456,124
s — — R R Senior notes — due after one year 28 14,693,411 8,620,623
i am TR Derivative financial instruments 29 68,883 176,765
HAATA: Al TR Other derivative financial instruments 27 14,780 221,728
AR Aol T A £ Deferred taxation liabilities 31 9,245,100 7,746,961
151,646,912 116,222,201
318,324,668 257,040,329

138 £383 H X5 A MBS M E R
H =410 BT S e MR HET 5 Sl L

TARREEE

R

WU Yajun
i
DIRECTOR

R CRE=

on its behalf by:

Ak
ZHAOYi
HH
DIRECTOR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 138 to 383 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 24, 2020 and are signed
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HEBeng
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-Z-NETAZ—HILEE
For the year ended December 31, 2019

“FE e SV
2019 2018
ANBYFE  ARKTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEinm OPERATING ACTIVITIES
FRBLRTE A Profit before taxation 45,961,214 37,483,002
DA% Adjustments for:

B R A Finance costs 76,759 74,560

HEAEER Lease liability charges 576,455 -

W% - B Rt Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 130,758 202,438

T Depreciation of right-of-use assets 11,563 -

5 R 6 Amortisation of land use rights — 20,247

WA RGN TG Fair value gain upon transfer to investment properties (141,256) (1,158,861)

Eva-L/E UNIEIEE - ) Change in fair value of investment properties (3,593,396) (3,542,993)

it &M TR A TS Change in fair value of derivative financial instruments (353,110) (310,350)

JRE A A R 2458 Share of results of associates (585,822) (189,220)

JERG A B A Shate of results of joint ventures (766,200) (454,084)

HEWE - BB R EE Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,873 409

AR Interest income (709,372) (572,183)

EE 50 e 8 I A Net exchange losses 313,424 804,625

AR AR A 4 Dividend income from equity instrument at fair

(g TE AR B IA value through other comprehensive income — (1,000)

LB A B BB 5 3 B S Share-based payments expenses 300,493 311,112

b | B RE i) s Loss on early redemption of senior notes — 110,791
HEES BN SR A T E Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 41,226,383 32,778,493
AR () B> (Increase) decrease in inventories of properties (28,283,441) 24,361,946
HAbf R () Decrease (increase) in other inventoties 245,193 (27,728)
AR AR B R ZE M O AT A1 Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of

properties held for development (16,469,398) (14,682,163)
JRE ST AR e A B M Increase in accounts and other receivables,

s RS IRR deposits and prepayments (5,260,735) (6,400,436)
Ao e B B A 5248 Increase in accounts and bills payables,

LA R Ao T HE T P 2 other payables and accrued charges 15,515,380 17,455,313
AHBER Increase in contract liabilities 41,715,873 19,953,160
BEELNB S Cash from operations 48,689,255 73,438,585
RANLEE YN s The People’s Republic of China income tax paid (14,412,853)  (10,246,985)
AR AR FH NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 34,276,402 63,191,600
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HEBlehaR
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REZZ—JUEF A=, —HILFE
For the year ended December 31, 2019

Mt RN —F—
NOTE 2019 2018
ANB¥ T  ARKTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BREE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
TR E R Additions to prepaid lease payments —  (58,936,024)
BEWER Additions to investment properties (15,929,829) (6,277,260)
S0 IR 2 ) B R R £ Acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition
of subsidiaries 32 (3,655,318) (5,808,058)
LIS RSB A ) E Consideration paid for acquisition of assets and
AFLARIE liabilities through acquisition of subsidiaries 32 (1,210,072) =
il /NTIN Capital reduction from associates 135,176 229,000
REBEMENTE Investments in joint ventures (46,989) (1,849,078)
A TR AR A E R 1 Investment in equity instruments at fair value
M LERE through other comprehensive income (685,937) (228,825)
EATHFABRZ SREENTE Investment in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (450,000) —
REE A RINEE Investments in associates (900,893) (1,000,407)
Bl AEMENRE Dividend received from joint ventures 450,089 362,186
BN A R O PR, Dividend received from associates 594,822 918,889
1] i/ ) AR Advances to associates (4,589,541) (4,794,272)
=Y/ e Repayments from associates 2,395,807 458,872
iRt Advances to joint ventures (2,928,822) (8,075,888)
AEEERK Repayments from joint ventures 5,314,677 1,297,673
1] 2 A K Advances to non-controlling interests (23,143,607)  (19,096,670)
R R K Repayments from non-controlling interests 8,864,897 3,670,336
AT RITA Placement of pledged bank deposits (116,955) (73,628)
PRI E ISR RAT IR Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 127,993 12,218
AN G Purchase of property, plant and equipment (198,164) (2,663,960)
iR E Interest received 709,372 572,183
HEWE - B Rk R Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment 19,691 269
BAEA TR AR A2 A Dividend received from equity instruments
HEfR TR IR at fair value through other comprehensive income — 1,000
SRS BP BL NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (35,243,603)  (101,281,444)

4 3 Annual Report 2019



HEBeng
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_ZNETAZ - HIEEE
For the year ended December 31, 2019

W CFAE AR
NOTE 2019 2018
ARMFE  ARHTT

RMB’000 RMB'000

B EE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
SRR IR s F AR M £ Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries 33 — (2,164,678)
B 8 ) P 0 Disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
(K LI HE) not resulting in losing of control 34 89,950 2,580,629
FUEL BB A R AR Deemed disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries
(KRR EFEHIHE) not resulting in losing of control 35 1,237,357 854,200

e AT R A X Repayment of bank and other borrowings (41,195,758) (22,853,770)
CATFIE Interest paid (6,386,701)  (4,677,240)
HHERTT B A 3 New bank and other borrowings raised 58,041,492 55,447,630
BITRAIG0R Proceeds from issue of bonds 4,200,000 10,000,000
TR TR TR SR Proceeds from issuance of senior notes 5,951,791 5,154,215
RS Repayment of bonds (1,495,006)  (1,653,299)
BATEHI Expenses on issue of bonds (26,244) (39,436)
BT AR Expenses on issue of senior notes (31,019) (54,376)
B ] (R Repurchase of senior notes — (35,378)
i e 4 Redemption of senior notes — (5,509,451)
RS AR Repayment of lease liabilities (1,111,484) —
R A Capital injection from non-controlling shareholders 10,967,384 18,455,023
FEA g Capital reduction from non-controlling interests (6,021,560) (1,250,100)
BRI 8 30E Proceeds from issue of shares 351,228 241,813
SRARR O - A3 9 5 35k Payment for purchase of shares under the

share award scheme (595,897) (371,034)
BB Dividend paid (5,893,586) (4,489,081)
I FE P IHE &3 S AT HRR. Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (935,655) —
L NIE T Advances from associates 658,540 4,199,744
1 i AR Repayments to associates (2,612,761) (1,492,936)
AEAERR Advances from joint ventures 2,747,656 2,750,851
A R Repayments to joint ventures (1,075,773) (1,774,648)
FE T HE £ Bk Advances from non-controlling interests 10,416,880 14,024,021
1] 42 A 2 K Repayments to non-controlling interests (10,614,324)  (10,811,943)
AEE BB & A NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 16,666,510 56,530,756
B KR & FEY I NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

CASH EQUIVALENTS 15,699,309 18,440,912
ERI B & KR B EY) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 45,083,066 26,642,154
ERMBE KBS EY) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT THE END OF THE YEAR 60,782,375 45,083,066
Be kREFEMLSGRT ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
HATH R RS Bank balances and cash 60,782,375 45,083,066
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— B ¥R

HE ISR A BRA R ([AA R ) =
ZELFT AT —HAERSHER
RHEEMEAFAE (—A—FEH =5
B 22 % BEG LBRT) REM L
RERRARAT o AR AR R &
5 52 5 B A IR 22 A (T W 32 BT 1) E AR
b7 o GRS & Hb Ak 2 Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° 7%
A FTAHEE N RIEANE ([ ) R
11 = 4 36 b B Y hE 4 B A I s S
IR 2 52 B 5 9% R B I R 1 MR
BRI E M 1554 -

ARATIEELERAR - KB AR E
TR B R RR M RE50@a) ©

B T R DAAS 2 ) B T T
AR R AR (TARK]) 24 -

REZZ—JUEF A=, —HILFE
For the year ended December 31, 2019

GENERAL INFORMATION

Longfor Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated on
December 21, 2007 as an exempted company with limited liability in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “SEHK"). The address of the registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The addresses of the principal
place of business of the Company in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") and Hong Kong are 18/F, CSC Fortune International Center,
No.5 An Ding Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing, and 15/F, 1 Duddell

Street, Central, Hong Kong, respectively.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 50(a).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

(“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the Company and its major

subsidiaries.
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5 ) R AT A

A/ T R A 7 (G608 A ) B
A 1 UG A 0 S
T (TRt AU ) AR 07T
BB B AT T e

I B 5 o U B 16 5%

IFRS 16

I R B i e R R B R RS 23 9%
IFRIC 23

B0 PR B R M R B 0 SR B R T A
Amendments to IFRS 9

I YR SR 19 BRI RT A
Amendments to IAS 19

B i R O 28 R B AT A
Amendments to IAS 28

I P s o HE B AT A

Amendments to IFRSs

BR T SCH AR A > A AR 4 B2 FE R T I
W 5 o8 T ) A T A D R AR A
JE o3 1 A5 A 42 ) ) B 5 2% B IR L
B/ S A B 0 R O 48 R S
EWNZ X
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
has applied the following new and amendments to IFRSs and an
interpretation issued by the International Accounting Standards Board

(“IASB”) for the first time in the current year:

T

Leases

JT A B P AN e

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

A A FURE TR SRR

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

AT BMERT ~ M A

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

i NI GE N SRS L

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

TR AR T - A O R A o B M 4 e
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015 — 2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the new and amendments
to IFRSs and the interpretation in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”)

The Group has applied IFRS 16 for the first time in the current
year. IFRS 16 superseded IAS 17 Leases (“IAS 177), and the related

interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply IFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease and
not apply this standard to contracts that were not previously identified
as containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts

which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after January 1, 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with the
requirements set out in IFRS 16 in assessing whether a contract contains

a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied IFRS 16 retrospectively with the cumulative effect

recognised at the date of initial application, January 1, 2019.

As at January 1, 2019, the Group recognised additional lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liabilities by
applying TFRS 16C 8(b)(ii) transition. No difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening retained earnings and

comparative information has not been restated.
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B S T 2 A R L 2 AR R R A
BN - ARG O R A R
R 4 B B ORI ER o AT
4 15 18 P R P 2 o R T 35 i £ R
R 145.89% °

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)
IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (Continued)

As alessee (Continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under IFRS 16 at
transition, the Group applied the practical expedient to leases previously
classified as operating leases under IAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, by
applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with a similar
remaining terms for similar class of underlying assets in similar economic
environment. Specifically, discount rate for certain leases of properties in

the PRC was determined on a portfolio basis.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously classified as
operating leases, the Group has applied incremental borrowing rates of
the relevant group entities at the date of initial application. The weighted
average incremental borrowing rate of the relevant Group's entities
applied is 5.89%.

i
ZF
—H—H
At January 1,
2019
AT
RMB’000
W oE— NFE+ A =+—HHEW Operating lease commitments disclosed
RETH BRI as at December 31, 2018 11,479,336
B T B B AR R R B Less: Discounting at relevant incremental borrowing rates (2,746,511)
W TERR R e — IR S Less: Recognition exemption — low-value assets
FERIGEIENCY and short-term leases (275,966)
(3,022,477)
R ZF— U H— H R AL Lease liabilities as at January 1, 2019 8,456,859
Vikiiv:] Analysed as
E Current 703,059
B Non-current 7,753,800
8,456,859

Longfor Group Holdings Limited o # 4 & B =ik B R A 7
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (Continued)

As alessee (Continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use and those under

subleases (classified as investment properties) as at January 1, 2019

B IR EAREUT comprises the following:
fEYx  EREEE
Bk Investment Right-of-use
Note properties assets
ANBWFT  ARWETT
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
A ZF— )\F Carrying amount as at December 31, 2018
+ZA=ZtT—HI
e i 84,409,540 —
H AT E B EH 4 Reclassification from prepaid lease payments 7,811,956 —
T R P B ¥ 5 #E Bl Righe-of-use assets relating to operating leases
S 16 HE SR A A recognised upon application of IFRS 16
FHECA B RO 6 HE 8,456,859 —
FH AP - Wi K Amounts included in property, plant and
B SEEHNHBE equipment reclassified to investment
&M properties (a) 1,955,781 —
B AR 28 Reclassification from land use rights — 414,360

102,634,136 414,360

W 5L :

@  BAEEERRHANAENHENS
M —UAE— A — B EREtASE - K
15 Bk Mt A S84 R B4 4B O R T
fE AR ¥1,955,781,0007C » SR L 1%
Y EALTE T A T

Note:

(a) In relation to the leases of apartments that the Group acted as lessee, the carrying
amount of structure and leasehold improvement previously included in property,
plant and equipment amounting to RMB1,955,781,000 as at January 1, 2019
were included as part of the leased properties under subleases that are classified as

investment properties.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (Continued)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in IFRS 16, except for
subleases in which the Group acts as an intermediate lessor, the Group is
not required to make any adjustment on transition for leases in which the
Group is a lessor but accounts for these leases in accordance with IFRS 16
from the date of initial application and comparative information has not

been restated.

Upon application of IFRS 16, new lease contracts entered into but
commence after the date of initial application relating to the same
underlying assets under existing lease contracts are accounted as if the
existing leases are modified as at January 1, 2019. The application has
had no impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position
at January 1, 2019. However, effective January 1, 2019, lease payments
relating to the revised lease term after modification are recognised as

income on straight-line basis over the extended lease term.

Before application of IFRS 16, refundable rental deposits received
were considered as rights and obligations under leases to which IAS 17
applied under accounts and bills payables, other payables and accrued
charges. Based on the definition of lease payments under IFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right-of-use assets and should
be adjusted to reflect the discounting effect at transition. At the date of
initial application, the Group assessed and considered the impact of these

refundable rental deposits received as insignificant at January 1, 2019.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (Continued)

As alessor (Continued)

Effective on January 1, 2019, the Group has applied IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 157) to allocate consideration
in the contract to each lease and non-lease components. The change in
allocation basis has had no material impact on the consolidated financial

statements of the Group for the current year.

Subleases

At the date of initial application, leased properties under subleases were
assessed and classified as an operating lease or a finance lease individually
based on the remaining contractual terms and conditions of the head lease
and the sublease at that date. All leased properties under subleases of
RMB10,412,640,000 (comprising the right-of-use assets and the amount
previously included in property, plant and equipment) as at the date of
initial application were classified as operating leases and remeasured to
fair value at the date of initial application in accordance with the Group's
accounting policies for investment properties. No fair value adjustment
and the related deferred tax liabilities were adjusted to opening retained

profits on transition.
The following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position at January 1, 2019. Line

items that were not affected by the changes have not been included.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (Continued)

I 154

M
JEHi I B S 5
REF—N\E 5 1658
+=A REF A
=+—H —H—HZ
2 AR AR M i A
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at IFRS 16 at
December 31, EES January 1,
2018  Adjustments 2019
ANRETLT AR¥EFT ARHTIL
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
FEim B & Non-current Assets
I ERN NS Property, plant and equipment 3,365,689  (1,955,781) 1,409,908
TARTA T FOE (ki) Prepaid lease payments (Note i) 16,518,641  (16,518,641) =
T Hb A Land use rights 414,360 (414,360) =
ARG Right-of-use assets = 414,360 414,360
BEY)ZE (kD) Investment properties (Note i) 84,409,540 18,224,596 102,634,136
BB Current Assets
YRR (H5ED Inventories of properties (Note i) 246,562,069 8,706,685 255,268,754
L NER Current Liabilities
HEAR Lease liabilities - (703,059)  (703,059)
FE B £ Non-current Liabilities
HEARK Lease liabilities - (7,753,800)  (7,753,800)
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For the year ended December 31, 2019

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective

for the current year (Continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Upon application of IFRS 16, prepaid lease payments with undetermined use
are classified as investment properties. Accordingly, prepaid lease payments of
RMB7,811,956,000 has been reclassified to investment properties. The directors of
the Group assessed the development plan for prepaid lease payments, and considered
that prepaid lease payments, amounting to RMB8,706,685,000, are served as
development for sales purpose, and are classified as properties held for development

as at January 1, 2019.

(ii) For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities under indirect
method for the year ended December 31, 2019, movements in working capital have
been computed based on opening consolidated statement of financial position as at

January 1, 2019 as disclosed above.

In respect of the impact of applying IFRS 16 for the Group as a lessor,
certain right-of-use assets of the Group were under subleases in which
the Group acted as an intermediate lessor. As December 31, 2019,
the carrying amount of investment properties under subleases and the
related deferred tax liabilities amounted to RMB14,081,636,000 and
RMB32,772,000, respectively. There are additions to leased properties
under sublease amounting to RMB4,492,483,000. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, income from subleasing these properties amounted
to RMB983,426,000.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

TRER &4

Insurance Contracts!
EW 2 EF?

Definition of a Business®

BEFEIBEEARREGECE M EE N EREE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture’

AR A TR B SR )

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current’

HRZEFH

Definition of Material*

GES S ER

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021.

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition

date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after
January 1, 2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to IFRSs, a revised
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting was issued in 2018.
Its consequential amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards, will be effective for annual

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020.

Except for the amendments to IFRSs and the revised Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting mentioned below, the directors
of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business

The amendments:

o add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The election on whether to apply the optional

concentration test is available on transaction-by-transaction basis;

. clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities
and assets must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to

create outputs; and

. narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing
on goods and services provided to customers and by removing the

reference to an ability to reduce costs.

The amendments are applied prospectively to all business combinations
and asset acquisitions for which the acquisition date is on or after the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2020, with early
application permitted. The management expected that the application
will not have significant impact on the consolidated financial statements

in future.

4 3 Annual Report 2019

157 1IN



I 158

Aok o T 5 A Y

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_ZNETAZ - HIEEE
For the year ended December 31, 2019

JBE 39 i 1 % A 5 it o i
(T I e A s it o Y Y ) et
#I AR (49)

O A A L 1 A% A 28R 3 T 1 s
B b e Rl R ABHT AR (4)

1B % T 4 B 5 1 % A I Bt
BB EAZEH

%SGR A KR B IR 1 B
SMEEI KR RE > HE K2 ERETE
7l o LH A BB -

o HBEMMBHEIEEEHMMSE K
Bl e SR BB DR

o HEEMEMEEEMAMEEL A
FHEMPZE I RATTEE] X

o BEMAWATEEMEME ] m
SR [ |- A2 PR E I B B
AR T TS R > W% R AR

%% 16 T S A% [ R S A O R R R
—H WA AEARMR T _FFE—A
— H B i Y 4 B 00 [T A o T
JHR%SEAE T A i 5 4% 4 10 1y S 5 K 0
REEMERYE - R BREGS
W R T ) 251 R 455 o

Longfor Group Holdings Limited o # 4 & B =ik B R A 7

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material by
including additional guidance and explanations in making materiality

judgments. In particular, the amendments:

. include the concept of “obscuring” material information in which

the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the information;

. replace threshold for materiality influencing users from “could

influence” to “could reasonably be expected to influence”; and

. include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than simply
referring to “users” which was considered too broad when deciding

what information to disclose in the financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all IFRSs and will
be mandatorily effective for the Group'’s annual period beginning on
January 1, 2020. The application of the amendments is not expected to
have significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group but may affect the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated

financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Rate

Benchmark Reform

The amendments deal with issues affecting financial reporting in the
period before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with
an alternative interest rate and address the implications for specific hedge
accounting requirements in IFRS 9 and IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, which require forward-looking analysis.
The amendments modify specific hedge accounting requirements so that
entities would apply those hedge accounting requirements assuming that
the interest rate benchmark on which the hedged cash flows and cash
flows from the hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a result
of interest rate benchmark reform. The amendments also require specific
disclosures about the extent to which the entities’ hedging relationships
are affected by the amendments. There are also amendments to IFRS
7 Financial Inscruments: Disclosures regarding additional disclosures

around uncertainty arising from the interest rate benchmark reform.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant

impact on the application of hedge accounting adopted by the Group.

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

J specify that a liability should be classified as non-current if an
entity has the right, the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the liability

within 12 months;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

. clarify that if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at the end of
the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance

until a later date;

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying IAS 32 Financial

Instruments: Presentation; and

. introduce a definition of “settlement” to make clear that
settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity

instruments, other assets or services.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at December 31, 2019,
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification of the

Group's liabilities.

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “New
Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards

The New Framework:
o reintroduces the terms stewardship and prudence;
o introduces a new asset definition that focuses on rights and a new

liability definition that is likely to be broader than the definition
it replaces, but does not change the distinction between a liability

and an equity instrument;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“IFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the “New
Framework”) and the Amendments to References to the Conceptual
Framework in IFRS Standards (Continued)

o discusses historical cost and current value measures, and provides
additional guidance on how to select a measurement basis for a

particular asset or liability;

. states that the primary measure of financial performance is
profit or loss, and that only in exceptional circumstances other
comprehensive income will be used and only for income or
expenses that arise from a change in the current value of an asset or

liability; and

. discusses uncertainty, derecognition, unit of account, the reporting

entity and combined financial statements.

Consequential amendments have been made so that references in certain
IFRSs have been updated to the New Framework, whilst some IFRSs
are still referred to the previous versions of the framework. These
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2020, with earlier application permitted. Other than specific standards
which still refer to the previous versions of the framework, the Group
will rely on the New Framework on its effective date in determining the
accounting policies especially for transactions, events or conditions that

are not otherwise dealt with under the accounting standards.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the SEHK (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis, except for the investment properties and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values, at the end of each reporting

period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration

given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of IFRS 16 (since January 1, 2019) or IAS 17 (before application of
IFRS 16), and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 Inventories or value

in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market

participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique
is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation

technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described

as follows:

J Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within

Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly

or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its

subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the Company:

J has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement

with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights in an

investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

. the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative to the size

and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or

other parties;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group
has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including

voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group losses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s

accounting policies.